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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis should be read in conjunction with Endeavour Mining 
Corporation’s (“Endeavour” or the “Corporation”) audited consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2011 and related notes thereto which have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS” or “GAAP”). Previously, the Corporation prepared its 
financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian 
GAAP”). The Corporation’s comparative figures from July 1, 2009 (the “transition date”) have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. The periods preceding the transition date have not been restated. This 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains “forward-looking statements” that are subject to risk 
factors set out in a cautionary note contained herein.  The reader is cautioned not to place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements. All figures are in United States Dollars, unless otherwise indicated. Tabular 
amounts are in thousands of United States Dollars, except per share amounts.  This Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis is prepared as of March 13, 2012. Additional information relating to the 
Corporation, including the Corporation’s Annual Information Form, is available on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. 
 
On September 14, 2010 the Corporation changed its name to Endeavour Mining Corporation and its year end 
from June 30 to December 31, to better align its financial and operating results with its gold mining peers.  
As a result the twelve month period ended December 31, 2010 referred to throughout this Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis is supplemental information for purposes of comparing the full year of results of the 
year ended December 31, 2011 to the full year results of December 31, 2010. The information was compiled 
from the financial statements of the six months ended December 31, 2010 and the last six months of the 
financial statements of the year ended June 30, 2010. 
 
Financial and Operational Highlights for the year ended December 31, 2011 
 

 On December 5, 2011 the scheme of arrangement relating to the merger between the Corporation and 
Adamus Resources Limited (“Adamus”), which owns the Nzema Gold Mine in Ghana (“Nzema” or  
the “Nzema Gold Mine”) became effective resulting in the creation of a growth focused West 
African gold production and exploration company. Adamus’ results are included in Endeavour’s 
financial results for the 26 day period December 6 to December 31, 2011. 

 
 On December 2, 2011 the Corporation reduced the Nzema gold hedge book by closing out 139,000 

ounces (or 55%), for a cash settlement amount of $96.7 million. Simultaneously the Corporation 
novated the remaining 116,161 ounces of Nzema related gold forward contracts (the “Hedging 
Contracts”), resulting in those ounces being transferred by Macquarie Bank Limited (the previous 
hedging bank) to UniCredit Bank AG (“UniCredit”). The remaining Nzema gold hedge book of 
116,161 ounces has a flat forward price of $1,061.75 and has been re-profiled with deliveries of 
approximately 10,000 ounces during 2012 and 2013 and 32,000 ounces during 2014, 2015, and 2016. 
 

 On November 29, 2011 the Corporation closed out the gold hedge book at its Youga Gold Mine in 
Burkina Faso (“Youga” or the “Youga Gold Mine”).  The residual balance of 23,532 ounces was 
settled for a cash payment of $24.0 million. The close out of the hedge book means that all gold 
production from Youga is now available to be sold into the spot market. 
 

 On November 28, 2011 the Corporation entered into a $200 million four year revolving corporate 
loan facility (the “Corporate Facility”) and the novation of metal price risk management contracts in 
respect of 116,161 ounces of gold for the period 2012 to 2016 (the “Hedging Contracts”) with 
UniCredit. On December 5, 2011 Endeavour drew down $100.0 million of the Corporate Facility to
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Financial and Operational Highlights for the year ended December 31, 2011 (continued) 

 
fully repay the $57.0 million Nzema Gold Mine project facility and for general working capital 
purposes.   
 

 Process plants treated 1,103,770 tonnes of ore during the year ended 2011, a significant improvement 
over the twelve month period ended December 31, 2010 which treated 891,326 tonnes. 2011 includes 
the 26 days operating results of the Nzema Gold Mine.   
 

 Gold production of 92,309 ounces, an increase of 9,907 ounces from 82,402 ounces in the same 
period in 2010. This strong performance is due to improved gold grade, a modest improvement in 
gold recovery and the additional production of 5,045 ounces for the 26 day period of the Nzema Gold 
Mine. Gold sales of 97,377 ounces, an increase of 15,949 ounces from 81,428 ounces in the same 
period in 2010.  2011 gold sales includes 6,689 ounces for the 26 day period of the Nzema Gold 
Mine. 
 

 Total cash cost1 (excluding royalties) of $630 per gold ounce sold, an increase of $48 from $582 per 
gold ounce sold in the same period in 2010. Total cash cost1 (excluding royalties) of $664 per gold 
ounce produced, an increase of $82 from $582 per gold ounce produced in the same period in 2010.  
The increase is primarily due to increased fuel and labour costs in Burkina Faso.  The 2011 cash 
costs include only the 26 days results from Adamus since the date the merger was effective on 
December 5, 2011.  
 

 Operating cash flow from mine operations of $60.5 million for the year, as compared to $35.6 
million in the same period in 2010 and earnings from operations of $19.3 million, as compared to 
$13.1 million in the same period in 2010. The increase in gold prices and ounces sold coupled with 
better management of gold inventory levels and effective cost controls has resulted in the increase in 
both operating cash flow from mine operations and earnings from operations.  
 

 Net loss attributable to shareholders of $23.8 million, as compared to $46.7 million in the same 
period in 2010.    
 

 Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities totaled $132.5 million. In addition, the fair value 
of the Corporation’s investment in Namibia Rare Earth Inc. (“NREI”) is $11.7 million, as at 
December 31, 2011, which is not included in marketable securities. 
 

 The 2011 exploration campaign was focused on delineating resources and increasing reserves and 
therefore 80% of the $23.0 million combined exploration spend for all of 2011 was dedicated to the 
Youga and Nzema Gold mines and the Agbaou development project in Côte d’Ivoire (“Agbaou”).  A 
total of 42,480 meters of core and reverse circulation drilling were completed within the Youga Gold 
Mine permit area and the exploration program was successful in extending the mine life to 7.3 years.  
Exploration at the Nzema Gold Mine included 39,762 meters of core and reverse circulation drilling 
and the program results are expected to be finalized shortly. Exploration activity at Agbaou was 
focused on drilling mineralized areas that were identified in the previous quarter, a total of 41,759 
metres of reverse circulation was completed.  A resource update for the Agbaou deposit was initiated 
and is expected to be ready in the second quarter of 2012.  

1 Total cash cost is a non-GAAP financial performance measure with no standard meaning under IFRS. Refer to Non-GAAP Measures on page 
28.  
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Background and Growth Strategy 
 
Endeavour is a junior gold producer committed to becoming an intermediate-sized producer. Endeavour owns the 
Youga Gold Mine in Burkina Faso and the Nzema Gold Mine in Ghana and an attractive pipeline of development 
and exploration projects in West Africa. The Corporation owns the Agbaou feasibility stage project, one of the 
largest undeveloped gold deposits in Côte d'Ivoire, and has a 40% interest in the feasibility stage Finkolo Gold 
Joint Venture in Mali (“Finkolo”). The Corporation also has a 38.5% interest in NREI, which has the Lofdal Rare 
Earth Project. 
 
Exploration is currently being conducted on authorized permits in Burkina Faso, Côte d’Ivoire, Ghana, Mali and 
Liberia.  
 
Endeavour launched its gold acquisition strategy in September 2009, and the first two years of this strategy has 
been successful with the merger of Adamus Resources Limited, the acquisition of Etruscan Resources Inc. 
(“Etruscan”) and a significant investment in and subsequent disposal of Crew Gold Corporation (“Crew”).  
 

Endeavour has fully transitioned into a junior gold producer, and is now entering the next phase of growth 
supported by:  

 The acquisition of Adamus’ operating Nzema Gold Mine 
 The extension of Youga's mine life  
 The development of the Agbaou project  
 Mineral exploration and advancement of key properties 
 Strategic acquisition program  

 
Endeavour's strategic acquisition program is targeting complementary producing, or near-term producing, gold 
assets and companies. The key criteria include compelling geological potential and a meaningful contribution to 
the Corporation's strategic aim of being recognized as an intermediate gold producer with an attractive growth 
profile. Endeavour has taken a significant step towards its goal with the Adamus merger in December 2011. 
 
Endeavour is well positioned to achieve its stated goals, based on a:  

 Strong financial position of over $132.5 million of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities 
(not including the fair value of $11.7 million for NREI) 

 Access to a current $200.0 million acquisition revolving credit facility of which $100.0 million is 
undrawn    

 Highly skilled and motivated management team with demonstrated experience in mine building  and 
operations, as well as company building and financing 

 Strong "inhouse" transaction team  
 Management structure that allows for quick decisions  

 
Corporate and Social Responsibility   
 
Endeavour is committed to disciplined growth and the concept of growing responsibly. Endeavour has Safety, 
Health and Environmental Policies in place to support this commitment. 
 
 



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Results of Operations and Financial Condition 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 

 

4 | P a g e  
 

Corporate and Social Responsibility (continued)   
 
Endeavour’s corporate responsibility objectives are to prevent pollution, minimize the impact operations may 
cause to the environment and practice progressive rehabilitation of areas impacted by its activities. The 
Corporation has a history of operating in a socially responsible and sustainable manner, and of following 
international guidelines in Ghana and Burkina Faso, where it currently operates the Nzema and Youga Gold 
Mines.   
 
Furthermore, Endeavour is re-invigorating its social programs with the local communities in Ghana, Burkina 
Faso, Côte d’Ivoire and Mali. 
 
Nzema   
 
At Nzema the corporate social responsibility program supports the transition to sustainable economic 
development with projects including training and skills education alongside livelihood programs. The 
Corporation believes that education and skills development provide the keys to socioeconomic development, 
helping to build the foundation for alleviation of poverty. Since 2008 Adamus Resources Limited in Ghana, a 
subsidiary of Endeavour has collaborated with the Australian High Commission (Ghana) to train over 148 youth 
from our mining communities. 60% of these young men and women are now self-employed and 24% currently 
work with the Corporation or sub-contractors to the mine. 
 
The Nzema Project is the first mining related involuntary resettlement in the Eastern Nzema/Ellembelle districts 
and as such, both the community and the Corporation have been breaking new ground in conducting negotiations 
and forming agreements.  The Corporation has received full support from the local government and community 
leaders in establishing the mechanisms of negotiation.   
 
The Salman Village resettlement involved over 2,200 people, 706 structures including residential dwellings, 
detached kitchens, religious and commercial buildings and 29 public structures including schools, a healthcare, 
police station, teachers nurses and police quarters along with more than 20 ablution blocks, all resettled at a site 
approximately one kilometer to the east of planned mining at the Nzema Gold Mine’s Salman Central pits (“New 
Village”). Construction and resettlement is completed and all the people in old Salman village (“Old Village”) 
have moved to the New Village. They have salvaged all their belongings from the Old Village and demolition of 
the Old Village commenced the week of March 5, 2012 and official inauguration of the New Village is scheduled 
for March 17, 2012. 
 
The Corporation has also partnered with The Humanity Exchange, which provides volunteer abroad programs in 
developing countries around the world.  By providing logistical support the Corporation enables volunteers from 
around the world to participate in skill sharing activities in our operational area. 
 
Youga   
 
Social initiatives at Youga pertain to basic needs such as health care, food and drinking water supply, education 
and skills development.  A common point of these initiatives is the effort made to ensure their sustainability and 
independence from the Corporation. 
 
The highlights of recent social projects at the village of Youga and surrounding areas are: 
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Corporate and Social Responsibility (continued) 
 

Youga (continued) 
 

 Building of a fully equipped Maternity Clinic at the village of Youga 
 Renovation of the existing Medical Clinic at the village of Youga and supply of medications and 

vaccines 
 Renovation and expansion of the existing elementary school at the village of Youga by providing fully 

equipped classrooms 
 Supervision of construction of a water tower and water system for the Medical Clinic and the Maternity 

Clinic (funded by Rand Merchant Bank) 
 Provision of medical supplies, school supplies, food supplies and recreational equipment for the school 

 
Currently, the operating team at the mine site is conducting maintenance work at the Youga school and the two 
clinics.  In addition, the Corporation is funding the construction of a new high school at close proximity to the 
Youga village to service the students of the Youga village elementary school as well as surrounding elementary 
schools (approximately 240 students).  The plans of the new high school are finalized, calls for tender have been 
sent out and the school is expected to be ready for the start of the school year in October 2012.  
 
In all of these accomplishments, international partners such as Health Partners International and various Rotary 
Clubs have been very important in sourcing medical and other supplies and expertise.    
 
Corporate Developments 
 
Merger with Adamus Resources Limited 
 
On December 5, 2011 the scheme of arrangement relating to the merger between the Corporation and Adamus 
became effective resulting in the creation of a growth focused West African gold production and exploration 
company. The acquisition date for accounting was determined to be December 5, 2011. Endeavour acquired all 
of the issued and outstanding shares of Adamus and each Adamus shareholder received, in exchange for each 
Adamus ordinary share held, 0.285 ordinary shares of Endeavour, resulting in Endeavour issuing 129,340,958 
shares for total consideration of $314.6 million. This exchange ratio was determined using the ratio of 
Endeavour's and Adamus' volume weighted average trading prices over the 20 days ended on August 19, 2011 on 
the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”), respectively. 
 
The Merger combines two junior gold producers and creates a platform for West African growth.  The Nzema 
Gold Mine, will approximately double Endeavour’s current attributable reserves to two million ounces.  The 
Nzema Gold Mine was commissioned with a one million ounce mineral reserve, commenced commercial 
production on April 1, 2011 and is currently producing at a rate of approximately 100,000 ounces of gold per 
year. The merged entity has a strong production growth profile, excellent exploration potential and a focused 
acquisition strategy.  It will have the management and financial strength to carry out its plans to become an 
approximately 250,000 ounce per year (from the end of 2013) gold producer from existing properties, assuming a 
positive decision in early 2012 to construct a mine at the Agbaou Project in Côte d'Ivoire. 
 
Endeavour has obtained an Australian listing of its ordinary shares to enable former Adamus shareholders to 
trade the Endeavour shares they received, as Chess Depository Interests (“CDIs”), under the merger on the ASX 
under the symbol EVR. Endeavour will continue to have its primary listing on the TSX. 
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Corporate Developments (continued) 
 
Revolving Credit Facility and Hedging 
 
On December 5, 2011 Endeavour drew down $100.0 million of the Corporate Facility to fully repay the $57.0 
million Nzema Gold Mine project loan and for general working capital purposes.  As at December 31, 2011 
$100.0 million is available to be drawn down. 
 
On December 2, 2011 the Corporation reduced the Nzema gold hedge book by closing out 139,000 ounces of 
gold (or 55%), for a cash settlement amount of $96.7 million. Simultaneously, the Corporation novated the 
Hedging Contracts, resulting in 116,161 ounces being transferred by Macquarie Bank Limited (the previous 
hedging bank) to UniCredit. The remaining Nzema gold hedge book of 116,161 ounces has a flat forward price 
of $1,061.75 and has been re-profiled with deliveries of approximately 10,000 ounces during 2012 and 2013 and 
32,000 ounces during 2014, 2015, and 2016. 
 
On November 29, 2011 the Corporation closed out the gold hedge book at its Youga Gold Mine in Burkina Faso.  
The residual balance of 23,532 ounces was settled for a cash payment of $24.0 million. The close out of the 
hedge book means that all gold production from Youga is now available to be sold into the spot market. 
 
On November 28, 2011 the Corporation entered into the $200.0 million Corporate Facility with UniCredit.  The 
Corporate Facility is for general corporate purposes, including working capital, capital expenditure and any 
acquisition of an asset or assets that are engaged in the exploitation of precious metal ores.  The Corporate 
Facility matures four years from the date of first drawdown with a mandatory reduction in availability of $75 
million on December 31, 2014 and is subject to an interest rate of LIBOR plus a variable margin of between 
2.5% and 4.25% depending on the leverage ratio. The Corporate Facility is secured by shares of Endeavour’s 
material gold mining subsidiaries and the material assets of those subsidiaries. It also replaces the $100.0 million 
acquisition facility with UniCredit entered into on June 25, 2010.  
 
Sale of diamond entities 
 
As part of the purchase of Etruscan during the year ended June 30, 2010, the Corporation acquired an interest in 
diamond properties in South Africa. On October 7, 2011 the Corporation finalized the purchase and sale of its 
diamond operations with Rockwell Diamonds Inc. (TSX: RDI) (“Rockwell”), with the final acceptance and 
release documents signed pursuant to all the conditions being met (including the mineral property transfer 
approval).  The Corporation received 1,234,660 shares of Rockwell valued at $0.5 million as at October 7, 2011 
and realized a gain on disposition of $3.7 million. Rockwell assumed all the debt and contingent liabilities of the 
Corporation related to the diamond assets, which totaled $3.1 million. 
 
Namibia Rare Earths Inc.  
 

As part of the purchase of Etruscan during the year ended June 30, 2010, the Corporation acquired rare earth 
exploration properties in Namibia.  On April 14, 2011, NREI completed its initial public offering which raised 
gross proceeds of C$25.0 million and subsequently on April 27, 2011 closed a C$3.8 million over-allotment 
option, reducing Endeavour’s ownership from 71.6% to 38.5%. The change in ownership percentage has resulted 
in the interest in NREI being accounted for as an investment in associate and the Corporation recognizing a $22.1 
million gain.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, Endeavour has written-down its investment in associate 
by $9.8 million compared to $nil for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2010. Endeavour wrote-down
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Corporate Developments (continued) 
 
Namibia Rare Earths Inc. (continued) 
 
the value of its investment in NREI in the amount of $9.8 million as the shares have been trading in a range well 
below its carrying value since late October 2011.  NREI’s core asset is the Lofdal Rare Earth Project which is an 
early stage, district scale exploration project with a demonstrated potential for the discovery of a heavy rare 
earth-enriched carbonatite deposit. 
 
Sale of Debt Finance and related Mergers & Acquisitions advisory businesses  
 
On November 9, 2011 the Corporation announced the sale of the Corporation’s Debt Finance and related 
Mergers & Acquisitions Advisory Businesses (the “Advisory Business”) to a group of its senior professionals, 
including a new managing partner. The Advisory Business will continue to be conducted under the Endeavour 
Financial name and will continue to advise the Corporation on its corporate debt financings pursuant to the sale 
and purchase agreement and the Corporation will receive payments of up to $20.0 million based on future 
profitability of the Advisory Business. At December 31, 2011 a new company established by the purchasers was 
assigned the debt and mergers & acquisition mandates (with limited exceptions), and the Advisory Business has 
taken over the London office from the Corporation. The Corporation has the right to appoint two of five directors 
to the board of Endeavour Financial Limited (Cayman), until it has received payment of $10.0 million.  
Thereafter, the Corporation will appoint one of five directors until the remaining $10.0 million balance has been 
received. 
 
Subsequent Event – Sale of 40% Interest in Finkolo Joint Venture 
 
On March 6, 2012 the Corporation entered into a definitive agreement with Resolute Mining Limited 
(“Resolute”) for the sale and transfer of the licenses and associated property comprising the Finkolo joint venture 
in Mali for total consideration of $20.0 million in cash.  Endeavour holds a 40% interest in the Finkolo joint 
venture, which was formed in 2003 by Endeavour’s Etruscan subsidiary and Resolute is the operator.  The 
transaction is subject to a number of conditions, including approval from the Government of Mali for the transfer 
of the exploration permits, and therefore Endeavour anticipates the transaction to be completed by the end of the 
second quarter of 2012.  
 
Endeavour Capital, renamed from Financial and Treasury Services 
 

Endeavour provides management and administrative services, including accounting support and public company 
regulatory filings, for a limited number of public companies in the junior resource sector.  Endeavour is often a 
shareholder in these client companies and these investments are included within the Corporation’s marketable 
securities. 
 
Endeavour is now a more focused mining company and will not allocate significant resources to its legacy 
financial services activities.  The residual financial services activities will be called Endeavour Capital and will 
continue to provide Fiore Financial Corporation (“Fiore”) with advisory services to companies launched by 
Fiore.  This relationship may assist Endeavour in finding and assessing gold strategy opportunities. 
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Exclusive Agreement with Fiore Financial Corporation 
 

The Corporation has an exclusive agreement in place with Fiore.  Fiore is a boutique investment banking firm 
focused on creating, financing and launching investment opportunities in the resource sector.  Fiore is led by 
Frank Giustra, its President and Chief Executive Officer.  Fiore brings invaluable global investment experience 
and relationships to Endeavour.  Fiore is assisting Endeavour with the implementation of its acquisition strategy.  
In addition, Endeavour’s agreement with Fiore provides Endeavour with an exclusive right to provide advisory 
services to companies launched by Fiore and also engages Fiore to provide advisory services to Endeavour on 
mandates sourced through the Fiore relationship.  In addition, Fiore offers Endeavour the ability to invest in 
transactions launched by Fiore. The exclusive advisory services agreement with Fiore was extended during 2010 
for an additional minimum term of three years and expires in April 2013.  
 
Reserves and Resources Update  
 
At December 31, 2011, the attributable proven and probable gold reserves were approximately 2.0 million 
ounces and attributable measured and indicated mineral resources (inclusive of reserves) were approximately 3.8 
million ounces.   
 
The majority of the increase is a result of the addition of the Nzema reserves and resources. In addition, the 
increase in Youga reserves, over and above 2011 reserves depletion, along with the resultant increase in mine life 
confirms the validity and effectiveness of the Youga exploration program. 
 
Nzema  
 
As of December 31, 2011 the proven and probable mineral reserves were 14.6 million tonnes at 2.05 g/t of gold 
containing 1.0 million ounces.  The measured and indicated mineral resources, inclusive of reserves, were 48.3 
million tonnes at 1.3 g/t gold containing 2.1 million ounces, plus inferred resources of 17.7 million tonnes at 1.1 
g/t of gold containing 0.7 million ounces. 
 
Youga 
 
At December 31, 2011, the proven and probable mineral reserves were 7.3 million tonnes at 1.9 g/t of gold 
containing 447,500 ounces and measured and indicated resources, inclusive of reserves, were 18.373 million 
tonnes at 1.57 g/t of gold containing 928,000 ounces plus 4.672 million tonnes at 1.3 g/t of gold for 193,000 
ounces inferred. 
 
At December 31, 2011 Youga’s attributable proven and probable mineral reserves increased to 403,000 ounces 
from 325,800 ounces at December 31, 2010. The total measured and indicated mineral resources, including 
reserves, were 835,000 ounces, plus 174,000 inferred ounces.   
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Operations Review  
 

Nzema Gold Mine, Ghana   
 
The Nzema Gold Mine is situated in south-western Ghana, approximately 280 km west of Ghana’s capital city, 
Accra. The Corporation holds a contiguous block of tenements and options covering approximately 665 square 
kilometres, located at the southern end of Ghana’s Ashanti Gold Belt. Nzema includes a series of shallow oxide 
pits along the Salman trend, together with the Anwia deposit located 8km west of Salman. It is accessible via 80 
km of sealed road from the major port city of Takoradi, and is in close proximity to the major mining centre at 
Tarkwa.  
 
The Nzema Gold Mine is comprised of four mining licences.  The Corporation acquired the first of its Nzema 
mining permits in 2006 with a further three being granted by the Ghanaian Government in 2008.  The 
Corporation holds a 90% interest in the Nzema Gold Mine with the Government of Ghana holding the remaining 
10%.  The Nzema mining permits are valid for 10 years with the right to apply for an extension of the period of 
the licences upon such terms and conditions as the parties may then agree 
 
In June 2010, a Mine Operating Permit was issued by the Ghanaian Minerals Commission and renewed in 
January 2011, enabling commencement of open pit mining and ore extraction at the Nzema Gold Mine. The first 
gold pour took place ahead of schedule on January 17, 2011 and commencement of commercial production was 
achieved on April 1, 2011. 
 
Gold produced for the three and twelve month periods ended December 31, 2011 aggregated were 24,010 and 
76,505 ounces, respectively, at a total cash cost1 (excluding royalties) of $617 and $585 per ounce, respectively 
(includes only period of commercial production from April 1 – December 31, 2011 commercial production). As a 
result of the merger with Adamus on December 5, 2011 only results from December 6 to December 31, 2011 are 
included in the operating results of Endeavour. 
 
Other highlights for the year include:   
 

 Successful on time and on budget completion of plant construction 
 Tailings storage facilities permits received 
 Australian Parliamentary Joint Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade visited Nzema Gold 

Mine and commended the Company on its achievements 
 Conceptual Sulphide Economic Study was completed by AMEC 

 
Gold extracted from the Nzema Gold Mine is processed at a rate of 1.6 million tonnes per annum to 2.1 million 
tonnes per annum (depending on ore type) in a conventional carbon-in-leach (“CIL”) gold plant with a 3.5 
megawatt semi-autogenous grinding (“SAG”) mill and two counter current decant thickeners. The processing 
plant is located to the east of the Salman Central pits.   
 
The process flow is based on single stage crushing, single stage SAG milling, gravity recovery of free gold from 
a portion of cyclone feed, pre-leach thickening, a single stage of leaching and a six stage CIL circuit. Run of 
mine (“ROM”) ore is loaded onto a single toggle jaw crusher via a static grizzly and hopper. The crusher 
discharge feeds the SAG mill via a transfer point where material can be scalped to a crushed ore stockpile to 
maintain feed while the crusher is non-operational. 
 

1 Total cash cost is a non-GAAP financial performance measure with no standard meaning under IFRS. Refer to Non-GAAP Measures on page 28. 



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Results of Operations and Financial Condition 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 

 

10 | P a g e  
 

Operations Review (continued) 
 
Nzema Gold Mine, Ghana (continued)   
 
Construction of the processing plant and associated infrastructure facilities was successfully completed in 
January 2011. To date, the plant and associated facilities have met design specifications and performed well. 
Following approval by the Environmental Protection Agency of Ghana, Adamus also commissioned a permanent 
tailings storage facility in March 2011, allowing for production levels to increase to full commercial throughput 
targets. 
 
The following tables summarize the operating results of the Nzema Gold Mine for the three month period and 
year ended December 31, 2011.   
 

 
 
1 The realized price is the average price received for all ounces sold including sales at the gold hedge price. 
2 Total cash cost is a non-GAAP financial performance measure with no standard meaning under IFRS. Refer to Non-GAAP Measures on page 28. 
3 Total gold produced excludes 13,521 ounces produced pre-commercial production for the period January 1, 2011 to March 31, 2011. 
4 Information is for the nine month period of commercial production from April 1 – December 31, 2011. 
5 Only 26 days from December 6 – December 31, 2011 are included in Endeavor’s results. 

 
The Nzema Gold Mine’s first gold production was achieved in January 2011, and commercial production was 
declared on April 1, 2011. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Operating Data
4
:  

Quarter Ended 
December 31, 

20115

Year Ended 
December 31, 

20113

Tonnes of ore mined (000's) 648                   1,809                
Average gold grade mined (grams/tonne) 1.65                  1.80                  
Tonnes of ore milled (000's) 533                   1,556                
Average gold grade milled (grams/tonne) 1.64                  1.72                  
Gold (ounces):   
    Produced 24,010              76,505              
    Sold 27,143              77,587              
Realized price   

    Gold ($/ounce)1 1,617              1,560               

Total cash cost per gold ounce produced2 

   (excluding royalties) ($/ounce) 617                   585                   

Financial Data  (US dollars in thousands)

Revenues 43,892              121,017           
Earnings from mine operations 37,971              54,934              
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Operations Review (continued) 
 
Youga Gold Mine, Burkina Faso   
 
The Youga Gold Mine is situated in the province of Boulgou, Burkina Faso approximately 180 kilometers 
southeast of Ouagadougou, the capital city of Burkina Faso and is accessible by paved and laterite roads. 
Endeavour holds a 90% interest in Burkina Mining Company SA (“BMC”), which in turn holds the Youga Gold 
Mine mining permit (the “Youga Mining Permit”). The Government of Burkina Faso holds the remaining 10% of 
BMC. The Youga Mining Permit was granted to BMC by the government of Burkina Faso in April 2003 and 
covers 29 square kilometers.   The Youga Mining Permit is valid for 20 years and is renewable for additional five 
year periods.   
  
The Youga Gold Mine commenced commercial production in mid-2008. Mining is carried out from several open 
pits with the ore being processed through a conventional gravity-CIL (carbon-in-leach) plant with a design 
capacity of one million tonnes per annum. 
 
Gold produced for the three and twelve months period ended December 31, 2011 were 21,586 and 87,264 
ounces, respectively, at a total cash cost1 (excluding royalties) of $623 and $644 per ounce, respectively.   
 
Other highlights include: 
 

 On budget gold production for the quarter and above budget for the year by 3,300 ounces. 
 On budget mill performance during the quarter with an average daily throughput of 2,964 tonnes per day 

or 247,858 tonnes for the quarter, compared with 245,930 tonnes during the fourth quarter of 2010. 
 Continued to examine opportunities to enhance production and productivity. 
 Zero Harm HSE objectives achieved for the quarter and year to date, with a record 5 million LTI free 

hours worked attained by January 2012. 
 Continued to implement the enhanced Planned Maintenance program. 

 
Youga is a hard rock, drill and blast mining operation. Drilling and blasting, and load haul is carried out under 
contract with PW Mining International Limited. Grid power is delivered to site from Ghana via a 21 kilometer 
transmission line. A complete backup diesel generated power supply capable of delivering 8 megawatts is 
available at site. A year round supply of water is obtained from the Nakambe River via an 11 kilometer long 
pipeline to a raw water storage pond. The tailings area is designed to maximize water recovery in an effort to 
minimize the primary water demand. 
 
The Youga Gold Mine employs approximately 400 full time workers including both expatriate and local 
employees, plus 300 contractors. There is extensive training available for the local work force for both 
management and skilled positions. In the longer term, it is anticipated that Burkinabe nationals will fill the 
majority of the operating and management positions within BMC. 
 
The 2011 Youga exploration campaign of $6.3 million included 42,480 m of core and reverse circulation drilling 
within the Youga mine permit area on 22 targets.  The program succeeded in achieving the key objective of 
increasing mineral resources and reserves and extended the Youga mine life to 7.3 years. A further 16,175 meters 
of combined reverse circulation and diamond drilling was completed on surrounding properties in the Youga 
gold belt. 
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Operations Review (continued) 
  

Youga Gold Mine, Burkina Faso (continued)   
 
Highlights include: 
 

 Additional resources were drilled out in the East wall of the Main pit and the North wall of the East pit. 
Engineering studies for pushbacks in these areas were being completed and resulted in additional mineral 
reserves being added to the mine plan. Further drill results were received at the end of 2011 and 
additional drilling is planned to complete delineation of this resource in 2012. 

 Drilling on A2NE and Zergoré, resulted in identification of additional mineralization and improved 
classification of these resources. At Zergoré the measured and indicated resource is 2.877 million tonnes 
at 1.17 g/t of gold for 108,000 ounces plus 0.081 million tonnes at 1.26 g/t gold for 3,000 ounces of 
inferred resources.  At A2NE the measured and indicated resource is 0.944 million tonnes at 1.44 g/t of 
gold for 44,000 ounces of gold, plus 0.445 million tonnes at 1.95 g/t gold for 28,000 ounces of inferred 
resources.  

 Nanga and Tail deposits were combined into a single resource model and reinterpreted following 
additional infill drilling.  The updated measured and indicated resource is 3.130 million tonnes at 1.11 g/t 
gold for 112,000 ounces, plus 0.684 million tonnes at 1.10 g/t gold for 24,000 ounces of inferred 
resources. 

 A2NE, Zergore, Nanga, Tail resources all contributed proven and probable mineral resources of 2.674 
million tonnes at 1.5 g/t of gold for 131,000 ounces to the mine plan for Youga. 

 During the fourth quarter, drilling continued on six deposits to further delineate the resources and 
reserves. 

 A total of 22 targets on the mining permit were explored during 2011 and 15 will continue to receive 
additional drilling in 2012.  A further 4 targets were identified in the fourth quarter of 2011 during 
prospecting, mapping and review of previous geochemical surveys. 

 An extensive structural analysis of the Youga property using external expertise and including review of 
all available data sets on the property is almost complete.  Targets identified during the study will be drill 
tested in 2012. 

 Following the seasonal rains, drilling recommenced on the Ouaré deposit with the objectives of 
increasing the resource and upgrading the resource classification.   

 Samples for metallurgical test work were collected and shipped for the A2NE, Nanga, Tail, Zergoré and 
Ouaré deposits.  The test work is designed confirm the amenability of the mineralization to Agitation 
Leaching and test the amenability to Heap Leaching as an alternative process route option. 

 An airborne geophysical survey will be undertaken in the first quarter of 2012 to provide the same level 
of information over the Bitou permits that has proven useful over Youga. 

 
The 2011 exploration program was a success as evidenced by the resulting increased mine life.   A 
comprehensive exploration campaign is planned for 2012 with drilling planned for 19 targets within the mine 
permit area.  The objectives are to increase mine reserves and develop additional resources within the Youga 
gold belt.  
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Operations Review (continued) 
  

Youga Gold Mine, Burkina Faso (continued)   
 
The following tables summarize the operating results of the Youga Gold Mine for the three months and year 
ended December 31, 2011: 
 

 
 
 

 
1 The realized price is the average price received for all ounces sold including sales at the gold hedge price. 
 2 Total cash cost is a non-GAAP financial performance measure with no standard meaning under IFRS. Refer to Non-GAAP Measures on page 28. 
 

Operating Data:  
Quarter Ended 

December 31, 2011
Quarter Ended 

December 31, 2010
Tonnes of ore mined (000's) 254                           235                            
Average gold grade mined (grams/tonne) 2.78                          3.03                           
Tonnes of ore milled (000's) 248                           246                            
Average gold grade milled (grams/tonne) 3.00                          2.89                           
Gold (ounces):   
    Produced 21,586                      21,234                      
    Sold 23,751                      23,362                      
Realized price   

    Gold ($/ounce)1 1,582                      1,329                       

Total cash cost per gold ounce produced2 

   (excluding royalties) ($/ounce) 623                           590                             
Financial Data  (US dollars in thousands)

Revenues 37,567                      31,050                      
Earnings from mine operations 19,585                      13,368                      

Operating Data: 
Year Ended 

December 31, 2011

Supplemental 
Information

Twelve months ended
December 31, 2010

Tonnes of ore mined (000's) 1,067                        893                            
Average gold grade mined (grams/tonne) 3.35                          2.23                           
Tonnes of ore milled (000's) 940                           891                            
Average gold grade milled (grams/tonne) 3.08                          2.24                           
Gold (ounces):   
    Produced 87,264                      82,402                      
    Sold 90,688                      81,428                      
Realized price   

    Gold ($/ounce)1 1,518                      1,201                       
Total cash cost per gold ounce produced2 

   (excluding royalties) ($/ounce) 644                           582                             
Financial Data  (US dollars in thousands)

Revenues 137,643                   97,762                      
Earnings from mine operations 62,195                      32,842                      
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Operations Review (continued) 
  
Agbaou Gold Project, Côte d’Ivoire   
 
Agbaou is Endeavour's most advanced development project and is one of the largest undeveloped gold resources 
in Côte d’Ivoire. The property covers 469 square kilometers, giving Endeavour control of the 40 kilometer strike 
length of the Agbaou gold belt. Agbaou has had a feasibility study completed and is in an engineering 
optimization stage.  
 
Agbaou is situated approximately 200 kilometers northwest of the port city of Abidjan in Côte d'Ivoire. It is 
readily accessible by paved highway and is within 10 kilometers of the national power grid. The Agbaou 
exploration permit was granted in November 2003. Endeavour will have an 85% interest in the mining company 
to be established to develop Agbaou while the State of Côte d'Ivoire and SODEMI (a State owned mining 
company) will have a 10% and a 5% free carried interest, respectively. 
 
A feasibility study of Agbaou was completed in November 2008 by MDM International Engineering Ltd., and 
Coffey Mining Pty Ltd., and subsequently updated in October 2009 using a $1,000 per ounce gold price. The 
updated feasibility study concluded that Agbaou will produce an average of 73,000 ounces per annum over a 9.1 
year mine life from a reserve base of 10.9 million tonnes with an average grade of 2.1 grams per tonne (731,000 
ounces). However, as announced on January 30, 2012, the Corporation anticipates that average production will 
increase to 100,000 ounces per annum once the EPCM contractor is selected.  The reserve estimation in 2009 
was completed by Coffey Mining in accordance with National Instrument 43-101. The feasibility study proposes 
open pit mining of three pits using a contracted mining fleet with the ore being processed through a conventional 
gravity-CIL plant with a design capacity of 1.2 million tonnes per annum. The average gold recovery is 91% and 
the strip ratio is 7:1. The Corporation has applied for a mining permit from the Ivorian administration which is 
pending.   
 
Authorizations to perform preliminary work were received in September 2010. Endeavour initiated a 20,000 
meter drilling program and engineering and technical studies are underway to refine the updated feasibility study. 
By the end of 2011 a total of 41,759 metres of RC drilling was completed for infil, condemnation and exploration 
drilling. 
 
In the first half of 2011, Endeavour’s progress on Agbaou was affected by Côte d’Ivoire’s four month conflict 
when the incumbent president refused to acknowledge defeat in the 2010 election.  As a result of the resolution 
of that situation there is a much more positive outlook.  The Energy and Mines Minister has stated that the 
country’s gold production capacity will increase to 13 tonnes a year by 2013, from its current annual output of 7 
tonnes, and the government has pledged to accelerate the process of obtaining mining permits and improve 
electricity generation by investing $500 million in upgrading the country’s main gas-fired power station between 
now and 2015.   
 
The infill drilling program was successfully completed during the third quarter and SRK (Johannesburg) were 
retained to update the resource models with this data.  Endeavour’s initial review of this data indicates that it’s 
within expectations and that an improvement in the resource classification is highly likely and SRK’s updated 
resource estimation is expected late in the first quarter or early in the second quarter of 2012. 
 
During the fourth quarter of 2011, drilling operations continued at Agbaou as did the flow of assay results from 
the condemnation and exploration drilling programs which yielded a number of significant intercepts in areas of
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Operations Review (continued) 
  
Agbaou Gold Project, Côte d’Ivoire (continued)  
 
planned infrastructure.  These positive results precipitated additional condemnation drilling during the fourth 
quarter of 2011, and are being followed up with an additional drilling program in 2012 to further define the 
extent and grade of the newly identified mineralization with the objective of adding to the project’s resources and 
reserves. 
 
Endeavour anticipates that a development decision will be taken around the end of the first quarter of 2012, 
subject to receiving the mining permit. 
 
Finkolo Project, Mali South   
 
Endeavour's most advanced project in Mali is on the Finkolo exploration permit located approximately 300 
kilometers southeast of Bamako, the capital city of Mali. The Finkolo permit is contiguous with the Syama 
holdings of Resolute Mining Ltd. which hosts the 6.0 million ounce Syama Gold Mine. Resolute has earned a 
60% interest in the Finkolo project and is managing the exploration and development programs on the joint 
venture holdings. Under the terms of the Finkolo Joint Venture, Resolute funded all costs of the joint venture up 
to the preparation of a feasibility study and Endeavour will reimburse Resolute its 40% share of such costs from 
50% of its share of future project cashflow. Going forward, development costs are being funded 60/40 by 
Resolute and Endeavour. 
  
In July 2010, Endeavour received a positive feasibility study for the Tabakoroni Gold Deposit located on the 
Finkolo Exploration Permit. The feasibility study is based on proven and probable reserves of 2.4 million tonnes 
with an average grade of 3.0 g/t containing 236,000 ounces. The study proposes open pit mining of three pits 
using a contract mining fleet with the ore to be trucked and processed through Resolute's Syama facilities, 
approximately 30 kilometers away.  
 
The completion of the feasibility study and the subsequent submission to the Malian Department of Geology and 
Mines is an essential step towards securing a mining permit in order for the Finkolo Joint Venture to proceed 
with mine development at the Finkolo Gold Project.   
 
On March 6, 2012 the Corporation entered into a definitive agreement with Resolute for the sale and transfer of 
the licenses and associated property comprising the Finkolo joint venture in Mali for total consideration of $20.0 
million in cash.  Endeavour holds a 40% interest in the Finkolo joint venture, which was formed in 2003 by 
Endeavour’s Etruscan subsidiary and Resolute is the operator.  The transaction is subject to a number of 
conditions, including approval from the Government of Mali for the transfer of the exploration permits, and 
therefore Endeavour anticipates the transaction to be completed by the end of the second quarter of 2012.  
 
Burkina North Project, Burkina Faso 
 
Endeavour holds two contiguous permits (Boulounga and Minima), which cover 348 square kilometers in the 
Centre-Nord region of central Burkina Faso, of highly prospective ground located adjacent to High River Gold’s 
Bissa Hill advanced exploration project which has measured and indicated 0.926 million ounce resource plus 
0.799 million ounce inferred resource. 
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Operations Review (continued) 
 
Burkina North Project, Burkina Faso (continued) 
 
Exploration during the fourth quarter of 2011 included the completion of a soil sampling program over the 
southern end of the permits in order to test a strong geophysical anomaly identified in the airborne VTEM 
survey. Two gold-in-soil anomalies have been identified for follow-up exploration in addition to the previously 
identified drill targets on the permits. 
 
Liberia   
 
Endeavour was granted three Reconnaissance Exploration Licences in Liberia in April 2011.  The licences cover 
Archaen rocks in the western part of Liberia within a northeast trending belt that contains Aureus’  New Liberty 
gold deposit which contains 0.751 million ounce indicated resource plus 0.762 million ounce inferred resource. 
Endeavour engaged SEMS Exploration Services to manage exploration on the licences which has comprised first 
pass geochemical surveys and geological mapping. 
 
In 2011, 1,575 soil samples, 95 stream samples and 12 rock chip samples were taken.  The sampling focussed on 
areas with prospective greenstone units and evidence of artisinal mining.  Results will be available in around the 
end of the first quarter of 2012.  Initial work near the village of Baisu on the Bopolu Licence resulted in the 
discovery of shallow hard rock workings.  Samples of quartz veins from the workings assayed up to 170g/t of 
gold providing encouraging results for exploration in the area.  
 



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Results of Operations and Financial Condition 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 

 

17 | P a g e  
 

Selected Annual Financial Information 
 
The following tables summarize the Corporation’s financial information for the last three fiscal years.  
 

 
1 Includes the Youga Gold Mine operations for the period October 23 to June 30, 2010. 
2 Includes the Nzema Gold Mine operations for the period December 6 to December 31, 2011. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

(US dollars in thousands except ounces)

Year Ended 
December 31, 

20112

Six Months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year Ended 
June 30, 

20101

Gold Revenues 147,227$        59,399$           53,081$         

Gold produced (ounces) 92,309            44,407              53,488            

Gold sold (ounces) 97,377            47,366              48,636            

Tonnes of ore mined (000's) 1,247              467                   889                 

Average gold grade mined (grams/tonne) 3.03                 3.09                  2.93                

Tonnes of ore milled (000's) 1,104              476                   880                 

Average gold grade milled (grams/tonne) 2.80                 3.00                  3.07                

Realized price
    Gold ($/ounce) 1,512              1,259                1,091              

Total cash cost per gold ounce produced2

   (excluding royalties) ($/ounce) 664                  615                   607                 

Cash flows from mine operations 60,484            22,160              21,235            

Net earnings attributable to shareholders
   of Endeavour Mining Corporation (23,777)           74,265              9,823              

Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.20)               0.69                  0.15                
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.20)               0.69                  0.15                

Cash and cash equivalents 115,279          167,300           15,063            

Total assets 966,435          455,027           444,332           
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Selected Annual Financial Information (continued) 

 
1 The Corporation changed its year end from June 30 to December 31, therefore the comparative December 31, 2010 annual financial data is the total of the  
   last six months of the year ended June 30, 2010 and the six months ended December 31, 2010. 
2 Includes the Nzema Gold Mine operations for the period December 6 to December 31, 2011. 
 

 

The following are key highlights for the year ended December 31, 2011, six month period ended December 31, 
2010 and the year ended June 30, 2010; 
 

 Merger with Adamus on December 5, 2011, therefore only 26 days operations included in the year ended 
December 31, 2011. 

 Acquired Etruscan on October 23, 2009, therefore only eight months of operations included in the year 
ended June 30, 2010. 

 During the respective periods, gold production and sales have varied due to the steady production at 
Youga and the addition of Nzema in late 2011. Sales have increased due to higher volume production 
and increasing gold prices over the period. 

 Realized price of gold per ounce has increased from the year ended June 30, 2010 to the year ended 
December 31, 2011 due to increasing commodity prices, and the elimination of the gold hedge book at 
Youga in November 2011. 

 One-off merger costs have resulted in $17.6 million one-off merger related costs and fees and 
restructuring related provisions included in operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011. 

 $71.2 million gain on disposal of investment for the six month period ended December 31, 2010 pertains 
to the Corporation’s disposal of its investment in Crew Gold Corporation for proceeds of $215.0 million. 

 $9.3 million profit from investment in associate for the year ended June 30, 2010 pertains to the 
Corporation’s investment in Crew Gold Corporation. 

 Cash costs increased due to higher fuel and labour costs in 2011. 
 

Operating Data:  

Year Ended 
December 31,

 20112

Supplemental 
Information

Twelve months 
ended

December 31, 

20101

Tonnes of ore mined (000's) 1,247                        893                     
Average gold grade mined (grams/tonne) 3.03                          2.23                    
Tonnes of ore milled (000's) 1,104                        891                     
Average gold grade milled (grams/tonne) 2.80                          2.24                    
Gold (ounces):   
    Produced 92,309                      82,402               
    Sold 97,377                      81,428               
Realized price   
    Gold ($/ounce) 1,512                        1,201                 
Total cash cost per gold ounce produced 
   (excluding royalties) ($/ounce) 664                           582                      
Financial Data  (US dollars in thousands)

Revenues 147,227                   97,762               
Earnings from mine operations 59,404                      32,842               
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Review of Financial Results 
 
Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2010   
  
Net loss attributable to shareholders of Endeavour for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $23.8 million, or 
($0.20) per share, compared with $46.7 million, or $0.46 per share, for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2010.  Compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2010, net earnings attributable to shareholders of 
Endeavour for the year ended December 31, 2011 were impacted significantly by the following factors; 
 

 Revenue increased by $49.5 million, or 51% resulting from a $302 per ounce increase in the average 
realised gold price and the sale of 15,949 ounces or 20% more gold compared to the same period in 
2010.  A total of 92,309 ounces of gold were produced during this period (December 31, 2010 – 82,402 
ounces).  

 
 Operating expenses increased by $16.3 million, or 33% from the twelve months December 31, 2010 

primarily due to an increase of production by 12%, as well as cost increases for labour and fuel during 
2011. A one-time purchase price allocation of $3.3 million relating to fair valuation of inventory was 
expensed. In addition, 26 days of the recently acquired Nzema operations were included in the current 
year consolidated operating costs. Higher production levels and slight increases in local wages, land 
taxes and fuel surcharge taxes also occurred. Endeavour believes that the impact of the increase in fuel 
surcharges and taxes to be less than the impact on its peers as Youga’s primary source of energy for 
processing operations is electric grid power from Ghana, not diesel powered generators. During the first 
quarter of 2011, Endeavour concluded negotiations with the labour union for a three year agreement, 
which is expected to add greater certainty to labour costs over the next few years. 
 

 Depreciation and depletion increased by $5.3 million, or 35% due to the additional Adamus merger 
impact and the increase in ounces produced during the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2010 
 

 Corporate costs increased by $20.8 million compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. 
The increase is primarily due to $17.6 million in one-off merger related costs and fees and restructuring 
related provisions, $4.5 million related stock-based payments, and the inclusion of the 26 days of the 
recently acquired Nzema operations costs were included in the consolidated corporate costs.   

   
 Loss on financial instruments of $1.9 million compared to a $21.6 million loss for twelve months ended 

December 31, 2010. The decrease in losses is primarily due to a net gain of $11.1 million on the realized 
and change in unrealized gain on the gold hedge and the change in the unrealized gain for the share 
purchase warrants. Offsetting the net gain on the derivative instruments was a $14.1 million loss on 
marketable securities, a $0.2 million loss on foreign currency and interest income of $1.3 million. With 
respect to marketable securities, we have seen a slight improvement in market sentiment around the end 
of 2011. 
 

 Losses on marketable securities of $14.1 million compared to a $0.9 million gain for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2010. The losses are comprised of $4.4 million of realized losses and $9.7 million 
of unrealized losses from the change in mark to market values on marketable securities for the year 
ended December 31, 2011. During 2011, the equity markets were very volatile, specifically for the junior 
resource sector. 
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Review of Financial Results (continued) 
 

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 (continued) 
 

 Gain on derivative financial liabilities of $11.1 million compared to a loss of $24.5 million for the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2010. The gain relates to the fair value change of share purchase warrants 
and the gold hedge.  The total of the realized and change in unrealized loss on the gold hedge totaled 
$2.5 million (twelve months ended December 31, 2010 – $23.3 million loss) and the change in the 
unrealized gain for the share purchase warrants totaled $8.6 million (twelve month period ended 
December 31, 2010 - $1.2 million loss).   
 

 Gain on sale of bullion of $2.8 million pertains to bullion purchased on the open market and delivered to 
Adamus pre-merger (one day before the December 5th effective date) to reduce the gold hedge book at 
Nzema. 
 

 Endeavour Capital’s loss increased by $22.3 million, primarily due to impairment losses on goodwill and 
intangible assets of $32.7 million and share-based payments of $1.9 million. The Corporation reviewed 
the carrying amounts of its intangible assets and goodwill attributable to the corporate advisory business 
and determined that the carrying value of the assets were not recoverable as Endeavour is now a more 
focused mining company and will not allocate significant resources to its legacy financial services 
activities.  The expenses are net of the overhead costs attributable to the financial and treasury services, 
now renamed Endeavour Capital, including all performance related bonuses, stock compensation and 
amortization of intangible assets. Performance related bonuses are also attributable to the advisory 
income from internal and external fees and gains on marketable securities, if any.    
 

 Share of loss of investment in associate totaled $3.3 million (twelve month period ended December 31, 
2010 – $9.3 million earnings). The loss for the year ended December 31, 2011 pertains to Endeavour 
recording its share of the cost of NREI’s further exploration of potential mineral property with no 
associated revenue. The $9.3 million of profit from investment in associate for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2010 pertains to share of profits from the Corporation’s investment in Crew which the 
Corporation disposed of in September 2010. 
 

 Endeavour has written-down its investment in associate by $9.8 million compared to $nil for the twelve 
month period ended December 31, 2010. Endeavour wrote-down the value of its investment in NREI as 
the shares have been trading in a range well below its carrying value since late October 2011. The fair 
value of $11.7 million is based on the publicly quoted share price at December 31, 2011. 
 

 The gain on dilution of ownership of associate totaling $22.1 million for the year ended December 31, 
2011 (twelve month period ended December 31, 2010 – $nil) is due to the dilution in the ownership 
interest in NREI that has resulted in the Corporation losing control at the time of the initial public 
offering on April 14, 2011 and triggering a recognition of a gain on the entire interest in NREI, as a 
result of re-measurement of the ownership interest from its carrying value to fair value. 
 

 The gain from sale of diamond operations totaling $3.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 
(twelve month period ended December 31, 2010 - $nil) pertains to the completion of the sale of the 
Corporation’s diamond operations to Rockwell.    
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Review of Financial Results (continued) 

 
Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 (continued) 

 
 Finance costs totaled $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to $9.1 million 

for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2010.  The decrease is due primarily to the absence 
of deferred financing costs and interest on long-term debt that was associated with the Youga Gold 
Mine, coupled with the financing costs incurred in the twelve month period ended December 31, 
2010 that related to the $100 million acquisition facility with UniCredit that was drawn as part of the 
Crew and Etruscan transactions. 
 

 Discontinued operations had a net loss of $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 (twelve 
month period ended December 31, 2010 - $4.3 million profit).  This is primarily due to the sale of the 
Advisory Business in December 2011 and reclassification as a discontinued operation and the de-
recognition of associated goodwill and intangibles in excess of the fair value of consideration 
received. 
 

 
Statement of Financial Position Review 
 
Assets 
 
As at December 31, 2011 Endeavour had cash and cash equivalents of $115.3 million (December 31, 2010 – 
$167.3 million) and marketable securities of $17.2 million (December 31, 2010 - $37.1 million). These 
amounts do not include the shares of NREI which are equity accounted as an investment in associate and had 
a fair value of $11.7 million at December 31, 2011.  Working capital as at December 31, 2011 was $154.1 
million (December 31, 2010 - $191.2 million).  
 
Marketable Securities 
 
The fair value of marketable securities has decreased from $37.1 million as at December 31, 2010 to $17.2 
million as at December 31, 2011 due to the sale of certain positions as well as the volatile equity markets, 
which has significantly impacted junior resource company share prices.   
 
Assets and Liabilities held for Sale 
 
On October 7, 2011 the Corporation finalized the purchase and sale of its diamond operations with Rockwell.  
The Corporation received 1,234,660 shares of Rockwell valued at $0.5 million as at October 7, 2011 and 
realized a gain on disposition of $3.7 million. Rockwell assumed all the debt and contingent liabilities of the 
Corporation related to the diamond assets, which totaled $3.1 million. 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets as at December 31, 2011 were $nil compared to $19.3 million at December 31, 2010.  The 
change in intangible assets is attributable to $5.6 million being derecognized on the disposal of the Advisory 
business and $12.5 million being written-down as an impairment loss as part of the Corporation’s annual 
impairment assessment of the intangible assets related to Endeavour Capital. During the year the Corporation 
amortized $1.2 million. 
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Statement of Financial Position Review (continued) 
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill as at December 31, 2011 totaled $57.5 million compared to $31.4 million at December 31, 2010.  
The change in goodwill is attributable to the following; 
 

 $55.4 million arose on the acquisition of Adamus because of the requirement to record a deferred tax 
liability for the difference between the assigned accounting values and the tax bases of assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed at amounts that do not reflect fair value.   

 $9.0 million of goodwill was derecognized on the disposal of the Advisory Business. 
 $20.3 million of goodwill was written-down as an impairment loss on the Endeavour Capital 

business as part of the Corporation’s annual impairment assessment. 
 
Investment in Associates 
 
The investment in the associate pertains to the Corporation’s 38.5% interest in NREI.  The investment 
decreased in the current year as Endeavour wrote-down the value of its investment in NREI as the shares 
have been trading in a range well below its carrying value since late October 2011. Furthermore, NREI 
continues to explore potential mineral properties in Namibia with no associated revenue. The fair value of 
$11.7 million is based on the publicly quoted share price at December 31, 2011. 
  
Promissory Note and other assets 
 
The promissory note and other assets of $10.1 million as at December 31, 2011 pertains to the fair value of 
the $20.0 million consideration comprised of; $10 million promissory note, $2.5 million intellectual property 
assignment fee related to Endeavour Financial brand name and the $7.5 million service fee related to future 
earnings, for the sale of the Advisory Business, which will be received out of the Advisory Business’ future 
profits which are uncertain and therefore have been valued on a discounted cash flow basis. 
 
Credit facilities   
 
On November 28, 2011 the Corporation entered into the $200 million Corporate Facility which is a four year 
revolving corporate loan facility.  The Corporate Facility is for general corporate purposes, including working 
capital, capital expenditure, and any acquisition of an asset or assets that are engaged in the exploitation of 
precious metal ores.  The Corporate Facility matures four years from the closing date with a mandatory 
reduction in availability of $75 million on December 31, 2014 and is subject to an interest rate of LIBOR 
plus a variable margin of between 2.5% and 4.25% depending on the leverage ratio. This Corporate Facility 
replaces the $100 million acquisition facility with UniCredit. The Corporate Facility is secured by shares of 
Endeavour’s material gold mining subsidiaries and the material assets of those subsidiaries. The Corporate 
Facility contains various covenants customary for a revolving corporate loan facility of this nature, including 
financial covenants and limits on indebtedness, asset sales and liens.   
 
The Corporation is in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2011. 
 
On December 5, 2011 Endeavour drew down $100.0 million of the Corporate Facility to fully repay the 
$57.0 million Nzema Gold Mine project loan and for general working capital purposes.  As at December 31, 
2011, $100.0 million is available to be drawn down.   
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Statement of Financial Position Review (continued) 
 
Derivative financial liabilities 
 
As at December 31, 2011, derivative financial liabilities of $75.1 million (December 31, 2010 - $71.8 
million) were comprised of the fair value of the outstanding gold price protection program and the share 
purchase warrants.  
 
The Corporation implemented a gold price protection program as part of the initial financing of the Nzema 
Gold Mine. The gold price protection program consisted of gold forward contracts initially covering 290,000 
ounces at a strike price of $1,075.00 per ounce and subsequently amended to $1,061.75. The program 
required no cash or other margin.  
 
On November 28, 2011 Endeavour reduced the hedge book by 139,000 ounces for a cash settlement of $96.7 
million.  The remaining Nzema gold hedge book of 116,161 ounces have a flat forward price of $1,061.75 
and has been re-profiled with deliveries of approximately 10,000 ounces during each of 2012 and 2013, and 
32,000  ounces during  each of 2014, 2015, and 2016. The fair value of the Nzema Gold Mine price 
protection program was $52.5 million at December 31, 2011. 
 
The Corporation implemented a gold price protection program for the Youga Gold Mine project which was a 
requirement under the $35 million project debt facility (“Project Facility”) for the purposes of developing the 
Youga Gold Mine.  The gold price protection program was comprised of a combination of bought put options 
and sold call options whereby 100% of forecast gold production for the first five years of the project (initially 
456,102 ounces) was price-protected at a minimum price of $629 per ounce. The put options were funded by 
writing call options covering 45% of the feasibility study life-of-mine production (initially 246,306 ounces) 
and had a strike price of $700 per ounce.  The program required no cash or other margin.    
 
On November 29, 2011 the Corporation closed out the gold hedge book at its Youga Gold Mine in Burkina 
Faso.  The residual balance of 23,532 ounces was settled for a cash payment of $24.0 million. The close out 
of the hedge book means that all gold production from Youga is now available to be sold into the spot market 
 
Following Endeavour’s acquisition of Etruscan on October 23, 2009, Endeavour used $23.0 million of cash 
to reduce the derivative liability. Due to the November 2011 close out of the gold hedge book at its Youga 
Gold Mine there was no derivative liability pertaining to the Youga Gold Mine gold price protection program 
at December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 - $40.6 million). 
 
The Canadian dollar share purchase warrants are valued quarterly and as the traded and non-traded value of 
the Endeavour share purchase warrants increases or decreases, a respective loss or gain is reflected in the 
financial statements.  
 
The traded share purchase warrants are valued by taking the publicly traded market price and the non-traded 
share purchase warrants are fair valued using the Black-Scholes methodology. At December 31, 2011 the 
derivative liability pertaining to the share purchase warrants was $22.5 million (December 31, 2010 - $31.2 
million). 
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Statement of Financial Position Review (continued) 
 
Deferred income and mining taxes 
 
The net deferred income tax liability increased by $68.0 from $6.1 million at December 31, 2010 to $74.1 
million at December 31, 2011.  The increase is primarily due to a $60.4 million deferred tax liability assumed 
on the merger with Adamus. An additional $13.7 million of deferred tax liability was due to the future tax 
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets 
and liabilities and their respective tax bases and for unused tax losses and other income tax deductions.  
 
The current income tax liability decreased from $0.7 million at December 31, 2010 to $0.1 million income 
tax receivable at December 31, 2011. The change in the current income tax liability is due to tax installments 
having been made for the expected year end tax provisions.   
 
Review of Quarterly Financial Results   
 
The following tables summarize the Corporation’s financial information for the last eight quarters.  The 
purchase of Etruscan Resources on October 23, 2009 resulted in the transformation of Endeavour into an 
operating gold producer. 
 

 
1 Results include the 26 days of operations of the Nzema Gold Mine. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(US dollars in thousands except per share amounts)

December 31, 

20111
September 30, 

2011
June 30, 

2011
March 31, 

2011

Gold Revenues 47,151$               37,960$           36,000$         26,116$         

Gold produced (ounces) 26,631                 24,047            21,575           20,056           

Gold sold (ounces) 30,440                 22,845            24,697           19,395           

Cash flows from mine operations 25,320                 15,300            13,309           6,555              

Net earnings (loss) attributable to shareholders
   of Endeavour Mining Corporation (66,124)                9,625               32,799           (77)                  

Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.48)                    0.08                 0.29                -                  
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.48)                    0.08                 0.28                -                  

Cash and cash equivalents 115,279              181,297          174,150         168,462         

Total assets 966,435              473,422          468,556         453,475         
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Review of Quarterly Financial Results (continued)   
 

 
 
Three months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the three months ended December 31, 2010   
 
Net loss attributable to shareholders of Endeavour for the three months ended December 31, 2011 was $66.1 
million, or ($0.48) per share, compared with earnings of $3.6 million, or $0.3 per share, for the three months 
ended December 31, 2010.  Compared to the fourth quarter of 2010, net earnings attributable to shareholders 
of Endeavour for the three months ended December 31, 2011 were impacted significantly by the following 
factors; 
 

 Revenue increased by $16.1 million, or 52%, resulting from both a $195 per ounce increase in the 
average realised gold price1 and the sale of 30,440 ounces of gold (December 31, 2010 – 23,362 
ounces)  or 30% more compared to the same period in 2010.  A total of 26,631 ounces of gold were 
produced during this period (December 31, 2010 – 21,234 ounces).  

 
 Operating expenses for the period increased by $8.2 million, or 60% due primarily to a decrease in 

non-cash adjustments in respect of gold inventory level changes which were a result of increased 
sales of ounces and a one-off purchase price allocation of $3.3 million relating to inventory which 
was expensed. In addition, 26 days of the recently acquired Nzema operations were included in the 
current quarter’s operating costs.   

 
 Depreciation and depletion increased by $3.2 million, or 82% due to the additional Adamus merger 

impact and the increase in ounces produced during the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 

 
 Corporate costs increased by $21.9 million compared to the three months ended December 31, 2010. 

The increase is primarily due to $17.6 million in one-off merger related costs and fees and 
restructuring related provisions, $4.5 million related stock-based payments, and the inclusion of the 
twenty six days of the recently acquired Nzema operations costs were included in the consolidated 
corporate costs.   

1 The realized price is the average price received for all ounces sold including sales at the gold hedge price. 

(US dollars in thousands except per share amounts)

December 31, 
2010

September 30, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

March 31, 
2010

Gold Revenues 31,050$              28,349$          20,741$         17,622$         

Gold produced (ounces) 21,234                 23,173            20,292           17,703           

Gold sold (ounces) 23,362                 24,004            17,566           16,496           

Cash flows from mine operations 11,514                 10,646            6,677              6,739              

Net earnings (loss) attributable to shareholders
   of Endeavour Mining Corporation 3,560                   70,705            8,915              (36,452)          

Basic earnings (loss) per share 0.03                     0.70                 0.09                (0.38)              
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.03                     0.69                 0.09                (0.38)              

Cash and cash equivalents 167,300              187,820          15,063           27,197           

Total assets 455,027              491,421          444,332         478,816         
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Review of Quarterly Financial Results (continued)  
 

Three months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the three months ended December 31, 2010 
(continued) 

 
 Gains on financial instruments of $3.6 million compared to a $5.6 million gain for the three months 

ended December 31, 2010. The gain is primarily due to a net gain of $3.9 million on the realized and 
change in unrealized gain on the gold hedge and the change in the unrealized gain for the share 
purchase warrants. Offsetting the net gain on the derivative instruments was a $0.4 million loss on 
marketable securities, a $2.0 million loss on foreign currency and interest income of $0.5 million. 

 
 Losses on marketable securities of $0.4 million compared to $11.9 million gain for the three months 

ended December 31, 2010. The losses are comprised of $2.3 million of realized losses and $1.9 
million of unrealized gains from the change in mark to market values on marketable securities for the 
year ended December 31, 2011. During the quarter ended December 31, 2011, the equity markets 
were very volatile, specifically for the junior resource sector. 

  
 Gain on derivative financial liabilities of $3.9 million compared to a loss of $6.5 million for the three 

months ended December 31, 2010. The gain relates to the fair value change of share purchase 
warrants and the gold hedge.  The total of the realized and change in unrealized loss on the gold 
hedge totaled $11.8 million (three months ended December 31, 2010 – $6.4 million loss) and the 
change in the unrealized loss for the share purchase warrants totaled $7.9 million (three month period 
ended December 31, 2010 - $0.01 million loss).   

 
 Gain on the sale of bullion of $2.8 million pertains to bullion purchased on the open market and 

delivered to Adamus pre-merger (one day before the December 5 effective date) to reduce the gold 
hedge book at Nzema. 

 
 Endeavour Capital’s loss increased by $29.3 million, primarily due to impairment losses on goodwill 

and intangible assets of $32.7 million and share-based payments of $1.9 million. The Corporation 
reviewed the carrying amounts of its intangible assets and goodwill attributable to the corporate 
advisory business and determined that the carrying value of the assets were not recoverable as 
Endeavour is now a more focused mining company and will not allocate significant resources to its 
legacy financial services activities.  The expenses are net of the overhead costs attributable to the 
financial and treasury services, now renamed Endeavour Capital, including all performance related 
bonuses, stock compensation and amortization of intangible assets. Performance related bonuses are 
also attributable to the advisory income from internal and external fees and gains on marketable 
securities, if any.    
 

 Share of loss of investment in associate totaled $0.9 million (three month period ended December 31, 
2010 – $nil).  The loss for the three months ended December 31, 2011 pertains to Endeavour 
recording its share of the cost of NREI’s further exploration of potential mineral property with no 
associated revenue.  NREI only became an investment in associate on April 14, 2011, therefore there 
was no share of profit or loss for the three months ended December 31, 2010.   

 
 Endeavour has written-down its investment in associate by $9.8 million compared to $nil for the 

three month period ended December 31, 2010. Endeavour wrote-down the value of its investment in
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Review of Quarterly Financial Results (continued)  

 
Three months ended December 31, 2011 compared to the three months ended December 31, 2010 
(continued) 

 
NREI as the shares have been trading in a range well below its carrying value since late October 
2011. The fair value of $11.7 million is based on the publicly quoted share price at December 31, 
2011. 

 
 The gain from sale of diamond operations totaling $3.7 million for the three months ended December 

31, 2011 (three months ended December 31, 2010 - $nil) pertains to the completion of the sale of the 
Corporation’s diamond operations to Rockwell during the quarter ended December 31, 2011.    
 

 Finance costs totaled $0.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2011 compared to $1.7 
million for the three months ended December 31, 2010.  The decrease is due primarily to the absence 
of deferred financing costs and interest on long-term debt that was associated with the Youga Gold 
Mine, coupled with the financing costs incurred in the twelve month period ended December 31, 
2010 that related to the $100 million acquisition facility with UniCredit that was drawn as part of the 
Crew Gold Corporation and Etruscan transactions. 
 

 Net loss from discontinued operations of $0.4 million compared to earnings of $9.7 million for the 
comparable period in 2010.  The decrease is due to the Advisory Business earning $11.2 million, 
including one significant amount, in success fees during the quarter ended December 31, 2010. 
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Non-GAAP Measures – Total Cash Costs per Gold Ounce Calculation  
 
The Corporation reports total cash cost on the basis of ounces produced. In the gold mining industry, these 
are common performance measures but do not have any standardized meanings. The Corporation follows the 
recommendation of the Gold Institute Production Cost Standard. The Corporation believes that, in addition to 
conventional measures prepared in accordance with GAAP, certain investors use this information to evaluate 
the Corporation’s performance and ability to generate cash flows. Accordingly, it is intended to provide 
additional information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of 
performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. The following table provides a reconciliation of total cash 
cost per ounce of gold sold and per ounce produced for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2011. 

 
 

1 Total cash cost is a non-GAAP financial performance measure with no standard meaning under IFRS.   
2 On December 5, 2011 the Corporation’s merger with Adamus became effective.  The fourth quarter and the year ended December 31, 2011 only 
   include 26 days of the operating results for the Nzema Mine.  However, these cash cost statistics include Nzema for the full three month and twelve  
   months ended December 31, 2011. 

 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
As at December 31, 2011 the Corporation had cash and cash equivalents of $115.3 million and marketable 
securities of $17.2 million compared to cash and cash equivalents of $167.3 million and marketable securities 
of $37.1 million at December 31, 2010.  The change in cash during the year ended December 31, 2011 is 
attributable to the following key items; 
 

 Strong operating cash flows of $54.0 million from the Youga Gold Mine and $6.5 from the Nzema 
Gold Mine which continued to increase gold production and sales and benefit from an increase in the 
spot price of gold.   

 Capital expenditures on mining interests of $20.1 million, including significant spend on the Salman 
Village resettlement which was completed in early 2012. 

 Net proceeds on sale of marketable securities of $13.4 million. 
 One-off merger, financing and severance costs of $17.6 million  
 Youga hedge close out cost of $24.0 million (23,532 ounces at $700 per ounce)  
 Nzema hedge close out cost of $96.7 million (139,000 ounces at $1,061.75 per ounce) 
 Nzema loan repayment of $57.0 million 
 Draw down of $100.0 million from Corporate Facility 
 Cash acquired on acquisition of Adamus of $23.4 million 

Quarter Ended 
December 31, 

20112

Quarter Ended 
December 31, 

2010

 
Year Ended 

December 31, 

20112

Twelve month 
period ended 

December 31, 
2010

(US dollars in thousands except ounces)

Operating expenses from continuing mining operations 21,898$                13,705$              66,205$                 49,878$                 
Less: non-cash adjustments relating to purchase price adjustments 
included in operating expenses (3,369)                   77                        (4,892)                    (2,487)                    
Total cash cost (excluding royalties) 18,529                  13,782                 61,313                   47,391                   

Divided by ounces of gold sold 30,440                  23,362                 97,337                   81,428                   

Total cash cost per ounce of gold sold1

   (excluding royalties) 609$                     590$                    630$                      582$                      



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Results of Operations and Financial Condition 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011   

29 | P a g e  
 

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources (continued) 

 
As at December 31, 2011, the Corporation had a working capital position of $154.1 million. In the opinion of 
management, the working capital at December 31, 2011, together with cash flows from operations, are 
sufficient to support the Corporation’s normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis.  However, taking 
into consideration volatile equity markets, global uncertainty in the capital markets and cost pressures, the 
Corporation is continually reviewing expenditures in order to ensure adequate liquidity and flexibility to 
support its growth strategy while maintaining or increasing production levels. 
 

With cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities in excess of $132.5 million, coupled with the 
ability to draw down and an additional $100.0 million on the Corporate Facility, Endeavour is focused on 
continuing its growth strategy and targeting mergers and acquisitions with complementary producing, or 
near-term producing, gold assets or companies. 
 
Outlook   
 
Endeavour’s future profits, cash flows and financial position are strongly linked to the price of gold.  The 
Corporation’s strong cash position and future cash flows will fund internal growth through development of 
projects, such as Agbaou, and exploration at Endeavour properties.  In order to supplement internal growth, 
Endeavour continues to consider expansion opportunities through mergers and acquisitions. 
 
The on-going volatility in financial markets, threat of longer term inflation and focus on sovereign debt issues 
has proven to be beneficial for the price of gold which has remained strong at $1,565 per ounce at the end of 
the fourth quarter of 2011 compared to $1,623 per ounce at the end of the third quarter of 2011 and $1,421 
per ounce at December 31, 2010.  The global gold market in 2011 was incredibly volatile which saw gold 
open in 2011 around $1,400, peak at $1,921 and then subsequently close at $1,565. Furthermore, the limited 
supply of gold extractable at an economic cost continues to support prices.   
 
Key factors influencing the price of gold include the fact that central bank buying has remained price 
supportive, mine supply is robust and is currently expanding, and importantly the supply is providing metal 
to meet supply that is being lost from central bank net sales and a scrap market that has become uncommon 
in providing new metal. Continued demand from investors seeking wealth preservation in an environment of 
uncertain global economic growth, pessimism of fiat currencies, increasing social unrest and negative real 
interest rates are all future factors that are expected to fuel investment demand for gold.   Management 
believes that the mid to long term economic environment is likely to remain supportive for gold prices.  
Endeavour has not hedged foreign exchange rates or metal prices other than the gold hedge mandated by the 
lenders for the project financing put in place by the former Etruscan group.  
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Outlook (continued) 
 

For 2012, Endeavour expects production to be in the range of 170,000 to 190,000 ounces of gold at a cash 
cost per ounce (excluding royalties) of $645 to $685.  The table below details guidance for each mine for 
2012: 
 

 
  
Endeavour has an exploration budget of approximately $30.0 million for 2012. Approximately half of this 
amount is directed towards increasing resources and reserves to extend mine lives at the Nzema and Youga 
operations. The balance is directed towards increasing resources at Agbaou in Côte d’Ivoire, exploring and 
delineating resources at Bitou-Ouaré in Burkina Faso, delineating resources and conducting further 
metallurgical testing of the Nzema Sulphides in Ghana, and advancing the exploration programs on key 
properties in Burkina Faso, Côte d’Ivoire, Ghana, Liberia, and Mali.  
 
This budget includes over 200,000 meters of drilling along with associated airborne and ground geophysics, 
geochemical surveys, trenching, pitting, auger and RAB drilling, resource estimation, metallurgical testwork 
and engineering studies.  
 
Management believes the Corporation will not require external financing to complete the Agbaou 
development project. In addition, the Corporation intends to remain flexible in the current uncertain 
environment to be able to respond to other opportunities as they arise, including gold hedge monetization and 
other transactions.   
 
Contractual Obligations and Commitments   
 
Derivative instrument liability 
 
The following table details the options contracts pertaining to the derivative instrument liability relating to 
the gold price protection program requirement under the former Nzema Gold Mine project facility. These 
ounces were novated from Macquarie to UniCredit when the $200 million Corporate Facility was finalized in 
December 2011. 

 

Mine
Total 

Cash Cost ($/ounce)

Nzema   92,000   - 102,000 $630 - 670
Youga   78,000   - 88,000   $660 - 700
Total 170,000   - 190,000 $645 - 685

Gold Production 
(Ounces)

Period
Forward contracts 

(ounces)
Price Per 

Ounce Fair Value

2012 9,998                1,061.75$ 4,899$       
2013 10,000               1,061.75   4,707         
2014 32,000               1,061.75   14,605       
2015 32,000               1,061.75   14,255       
2016 32,163               1,061.75   14,072       
Total 116,161             1,061.75$ 52,538$      
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments (continued)  
 
Contracts and Leases   
 
The Corporation has a commitment in place at Youga with a contractor to provide drilling and blasting, and 
load and hauling services.  The term expires on December 31, 2012 and requires the contractor to drill and 
blast a minimum of 3.2 million bank cubic meters (“BCM”) per annum at a base cost of $2.252 per BCM, 
adjusted on an annual basis over the contract term and load and haul approximately 3.2 million of ore and 
waster per annum. The annual commitment is approximately $19.2 million. The Corporation provided a 
guarantee to BNP Paribas guaranteeing the obligations of the contractor, which were used to purchase drill 
equipment for the purposes of the drilling and blasting at Youga.  
 
The Corporation has commitments in place at Nzema with several contractors to provide drill and blasting 
services, load and haul services and supply of explosives and supply of hydrocarbon services.  The terms 
extend through the period January 1, 2012 to February 4, 2016 and require the contracts to drill and blast a 
minimum of 3.7 million BCM per annum at a base cost of $0.067 and $0.125 per BCM based on ground 
condition and drill pattern, adjusted on an annual basis over the term and load and haul approximately $18.0 
million of ore and waster per annum.  The annual commitment is approximately $22 million and reduces 
thereafter. 
 
The Corporation is subject to operating lease commitments in connection with the purchase of light duty 
vehicles and workshop from several suppliers totaling $0.9 million. The commitments expire in April, May 
and October 2013. 
 
The Corporation is subject to operating lease commitments in connection with rented office premises. 
 
The table below summarizes the commitments for the service contracts and operating lease commitments; 
 

  
 
Bonuses 
 
In conjunction with Endeavour’s gold acquisition strategy, Endeavour implemented a deferred bonus policy 
to enhance the profitability and growth of Endeavour’s gold business by attracting, retaining and motivating 
qualified employees.  The bonus is accrued upon the sale of gold assets by Endeavour, upon the acquisition 
of Endeavour, or other change of control events involving Endeavour, and when a reliable estimate of the 
bonus can be made.  The bonus amount is calculated as 10% of the increase in value of Endeavour’s gold 
assets.  In the case that the realisation event is the sale of Endeavour, the bonus amount calculation is 
expected to require the allocation of the consideration value to Endeavour’s gold assets and to its other non-

(US dollars in thousands)

Within 1 
year

2-3 
years

4-5 
years

After 
5 years Total

Operating leases 2,080$           947$             763$             493$           4,283$         
Drill and blasting contract 12,373           3,641            3,603            300              19,917         
Load and hauling contract 30,019           15,016         -             -              45,035         

44,472$         19,604$       4,366$         793$           69,235$       
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments (continued)  
 
Bonuses (continued) 
 
gold assets in order to determine the increase in value of Endeavour’s gold assets.  In order to align the 
interests of Endeavour’s shareholders and employees, bonuses are deferred and payable upon realisation.  
 
In addition to the above noted deferred bonus policy, the Corporation also has an incentive bonus policy 
linked to the fees generated from the financial and treasury services team and the gain on marketable 
securities. Fiore is entitled to receive a minimum of 20% of the Corporation’s bonus pool. 
 
Contingencies   
 
Burkina Faso Mines Services S.A. 
 
On May 17, 2010 the Corporation received a notice of arbitration from Burkina Faso Mines Services S.A. 
(“BFMS) claiming certain specified amounts totaling approximately $5 million together with unspecified 
damages for fundamental breach of contract relating to the termination of a drill blast contract at the Youga 
Gold Mine and injunctive relief to prevent the Corporation and Burkina Mining Company from claiming 
under a performance guarantee provided by BFMS’ parent company, EPC Groupe.  
 
On July 5, 2010, the Corporation delivered a response and counterclaim to BFMS and the judge agreed to 
adjudicate the matter. The Corporation and BFMS must file written arguments with the arbitrator by April 5, 
2012. The Corporation is of the view that BFMS’ claim is without merit. No accrual for this contingency has 
been made in the financial statements. 
 
Gold Reserve Inc. 
 
On December 16, 2008, the Corporation was notified of a claim filed against it by Gold Reserve Inc. ("Gold 
Reserve") in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.  Gold Reserve's claim against the Corporation arises out 
of an advisory agreement pursuant to which the Corporation agreed to provide financial advisory services to 
Gold Reserve.   
 
Gold Reserve alleges that by virtue of having been retained as Gold Reserve's financial advisor, the 
Corporation obtained access to all of Gold Reserve's proprietary and confidential information.  Gold Reserve 
alleges that the Corporation wrongfully shared this information with a third party, which is a co-defendant in 
the action, and further alleges that the Corporation has committed breaches of various duties owed to Gold 
Reserve under the advisory agreement and at common law.   
 
Gold Reserve claims that it has suffered and will continue to suffer damages and irreparable harm for which 
the Corporation is liable. In Gold Reserve’s original claims of December 16, 2008, Gold Reserve sought 
C$500 million in damages in addition to C$50 million in punitive damages from the Corporation and the co-
defendant. In connection with this action, an interim motion was granted on February 10, 2009 and the co-
defendant filed a statement of defence and counterclaim on March 31, 2009.  The Corporation filed a 
statement of defence and counterclaim on August 19, 2009.   
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Contingencies (continued) 
 
Gold Reserve (continued) 
 
On June 16, 2010, amended the Statement of Claim to in part (i) reduce the damages claimed against the 
Company from C$500 million to C$150 million (including damages that Gold Reserve alleges to have  
suffered as a result of being unable to complete an unnamed transaction) and C$50 million in punitive 
damages, and (ii) add the principals of Fiore as individual defendants.   On March 17, 2011, Endeavour and 
its co-defendants in the action demanded particulars in respect of the plaintiff’s amended claim. The 
Corporation believes the claim is without merit and intends to vigorously defend the action.  No accrual for 
this contingency has been made in the financial statements.     
 
Hightime Investments Pty Ltd 
 
The Corporation is subject to a claim from Hightime Investments Pty Ltd (“Hightime”) which alleges that, in 
or about early 2003, the Corporation entered into an arrangement with Hightime under which Hightime 
asserts that it allowed the Corporation to apply for, and obtain, two prospecting licences over ground near the 
Southern Ashanti geological belt in Ghana.  In addition to claiming a breach of contract arising from the 
Corporation’s alleged failure to pay Hightime for the opportunity, Hightime is also claiming restitution of the 
benefit (the prospecting licences) that the Corporation obtained allegedly to the detriment of Hightime. The 
Corporation believes the claim is without merit and intends to vigorously defend the action.  No accrual for 
this contingency has been made in the financial statements.  
 
Outstanding Share Data   
 
Endeavour’s authorized capital is US$20,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares and 
1,000,000,000 undesignated shares with a par value of US$0.01 each, none of which undesignated share have 
been issued   As at March 13, 2012 245,037,109 shares were issued and outstanding. Endeavour had 
17,091,778 stock options outstanding under its share option plans, exercisable into 17,091,778 common 
shares. In addition, the Endeavour had common share purchase warrants outstanding, exercisable into 
33,167,238 common shares.   
 
On December 19, 2011 the Corporation issued 7,245,000 options with an exercise price of C$2.64 and an 
expiry of December 19, 2016. 
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Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
The Corporation transitioned from Canadian GAAP to IFRS effective July 1, 2009 (the “transition date”) and 
has prepared its opening IFRS statement of financial position as at that date. The Corporation’s consolidated 
financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2011 will be the first annual financial statements that 
the Corporation will prepare in accordance with IFRS.  The Corporation has prepared its opening IFRS 
consolidated statement of financial position by applying existing IFRS with an effective date of December 
31, 2011 or prior.   

 
Prior to the adoption of IFRS the Corporation prepared its financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
GAAP.  IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” (“IFRS 1”) which 
governs the first time adoption of IFRS requires, subject to certain exceptions and exemptions, that the same 
accounting policies are applied for all periods presented and that these policies are based on IFRS effective at 
the end of the first IFRS reporting year, December 31, 2011.  
 

a) Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to IFRS 
 

The Corporation’s transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS has resulted in a number of adjustments 
to the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2010 and June 30, 2010 and its 
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss or earnings, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
respective periods then ended.    

  
(b) Accounting Guideline 18 (“AuG-18”) 
 

Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation’s accounting policy was to record its investments in 
accordance with AuG-18.  IFRS does not provide specific guidance for investment companies.  
Therefore, investments which had previously been accounted for under AuG-18 were assessed as to 
whether fair value accounting was an appropriate measure.  If fair value accounting was no longer 
appropriate the Corporation’s investment was assessed for which standard was applicable and 
accounted for the investment under the identified standard with resulting changes shown in Note 23 
of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011.  The key impact on transition to 
IFRS relate to the Corporation’s investment in Etruscan, the Corporation’s investment in Crew.   
 

 (i) Subsidiaries – IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
 

On October 23, 2009 the Corporation acquired 55% of Etruscan’s common shares through open 
market purchases and a private placement. Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation carried its 
investment in Etruscan at fair value with the change in unrealized gain and losses recorded in the 
income statement. 

 
On September 10, 2010, the Corporation acquired the remaining 45% of Etruscan common 
shares it did not already own. Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation owning 100% of the 
common shares treated the September 10, 2010 Arrangement as a business combination and the 
mining operations were consolidated from this date onward.  
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Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued) 
 

(b) Accounting Guideline 18 (“AuG-18”) (continued) 
 
(i) Subsidiaries – IFRS 3 Business Combinations (continued) 

 
IFRS does not provide specific guidance for investment companies which was the nature of the 
business at transition, therefore the Corporation determined its accounting policy to account for 
the acquisition of the 55% ownership of Etruscan as a business combination from October 23, 
2009 onwards, the date that control commenced, using the acquisition method. For the 
acquisition of the remaining 45% of the Etruscan common shares, which was not considered a 
change in ownership and did not result in a change in control, it was accounted for as an equity 
transaction eliminating the non-controlling interest balances, accounting for the additional 
consideration with the difference being charged to retained earnings. 

 
In the course of preparing these consolidated financial statements, management identified an 
error in the application of IFRS in accounting for its previously reported business combination 
when it acquired Etruscan (Note 3(b)(i). The Corporation had previously recognized a fair value 
increment of $46.7 million related to mining interests and inventory with an offsetting increase in 
non-controlling interest and the deferred income tax liability related to the temporary difference 
that arose on initial recognition of the mining interests and inventory. Management has 
determined that the recognition of the deferred income tax liability should have been offset to 
goodwill. The impact is that mining interests, inventory and deferred income tax liability were 
overstated by $7.8 million, $0.5 million and $6.2 million, respectively as at December 31, 2010 
and June 30, 2010, while goodwill was understated by $2.1m. The impact to the statement of 
income is $1.5 million related to the reduction in the depletion and depreciation on the mining 
interests. This has been corrected in the reconciliations from Canadian GAAP to IFRS and on the 
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2011 and the statement of earnings for the 
year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
There was no impact to the opening retained earnings at July 1, 2009. 

 
June 30, 2010 
The impact was an increase of $124.6 million in total assets, an increase of $99.6 million in total 
liabilities, a decrease in net earnings of $20.4 million and a $22.9 million decrease to retained 
earnings.   
 
December 31, 2010 
The impact was a decrease of $78.0 million in total assets, a decrease of $17.5 million in total 
liabilities, a decrease in net earnings of $10.7 million and a $57.8 million decrease to retained 
earnings. 
 

(ii) Investment in associate – IAS 28 
 
  From January 2010 to March 31, 2010, the Corporation invested $134.5 million resulting in the 

Corporation holding a 43% interest in Crew.  
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Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued) 
 

(b) Accounting Guideline 18 (“AuG-18”) (continued) 
 

(ii) Investment in associate – IAS 28 (continued) 
 
On September 14, 2010, the Corporation sold its 43% interest of Crew for $214.5 million in cash 
resulting in a gain of $71.2 million.   
 
Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation carried its investment in Crew at fair value with the 
change in unrealized gain and losses recorded in the income statement in accordance with AuG-
18. 

 
IFRS does not provide specific guidance for investment companies (the nature of the business at 
transition) and therefore the Corporation determined its accounting policy to be such that 
investments in associates where, the Corporation exercises significant influence (presumed to 
exist where the Corporation has between 20 percent and 50 percent of the voting rights), would 
be recorded using the equity method of accounting. In accordance with IAS 28, the Corporation 
has recorded the investment in Crew at cost and recorded earnings based on its proportionate 
share of Crew’s net earnings for each reporting period. There was no impact to the opening 
retained earnings at July 1, 2009, however for the twelve month period ended June 30, 2010 $9.3 
million of income was recorded for the equity earnings from investment in associate and an 
unrealized gain of $78.3 million was reversed.   
 
For the six month period ended December 31, 2010 $0.03 million of loss was recorded for the 
loss from investment in associate and a $71.2 million gain on the sale of Crew was recorded. 

 
(c) Share purchase warrants 
 

  In accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments, share purchase warrants with an exercise price 
denominated in a currency other that the Corporation’s functional currency, US dollars, are required 
to be classified and accounted for as derivative financial liabilities at their fair values, with changes 
in fair values being included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as a component 
of net earnings for the period.  Under Canadian GAAP, all the Corporation’s outstanding share 
purchase warrants were classified and accounted for as equity. The impact of this was a decrease of 
$12.9 million in opening retained earnings at July 1, 2009. 

 
(d) Contingent consideration 
 

In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, contingent consideration is required to be 
recorded at fair value at the time of the transaction.  Under Canadian GAAP, each period that the 
earnings requirement as described in Note 12(a) was achieved, the value of the shares in escrow 
increased goodwill and share capital for the corresponding fair value. The impact of this was a 
decrease of $2.4 million in opening retained earnings at July 1, 2009. 

 
(e) Reclassification  

  
Certain balances have been reclassified to meet with current IFRS presentation. 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates   
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenue from the sale of gold is recognized when the Corporation has transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership.  The Corporation retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the 
degree usually associated with ownership or effective control over the goods sold; the amount of revenue can 
be measured reliably; it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably. Revenue is net 
of royalties, not considered to be an income tax. 
 
Marketable securities 
 
The Corporation classifies its investments in marketable securities at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”). After initial recognition, the fair value adjustments are accounted for in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. The purchase and sale of investments are recognized on the trade date, 
which is the date that the Corporation commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 
Inventories 
 
Finished goods, work-in-process, and stockpiled ore are valued at the lower of average production cost and 
net realizable value.  Production costs include the cost of raw materials, direct labour, mine-site overhead 
expenses and depreciation and depletion of mining interests.  Net realizable value is calculated as the 
estimated price at the time of sale based on prevailing and long-term metal prices less estimated future 
production costs to convert the inventories into saleable form. 
 
Ore extracted from the mine is stockpiled and subsequently processed into finished goods (gold in doré). 
Production costs are capitalized and included in work-in-process inventory based on the current mining costs 
incurred up to the point prior to the refining process, including applicable overhead, depreciation and 
depletion relating to mining interests, and removed at the average production cost per recoverable ounce of 
gold. The average production costs of finished goods represent the average costs of work-in-process 
inventories incurred prior to the refining process, plus applicable refining costs and associated royalties.   

 
Mining properties 
 
The Corporation records mining interests at cost. In accordance with IFRS, the Corporation capitalizes pre-
production expenditures net of revenues received during the period prior to reaching operating levels 
intended by management as part of the costs of mining properties. Exploration costs are expensed as incurred 
to the date of establishing that costs incurred are economically recoverable, at which time exploration costs 
are capitalized and included in the carrying amount of the related property. 
 
A significant portion of the Corporation’s mining properties are depleted using the unit-of-production 
method. Under the unit-of-production, depletion of mining properties is based on the amount of reserves 
expected to be recovered from the mines.  If estimates of reserves expected to be recovered prove to be 
inaccurate, or if the Corporation revises its mining plan for a location, due to reductions in the metal price 
forecasts or otherwise, to reduce the amount of reserves expected to be recovered, the Corporation could be 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued)   
 
Mining properties (continued) 
 
required to write down the carrying amounts of its mining properties, or to increase the amount of future 
depletion expense, both of which reduce the Corporation’s earnings and net assets. 
 
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. If estimates 
or useful lives including the economic lives of mines prove to be inaccurate, the Corporation could be 
required to write down the carrying amounts of its plant and equipment, or to increase the amount of 
future depreciation expense, both of which would reduce the Corporation’s earnings and net assets. 
 
Decommissioning and restoration provisions 
  
The Corporation’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various governmental laws and 
regulations relating to the protection of the environment. These environmental regulations are continually 
changing. The Corporation has made, and intends to make in the future, expenditures to comply with such 
laws and regulations or constructive obligations. The Corporation records a liability for the estimated 
future rehabilitation costs and decommissioning of its operating and inactive mines and development 
projects at the time the environmental disturbance occurs, discounted to net present value. The net present 
value is determined using the risk rate specific to the liability. The estimated net present value of 
rehabilitation and decommissioning cost is re-measured on an annual basis or when changes in 
circumstances occur and/or new material information becomes available. Increases or decreases to the 
provision arise due to changes in legal or regulatory requirements, the extent of environmental 
remediation required and cost estimates. The net present value of the estimated costs of these changes is 
recorded in the period which the change is identified and quantifiable. Rehabilitation and 
decommissioning cost relating to operating mines and development projects are recorded with a 
corresponding increase to the carrying amounts of related assets. Rehabilitation and decommissioning 
cost related to inactive mines are recorded directly in earnings as rehabilitation expense included in 
depreciation and depletion.   
 
 
Business combinations 
 
A business combination is defined as an acquisition of assets and liabilities that constitute a business. A 
business is an integrated set of activities and assets that is capable of being conducted and managed for 
the purpose of providing a return to the Corporation and its shareholders in the form of dividends, lower 
costs or other economic benefits. A business consists of inputs, including non-current assets, and 
processes, including operational processes, that when applied to those inputs, have the ability to create 
outputs that provide a return to the Corporation and its shareholders. A business also includes those assets 
and liabilities that do not necessarily have all the inputs and processes required to produce outputs, but 
can be integrated with the inputs and processes of the Corporation to create outputs. When acquiring a set 
of activities or assets in the exploration and development stage, which may not have outputs, the 
Corporation considers other factors to determine whether the set of activities or assets is a business. Those 
factors include, but are not limited to, whether the set of activities or assets: 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued)   
 
Business combinations (continued) 

 
(i)  has commenced planned principal activities; 
(ii)  has employees, intellectual property and other inputs and processes that could be applied 

to those inputs; 
(iii)  is pursuing a plan to produce outputs; and 
(iv)  will be able to obtain access to customers that will purchase the outputs. Not all of the 

above factors need to be present for a particular integrated set of activities or assets in the 
exploration and development stage to qualify as a business. 

 
Impairment 
 
At each reporting date, the Corporation reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication that the carrying value of the assets are not recoverable.  If 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of 
any impairment. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the 
Corporation estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. An intangible asset 
with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication that the 
asset may be impaired. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for 
which estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset of 
CGU is estimated to be less than it carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. An impairment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 
When an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment been recognized for the asset or 
CGU in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 
The Corporation performs goodwill impairment tests annually or when events and circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amounts may no longer be recoverable. In performing the impairment tests, the 
Corporation estimates the recoverable amount of its CGUs that include goodwill and compares 
recoverable amounts to the CGU’s carrying amount. If a CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the Corporation reduces the carrying value of the CGU or group of CGUs by first reducing the 
carrying amount of the goodwill and then reducing the carrying amount of the remaining assets on a pro-
rata basis. 

 
Impairment of goodwill cannot be reversed. 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued)   
 
Income taxes 

 
The Corporation uses the liability method of accounting for income and mining taxes. Under the liability 
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases and for unused tax losses and other income tax deductions. In a business 
combination, the liability method requires the tax effects of such differences to be recognized as deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities and included in the allocation of the cost of purchase. Deferred income 
taxes are not recognized for temporary differences that arise from differences between the fair values and 
tax bases of assets acquired in a transaction other than a business combination. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected 
to apply when the related assets are realized or the liabilities are settled. A valuation allowance is 
recorded against a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will not be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. The effect on deferred tax assets 
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period in which the change is 
substantively enacted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are considered monetary assets. Deferred tax 
balances denominated in other than US dollars are translated into US dollars using current exchange rates 
at the reporting date. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Corporation intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.  
 
Earnings per share  

 
  Earnings per share calculations are based on the weighted average number of common shares issued and 

outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share are calculated using the treasury stock method, 
whereby the  proceeds from the potential exercise of dilutive stock options and share purchase warrants 
with exercise prices that are below the average market price of the underlying shares are assumed to be 
used in purchasing the Corporation’s common shares at their average market price for the period.  In 
addition, the effect of the Corporation’s dilutive share purchase warrants includes adjusting the numerator 
for mark-to-market gains and losses recognized in profit or loss during the period for changes in the fair 
value of the dilutive share purchase warrants.    
 
Foreign currency translation 
 
The presentation currency of the Corporation is the US dollar. The functional currency of Endeavour 
Mining Corporation, the parent company, is the US dollar.  The individual financial statements of each 
subsidiary are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(its functional currency). In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in 
currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued)   
 
Foreign currency translation (continued)   
 
spot exchange rate on the transaction date. Monetary items are translated at the closing rate at the end of each 
reporting period. 

  
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using exchange rates at the date of the transaction. 

 
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of entities whose 
functional currency is not the US dollar are translated using exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. 
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. 
 
Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective 

 
The Corporation has not early adopted the following new and revised Standards, Amendments and 
Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective. 
 
In October 2010, the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued amendments to IFRS 7 - 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures that enhance the disclosure requirements in relation to transferred 
financial assets. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011, with 
earlier application permitted. The Corporation does not anticipate this amendment to have a significant 
impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

 
The following standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier 
adoption permitted. The Corporation is currently assessing the impact they will have on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

 
 IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements: IFRS 10 establishes principles for the presentation 

and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other 
entities. IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and SIC-12, 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 

 
 IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements: IFRS 11 establishes principles for financial reporting by parties to a 

joint arrangement. IFRS 11 supersedes current IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13, 
Jointly Controlled Entities-Non – Monetary Contributions by Venturers.   

 
 IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: IFRS 12 applies to entities that have an interest 

in a subsidiary, a joint arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. 
 

 IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurements: IFRS 13 defines fair value, sets out in a single IFRS 
framework for measuring value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. The IFRS 
13 applies to IFRSs that require or permit fair value measurements or disclosures about fair value 
measurements (and measurements, such as fair value less costs to sell, based on fair value or 
disclosures about those measurements), except in specified circumstances.   
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued)   
 
Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)   

 
 IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements: IAS 27 has been updated to require an entity presenting 

separate financial statements to account for those investments at cost or in accordance with IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments. The new IAS 27 excludes the guidance on the preparation and 
presentation of consolidated financial statements for a group of entities under the control of a 
parent, which is within the scope of the current IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, and is replaced by IFRS 10.  

 
 IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: IAS 28 has been updated and it is to be 

applied by all entities that are investors with joint control of, or significant influence over, an 
investee.  The scope of the current IAS 28 Investments in Associates does not include joint 
ventures.  Early application is permitted.   

 
 IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Mine:  In October 2011, the IASB issued 

IFRIC 20 which clarifies the requirements for accounting for the costs of stripping activity in the 
production phase when two benefits accrue: (i) usable ore that can be used to produce inventory 
and (ii) improved access to further quantities of material that will be mined in future periods. The 
interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier 
application permitted. 

 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: IFRS 9 introduces the new requirements for the classification, measurement 
and de-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. Specifically, IFRS 9 requires all recognized 
financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to 
be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value, and all financial liabilities classified as 
subsequently measured at amortized cost except for financial liabilities as at FVTPL. The amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015, with earlier application permitted. 

 
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements: In June 2011, the IAS issued amendments to IAS 1 that requires 
an entity to group items presented in the statement of comprehensive income on the basis of whether they 
may be reclassified to earnings subsequent to initial recognition. For those items presented before taxes, the 
amendments to IAS 1 also require that the taxes related to the two separate groups be presented separately.  
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012, with earlier adoptions 
permitted.  The Corporation does not anticipate the application of the amendments to IAS 1 to have a 
material impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

 
IAS 32, Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32):  On December 16, 
2011 the IASB published amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation to clarify the 
application of the offsetting requirements.  The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2014, with earlier application permitted. 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued)   
 
Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)   

 
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IFRS 7): On December 
16, 2011 the IASB published new disclosure requirements jointly with the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (“FASB”) that enables users of financial statements to better compare financial statements prepared in 
accordance with IFRS and US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  The new requirements are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
 
Risk factors   
 
Readers of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis should give careful consideration to the information 
included or incorporated by reference in this document and the Corporation’s audited consolidated financial 
statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2011.  Significant risk factors for the 
Corporation are metal prices, government regulations, foreign operations, environmental compliance, 
dependence on management, title to the Corporations mineral properties and litigation.  
 
Gold Price Volatility   
 
The profitability of Endeavour's operations may be significantly affected by changes in the market price of 
gold. The price of gold has historically fluctuated widely, and is affected by numerous factors beyond the 
control of Endeavour including without limitation, sales and purchases of gold, forward sales of gold by 
producers and speculators, expectations with respect to the rate of inflation, world supply of gold, stability of 
exchange rates (the strength of the US dollar and other currencies), global and regional political and 
economic conditions or events, industrial and retail demand, sales by central banks and other holders, interest 
rates, production and costs levels in major gold-producing regions such as South Africa and China, and 
speculator and producer responses to any of the foregoing factors.   
 
Gold is sold in US dollars and although the majority of the costs of Endeavour’s gold operations are in US 
dollars, certain costs are incurred in other currencies. Some of the operating costs of Endeavour’s gold 
operations are denominated in currencies other than the US dollar. Fluctuations in these currencies against the 
US dollar could have a material effect on Endeavour’s financial results, which are denominated and reported 
in US dollars.  
 
Future serious price declines in the market value of gold could render Endeavour’s projects uneconomic. 
There is no assurance that, even as commercial quantities of gold and other precious metals are produced, a 
profitable market will exist for them. 
 
Declining commodity prices can also impact operations by requiring a reassessment of the feasibility of a 
particular project.  Such a reassessment may be the result of a management decision or may be required under 
financing arrangements related to a particular project.  Even if a project is ultimately determined to be 
economically viable, the need to conduct such a reassessment may cause substantial delays or may interrupt 
operations until the reassessment can be completed. 
 
Endeavour can reduce its exposure against fluctuations in the price of gold by using hedging tools for a 
portion or all of its gold production. The main hedging tools available to protect against price risk are forward
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contracts and put options. Various strategies are available using these tools.  Although hedging activities may 
protect a company against a low gold price, they may also limit the price that can be realised on gold that is 
subject to forward sales and call options where the market price of gold exceeds the gold price in forward 
sale or call option contract. 
 
A hedging arrangement was employed by Adamus in 2010 for a portion of its production from the Nzema 
Gold Mine.  The hedging was required under the terms of the Nzema project debt financing. This historical 
hedging arrangement has been reduced to 116,161 deliverable gold ounces at the time of the acquisition of 
Adamus, and the remaining hedge will be delivered into over the period to September 2016. When gold 
prices rise above the price at which future production has been hedged Endeavour will not benefit fully from 
the price increases. 
 
Production 
 
Endeavour currently has two operating mines, the Youga Gold Mine in Burkina Faso and the Nzema Gold 
Mine in Ghana. No assurance can be given that the intended or expected production estimates will be 
achieved by either mine or in respect of any future mining operations in which Endeavour owns or may 
acquire interests. Failure to meet such production estimates could have a material effect on Endeavour's 
future cash flows, financial performance and financial position. Production estimates are dependent on, 
among other things, the accuracy of mineral reserve estimates, the accuracy of assumptions regarding ore 
grades and recovery rates, ground conditions and physical characteristics of ores, such as hardness and the 
presence or absence of particular metallurgical characteristics and the accuracy of estimated rates and costs of 
mining and processing. Actual production may vary from its estimates for a variety of reasons, including; 
 

 actual ore mined varying from estimates of grade, tonnage, dilution and metallurgical and other 
characteristics;  

 short-term operating factors such as the need for sequential development of ore bodies and the 
processing of new or different ore grades from those planned;  

 mine failures, slope and underground rock failures or equipment failures;  
 industrial accidents;  
 natural phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods, droughts, rock slides and 

earthquakes; encountering unusual or unexpected geological conditions;  
 changes in power costs and potential power shortages;  
 shortages of principal supplies needed for operation, including explosives, fuels, chemical reagents, 

water, equipment parts and lubricants;  
 labour shortages or strikes;  
 civil disobedience and protests; and  
 restrictions or regulations imposed by government agencies or other changes in the regulatory 

environments.  
 
Such occurrences could result in damage to mineral properties, interruptions in production, injury or death to 
persons, damage to property, monetary losses and legal liabilities. These factors may cause a mineral deposit 
that has been mined profitably in the past to become unprofitable, forcing production to cease. Each of these
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factors also applies to sites not yet in production and to operations that are to be expanded. It is not unusual in 
new mining operations to experience unexpected problems during the start-up phases. Depending on the price 
of gold or other minerals, it may be determined to be impractical to commence or, if commenced, to continue 
commercial production at a particular site. 
 
Acquisition Strategy 
 
Endeavour evaluates opportunities to acquire, divest and/or consolidate gold producing assets and similar 
businesses. Any resultant transactions may be significant in size, may change the scale of Endeavour's 
business and may expose Endeavour to new geographic, political, operating, financial and geological risks. 
Such transactions may be accompanied by risks applicable to the exploration and development of resource 
properties and conduct of mining operations generally, to the difficulties of assimilating the operations and 
personnel of any acquired companies, and to the risk of unknown liabilities associated with acquired assets 
and businesses. 
 
Acquisition transactions involve other inherent risks, including; 
 

 accurately assessing the value, strengths, weaknesses, contingent and other liabilities, and potential 
profitability of acquisition candidates; 

 ability to achieve identified and anticipated operating and financial synergies; 
 unanticipated costs; 
 diversion of management attention from existing business; 
 potential loss of Endeavour’s key employees or the key employees of any business it acquires; 
 unanticipated changes in business, industry or general economic conditions that affect the 

assumptions underlying the acquisition; and 
 decline in the value of acquired properties, companies or securities. 

 
Any one or more of these factors or other risks could cause Endeavour not to realize the benefits anticipated 
to result from the acquisition of properties or companies, and could have a material adverse effect on its 
ability to grow and on its financial condition.  
 
In addition, to acquiring properties and companies, Endeavour could use available cash, incur debt, issue 
Endeavour shares or other securities, or a combination of any one or more of these.  This could limit 
Endeavour’s flexibility to raise capital, to operate, explore and develop its properties and to make additional 
acquisitions and could further dilute and decrease the trading price of Endeavour shares.  When evaluating an 
acquisition opportunity, Endeavour cannot be certain that it will have correctly identified and managed risks 
and costs inherent in the business that it is acquiring. 
 
Endeavour cannot give any assurance that it will successfully identify and complete an acquisition transaction 
and, if completed, that the business acquired will be successfully integrated into its operations. 
 
Endeavour's success in its acquisition, divestment and consolidation activities depends on its ability to 
identify suitable opportunities, implement them on acceptable terms and have the operations of any acquired
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companies successfully integrated with those of Endeavour.   There can be no assurance that Endeavour will 
be successful in overcoming these risks or any other problems encountered in connection with any future 
acquisitions, divestments or consolidations. While Endeavour continues to seek acquisition opportunities 
consistent with its acquisition and growth strategy, Endeavour cannot be certain that it will be able to identify 
additional suitable acquisition candidates available for sale at reasonable prices, to consummate any 
acquisition or to integrate any acquired business into its operations successfully. 
 
Political Risks  
 
The majority of Endeavour's assets are located in West Africa. Endeavour believes that the governments of 
the countries that the Corporation holds assets in, supports the development of their natural resources by 
foreign companies. There is no assurance however that future political and economic conditions of these 
countries will not result in their governments adopting different policies respecting foreign ownership of 
mineral resources, taxation, rates of exchange, environmental protection, labour relations, repatriation of 
income or return of capital, restrictions on production, price controls, export controls, expropriation of 
property, foreign investment, maintenance of claims and mine safety. The possibility that a future 
government in any of these countries may adopt substantially different policies, which might include the 
expropriation of assets, cannot be ruled out. There is also a risk of limitations being placed on the ability to 
repatriate funds. 
 
Other risks and uncertainties to which the Corporation is exposed by reason of operating in West Africa 
include, but are not limited to, terrorism; hostage taking; military repression; extreme fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates; high rates of inflation; labour unrest; war or civil unrest; expropriation and nationalization; 
renegotiation or nullification of existing concessions, licences, permits, contracts and fiscal stability 
arrangements; illegal mining; changes in taxation policies; restrictions on foreign exchange and repatriation; 
loss due to disease and other potential endemic health issues; and changing political conditions, currency 
controls and governmental regulations that favour or require the awarding of contracts to local contractors or 
require foreign contractors to employ citizens of, or purchase supplies from, a particular jurisdiction. 
 
Although Endeavour is not currently experiencing any significant or extraordinary problems in foreign 
countries arising from such risks, there can be no assurance that such problems will not arise in the future. 
 
Endeavour’s Youga Gold Mine is located in Burkina Faso, while the Agbaou Gold Project is located in Côte 
d’Ivoire. Both of these countries have recently experienced a period of political unrest. Endeavour 
management continues to believe that the political situation in both Burkina Faso and Côte d’Ivoire will not 
have a significant impact on the long-term return on its investments in the Youga Gold Mine or the Agbaou 
property; however, in the event that political unrest should reoccur, it may have a negative effect on the 
recoverability of these investments. 
 
Mineral Legislation  
 
The business of mineral exploration, development, mining and processing is subject to various national and 
local laws and plans relating to permitting and maintenance of title, environmental consents, taxation, 
employee relations, health and safety, royalties, land acquisitions, land use, waste disposal, environmental
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protection and remediation, protection of endangered and protected species, mine safety, toxic substances and 
other matters.  Although Endeavour currently complies with all applicable rules and regulations, no assurance 
can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not 
be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail production or development.  New laws and regulations, 
amendments to existing laws and regulations, administrative interpretation of existing laws and regulations, 
or more stringent enforcement of existing laws and regulations, whether in response to changes in the 
political or social environment in which the companies operate or otherwise, could have a material adverse 
effect on the Corporation. 
 
Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations may result in enforcement actions or corrective 
measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment or remedial actions.   Parties 
engaged in mining operation may be required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by reason of the 
mining activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws 
or regulations.  
 
Currency and Foreign Exchange Rate Fluctuations  
 
The price of gold is denominated in United States dollars. Endeavour’s results are also reported in US dollars.  
However, parts of the Corporation's business is conducted by its subsidiaries in Australia, Burkina Faso, 
Canada, Cayman Islands, Côte d’Ivoire, Ghana, Liberia, Luxembourg, Mali, Monaco, and the United 
Kingdom and the associated overhead costs are denominated in Australian dollars, Canadian dollars, Euros, 
UK pounds sterling and Burkina Faso CFA franc, Ghanaian Cedi, Liberian dollars, Malian CFA francs and 
South African Rand. Therefore, changes in currency exchange rates as well as associated transaction costs 
could adversely affect profitability in any given period. Any fluctuations in the value of these foreign 
currencies relative to the US dollar may result in variations in the Corporation’s net income. Foreign 
currencies are affected by a number of factors that are beyond the control the Corporation.  These factors 
include economic conditions in the relevant country and elsewhere and the outlook for interest rates, inflation 
and other economic factors.  To date the Corporation has not entered into hedging or derivative arrangements 
to manage its foreign exchange risk.   
 
Mine Development   
 
Maintaining present levels of gold production is dependent on the successful development of new producing 
mines and/or identification of additional reserves at existing mining operations. Reduced production could 
have a material and adverse impact on future cash flows, results of operations and financial conditions. 
Feasibility studies are used to determine the economic viability of a deposit. Many factors are involved in the 
determination of the economic viability of a deposit, including the achievement of satisfactory mineral 
reserve estimates, the level of estimated metallurgical recoveries, capital and operating cost estimates and the 
estimate of future gold prices. Capital and operating cost estimates are based upon many factors, including 
anticipated tonnage and grades of ore to be mined and processed, the configuration of the ore body, ground 
and mining conditions, expected recovery rates of the gold from the ore and anticipated environmental and 
regulatory compliance costs. Each of these factors involves uncertainties and as a result, Endeavour cannot 
give any assurance that its development or exploration projects will become operating mines. If a mine is 
developed, actual operating results may differ from those anticipated in a feasibility study. 
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Any of the following events, among others, could affect the profitability or economic feasibility of a project; 
 

 unanticipated changes in grade and tonnage of ore to be mined and processed; 
 unanticipated adverse geotechnical conditions; 
 incorrect data on which engineering assumptions are made; 
 costs of constructing and operating a mine in a specific environment; 
 availability of labour; 
 availability and costs of processing and refining facilities; 
 availability of economic sources of power; 
 adequacy of water supply; 
 availability of surface tenure on which to locate processing and refining facilities; 
 adequate access to the site, including competing land uses (such as agriculture and illegal mining); 
 unanticipated transportation costs; 
 government regulations (including regulations with respect to prices, royalties, duties, taxes, 

permitting, restrictions on production, quotas on exportation of minerals, as well as the costs of 
protection of the environment and agricultural lands); 

 fluctuations in gold prices; and 
 accidents, labour actions and force majeure events. 

 
It is not unusual in new mining operations to experience unexpected problems during the start-up phase, and 
delays can often occur at the start of production. 
 
Future Capital Requirements   
 
Endeavour may require additional capital if it decides to develop other properties or make additional 
acquisitions. Endeavour may also encounter significant unanticipated liabilities or expenses. Endeavour's 
ability to continue its planned exploration and development activities depends in part on its ability to generate 
free cash flow from its operating mines, each of which is subject to certain risks and uncertainties. Endeavour 
may be required to obtain additional financing in the future to fund exploration and development activities or 
acquisitions of additional projects. There can be no assurance that Endeavour will be able to obtain the 
necessary financing in a timely manner, on acceptable terms or at all. 
 
In addition, any additional debt financings, if available, may involve financial covenants. 
 
Exploration and Development   
 
The exploration and development of gold deposits involves significant risks, which even a combination of 
careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While the discovery of a mineable deposit 
may result in substantial rewards, few properties which are explored are ultimately developed into producing 
mines. Major expenses may be required to identify ore reserves, to develop metallurgical processes and to 
construct mining and processing facilities at a particular site. It is impossible to ensure that the current 
exploration programs planned by Endeavour will result in a profitable commercial mining operation, and 
significant capital investment is required to achieve commercial production from successful exploration
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efforts. There is no certainty that exploration expenditures made by Endeavour will result in discoveries of 
commercially mineable quantities. 
 
Mining, processing, development and exploration activities depend, to one degree or another, on adequate 
infrastructure.  Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and water supply are important determinants which 
affect capital and operating costs.   The lack of availability on acceptable terms or the delay in the availability 
of any one or more of these items could prevent or delay exploitation and/or development of the 
Corporation’s projects.  If adequate infrastructure is not available in a timely manner, there can be no 
assurance that the exploitation and/or development of the Corporation’s projects will be commenced or 
completed on a timely basis, if at all, or that the resulting operations will achieve the anticipated production 
volume, or that construction costs and ongoing operating costs will not be higher that anticipated.  In 
addition, unusual or infrequent weather phenomena, sabotage or other interference in the maintenance or 
provision of such infrastructure could adversely affect the Corporation’s operations and profitability. 
 
Mineral Reserve and Mineral Resource Estimates   
 
Mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates are imprecise and depend partially on statistical inference 
drawn from drilling and other data, which may prove to be unreliable. Estimates, which were valid when 
made, may change significantly upon new information becoming available. In addition, the estimates depend 
to some extent on interpretations, which may prove to be inaccurate. 
 
Mineral reserves are reported as general indicators of mine life. Reserves should not be interpreted as 
assurances of mine life or of the profitability of current or future production. 
 
There can be no assurance that those portions of such mineral resources that not mineral reserves will 
ultimately be converted into mineral reserves. Mineral resources which are not mineral reserves do not have 
demonstrated economic viability. 
 
Depletion of Mineral Reserves   
 
Mining reserves depleted by production must be continually replaced to maintain production levels over the 
long term. There is no assurance that current or future exploration programs will result in any new 
commercial mining operations or yield new reserves to replace or expand current reserves. 
 
Dependence on Key Personnel   
 
Endeavour's growth strategy relies on certain key professionals with specific experience and expertise, and 
the loss of these persons or Endeavour's inability to attract and retain additional highly skilled employees 
required for the implementation of Endeavour's business plan and ongoing development and expansion of its 
operating assets may have a material adverse affect on Endeavour's business or future operations. 
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Outside Contractor Risks  
 
It is common for certain aspects of mining operations, such as drilling and blasting, to be conducted by an 
outside contractor. The mining operations at the Youga Gold Mine and the Nzema Gold Mine are undertaken 
by contactors and as a result, the Corporation is subject to a number of risks, including reduced control over 
the aspects of the operations that are the responsibility of the contractor, failure of a contractor to perform 
 
under its agreement with the companies, inability to replace the contractor if either party terminates the 
contract, interruption of operations in the event the contractor ceases operations due to insolvency or other 
unforeseen events, failure of the contractor to comply with applicable legal and regulatory requirements and 
failure of the contractor to properly manage its workforce resulting in labour unrest or other employment 
issues. 
 
Title to Mineral Holdings  
 
Mining companies require licenses and permits from various governmental authorities. Endeavour believes 
that it holds all necessary licenses and permits under applicable laws and regulation in respect of its 
properties and that it is presently complying in all material respects with the terms of such licenses and 
permits. Such licenses and permits, however, are subject to change in various circumstances. There is a risk 
that the necessary permits, consents, authorizations and agreements to implement planned exploration, 
development or mining may not be obtained under conditions or within the time frames that make such plans 
economic, that applicable laws, regulations or the governing authorities will change or that such changes will 
result in additional material expenditures or time delays. Etruscan applied for the Agbaou mining permit in 
October 2009 and the application is still pending. While Endeavour believes the Agbaou mining permit will 
be granted, there is no guarantee this will be the case and no certainty on timing of any such grant. 
 
There can be no guarantee that Endeavour will be able to obtain or maintain all necessary licenses and 
permits that may be required to explore and develop its properties, commence construction or operation of 
mining facilities on properties under exploration or development, or to maintain continued operations that 
economically justify the cost. The validity of ownership of property holdings can be uncertain and may be 
contested. Risk always exists that some titles, particularly titles to undeveloped properties, may be defective. 
 
Environmental Risks and other Hazards 
 
All phases of a company's mining operations are typically subject to environmental regulation in the various 
jurisdictions in which the Corporation operates. Environmental legislation in many countries is evolving and 
the trend has been toward stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-
compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and increasing responsibility for 
companies and their officers, directors and employees. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations 
may require significant capital outlays on behalf of the Corporation and may cause material changes or delays 
in Endeavour's intended activities. There can be no assurance that future changes in environmental 
regulations will not adversely affect Endeavour's business, and it is possible that future changes in these laws 
or regulations could have a significant adverse impact on some portion of Endeavour's business, causing 
Endeavour to re-evaluate those activities at that time.  
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Environmental hazards, currently unknown to Endeavour, may exist on or adjacent to its projects.  The 
Corporation may be liable for losses associated with such hazards, or may be forced to undertake extensive 
remedial clean-up action or to pay for governmental remedial clean-up actions, even in cases where such 
hazards have been caused by previous or existing owners or operations of project land, or by past or present 
owners of adjacent properties or natural conditions.  The costs of such clean-up actions may have a material 
adverse impact on the Corporation’s operations and profitability. 
 
Endeavour uses sodium cyanide in its gold production at the Youga and Nzema Gold Mines. Should sodium 
cyanide leak or otherwise be discharged from the containment system, Endeavour may be subject to liability 
for clean-up work. Endeavour currently carries insurance to protect against certain risks in such amounts as it 
considers adequate. Risks not insured include environmental pollution, other than $250,000 of coverage to 
clean up uninsured property not on the Youga Mine Site. Therefore, Endeavour may suffer a material adverse 
impact on its business if it incurs losses related to any significant events that are not covered by its insurance 
policies. 
 
Mining involves various other types of risks and hazards, including:  
 

 industrial accidents;  
 processing problems; 
 unusual or unexpected rock formations;  
 structural cave-ins or slides;  
 flooding;  
 fires;  
 metals losses; and  periodic interruptions due to inclement or hazardous weather conditions.  

 
These risks could result in damage to, or destruction of, mineral properties, production facilities or other 
properties, personal injury, delays in mining, increased production costs, monetary losses and possible legal 
liability.  
 
Reclamation 
 
With regard to the Youga Gold Mine, recent legislation has been adopted that provides that mining 
companies exploiting a mine in Burkina Faso must establish an environmental preservation and rehabilitation 
fund trust account ("EPRF") and make annual contributions equal to the total forecasted rehabilitation budget 
as stated in the project’s environmental impact assessment divided by the number of years forming the mine 
life. Endeavour has established an EPRF account for the Youga Gold Mine and made the required financial 
contributions. 
 
In the case of the Nzema Gold Mine, the Ghanaian Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") requires 
reclamation costs over the life of mine to be secured by way of a performance bond (or similar instrument) 
issued by an appropriate financial institution. The amount of reclamation security fluctuates in accordance 
with land disturbance and is calculated by reference to the Nzema environmental management plan and any 
updates thereto. As at December 31, 2011 the reclamation security agreement between the EPA and Adamus
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Resources Limited in Ghana had not been finalized, and therefore the obligation to provide the performance 
bond has not yet arisen.  
 
There is no assurance that any funds or bonding provided in relation to the Youga Gold Mine and the Nzema 
Gold Mine will be sufficient to complete reclamation work actually required or that Endeavour will not be 
required to fund additional costs related to reclamation that could have a material adverse effect on 
Endeavour's financial position. 
 
Remote Locations  
 
Endeavour's mining interests are located in remote locations and depend on an uninterrupted flow of 
materials, supplies and services to those locations. Any interruptions to the procurement of equipment or the 
flow of materials, supplies and services to these properties could have an adverse impact on the Endeavour's 
future cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition. 
 
Competition  
 
The mining industry is intensely competitive. Significant competition exists for the acquisition of properties 
producing or capable of producing gold or other metals. Endeavour may be at a competitive disadvantage in 
acquiring additional mining properties because it must compete with other individuals and companies, many 
of which have greater financial resources, operational experience and technical capabilities than Endeavour. 
Endeavour may also encounter increasing competition from other mining companies in its efforts to hire 
experienced mining professionals. Increased competition could adversely affect Endeavour’s ability to attract 
necessary capital funding or acquire suitable producing properties or prospects for mineral exploration in the 
future. 
 
Insurance Coverage  
 
The mining industry is subject to significant risks that could result in damage to, or destruction of, mineral 
properties or producing facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage, delays in mining and 
monetary losses and possible legal liability. Endeavour’s policies of insurance may not provide sufficient 
coverage for losses related to these or other risks. Endeavour’s insurance does not cover all risks that may 
result in loss or damage and may not be adequate to reimburse Endeavour for all losses sustained. The 
occurrence of losses or damage not covered by insurance could have a material and adverse effect on 
Endeavour’s cash flows, results of operation and financial condition. 
 
Insurance against risks such as environmental pollution or other hazards as a result of exploration and 
production is not generally available to companies in the mining industry on acceptable terms.  Losses from 
these events may cause the Corporation to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect 
upon its financial performance and results of operations. 
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Legal Proceedings 
 
Endeavour may become party to new litigation or other proceedings, with or without merit, in a number of 
jurisdictions. The cost of defending such claims may take away from management time and effort and if 
adjudged adversely to Endeavour, may have a material and adverse effect on its cash flows, results of 
operation and financial condition. 
 
Foreign Assets 
 
Substantial portions of the assets of Endeavour are located in jurisdictions outside of Australia and Canada. 
As a result, it may be difficult for investors resident in Australia or Canada or other jurisdictions to enforce 
judgments obtained against Endeavour in Australia or Canada if the damages awarded exceed the realizable 
value of Endeavour's Australian or Canadian assets. 
 
Foreign Organization 
   
The Corporation is incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The foreign organization, 
management and offices of the Corporation may make it more difficult for shareholders to enforce their legal 
rights than if the Corporation was organized, managed and resident in Australia orCanada or the United 
States. The common law and statutory rights of shareholders under the laws of the Cayman Islands may be 
less extensive than statutory rights available to shareholders under the laws of Australia or Canada or the 
United States. Although the Cayman Islands have enjoyed a stable political climate for many years, there can 
be no assurance that changing social and political conditions will not adversely affect the operations of the 
Corporation in the future.   
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Financial Instruments and Related Risks 
 
The Corporation’s activities expose it to a variety of risks that may include currency risk, credit risk, liquidity 
risk, interest rate risk and other price risks, including equity price risk. The Corporation examines the various 
financial instrument risks to which it is exposed and assesses any impact and likelihood of those risks.   

 
(i) Credit risk  
 

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 
Corporation by failing to discharge its obligations. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
marketable securities held with investment dealers, marketable securities made in the form of a loan, 
and accounts receivables and other assets. Although it is intended that the marketable securities the 
Corporation makes in the form of loans will normally be secured, there can be no assurance that such 
security will completely protect the value of the Corporation’s investments.  As the assets securing 
the Corporation’s loans will occasionally be subordinated to senior indebtedness, the Corporation’s 
security may have second or third priority.    

 
 The Corporation closely monitors its financial assets and does not have any significant concentration 

of credit risk other than cash on deposit with global financial institutions. The Corporation invests its 
cash and cash equivalents in corporations meeting its investment criteria. The Corporation sells its 
gold to large international financial institutions and internationally recognized refiners. The 
Corporation’s gold revenue is comprised of gold sales to primarily two customers, however the 
Corporation is not economically dependent on a limited number of customers for the sale of its gold 
because gold can be sold through numerous commodity market traders worldwide. 
 
The historical level of customer defaults is minimal and, as a result, the credit risk associated with 
accounts receivable and other assets at December 31, 2011 is considered to be negligible.  The 
Corporation does not rely entirely on ratings issues by credit rating agencies in evaluating 
counterparties’ related credit risk.  

  
All transactions executed by the Corporation in listed securities are settled and paid for upon delivery 
using approved brokers.  The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold is 
only made once the broker has received payment.  Payment is made on a purchase once the securities 
have been received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet its obligation. 

 
The Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk before taking into account any collateral held or 
other credit enhancements is the carrying amount of the financial instruments at the consolidated 
balance sheet date as follows: 
 

 
 

 

December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

 June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Cash and cash equivalents 115,279         167,300       15,063            121,814       
Marketable securities  17,227           37,149         32,961            71,049         
Trade and other receivables 15,184             7,693             7,626              3,508             

147,690$         212,142$       55,650$           196,371$       
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Financial Instruments and Related Risks 
 

(ii) Liquidity risk   
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 
The Corporation has a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine the funds required 
to support the Corporation’s normal operating requirements. 

  
The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of the Corporation’s financial liabilities 
and operating and capital commitments at December 31, 2011: 
 

  
In the opinion of management, the working capital at December 31, 2011, together with future cash 
flows from operations, is sufficient to support the Corporation’s commitments. 
 

 (iii) Currency risk 
 

Currency risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Corporation’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations 
may affect the costs that the Corporation incurs in its operations. Gold is sold in US dollars and the 
Corporation’s costs are incurred principally in Australian dollars, Burkina Faso CFA Franc, Canadian 
dollars, Euros, Ghana Cedi, Liberian dollars, Malian CRA franc, South African Rand and US dollars.  
 
The appreciation of non-US dollar currencies against the US dollar can increase the cost of gold 
production and capital expenditures in US dollar terms.  The Corporation also has cash and cash 
equivalents, marketable securities, and accounts receivable and other assets that are denominated in 
non-US dollar currencies which are subject to currency risk. 

  
 The Corporation has not hedged its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. 

  
  
 
 
 
 

Within 1 
year

2 to 3 
years 4 to 5 years

Over 5 
years Total

 
Trade and other payables 39,244$   -$      -$           -$     39,244$ 
Long-term debt -           -         100,000       -        100,000  
Derivative liabilities 4,899        19,312    28,327       -        52,538    
Service contract obligations 42,392      18,657    3,603         300       64,952    
Minimium rental and lease payments 2,080        947        763            493       4,283      
Reclamation and closure cost 
   obligations -           -         -            12,315   12,315    

88,615$    38,916$  132,693$    13,108$ 273,332$ 
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Financial Instruments and Related Risks (continued) 
 

(iii) Currency risk (continued) 
 
The table below highlights the net assets held in foreign currencies: 
 

 
 

  (iv) Interest rate risk  
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Corporation’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The Corporation is exposed to 
interest rate risk on its cash and cash equivalents.  The Corporation holds convertible loans, 
debentures and short term government treasury securities that have the potential to be affected by 
changes in interest rates. There is minimal fair value sensitivity to changes in interest rates, since 
convertible loans and debentures are short term in nature and are usually held to maturity. The 
Corporation monitors its exposure to interest rates and is comfortable with its exposure given the 
relatively low short-term US dollar rates. The Corporation bears interest rate risk in relation to 
amounts drawn under the Corporate Facility as the interest rate payable is the US dollar LIBOR 
floating-rate plus a margin. The Corporation has not hedged its exposure to interest rate risk. 
 

 (v) Price Risk   
 

Price risk is the risk that the fair value of or future cash flows of the Corporation’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Profitability of the Corporation 
depends on metal prices, primarily gold. Metal prices are affected by numerous factors such as the 
sale or purchase of gold by various central banks and financial institutions, interest rates, exchange 
rates, inflation or deflation, fluctuations in the value of the US dollar and foreign currencies, global 
and regional supply and demand and the political and economic conditions of major producing 
countries throughout the world.    

 
The Corporation is exposed to other price risk or equity price risk in trading its marketable securities 
and unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions of marketable securities at less than 
favorable prices. Additionally, the Corporation marks its investments to market at each reporting 
period. This process could result in significant write-downs of the Corporation’s investments over 
one or more reporting periods, particularly during periods of declining resource equity markets. 

 
 
 
 

 December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1,
2009

Canadian dollar (7,185)$          12,419$          175,010$            168,994$       
Euro 648               586                 2,326                 -                
Cedi (35)                -                 -                     -                
Other currencies 5,338             831                 (6,943)                3,421             

(1,234)$          13,836$          170,393$            172,415$       
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Controls and Procedures  
 
Disclosure controls and procedures   
 
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information 
is gathered and reported on a timely basis to senior management, including the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), so that appropriate decisions can be made regarding public 
disclosure. As at the end of the period covered by this management’s discussion and analysis, management 
evaluated the effectiveness of the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures as required by Canadian 
Securities Law. 
 
Based on that evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded, that as of the end of the twelve month period 
covered by this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the disclosure controls and procedures were 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in Endeavour Mining 
Corporation’s annual and interim filings (as such terms are defined under National Instrument 52-109 
Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings) and other reports filed or submitted under 
Canadian securities law is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by 
those laws, and that material information is accumulated and communicated to management including the 
CEO and CFO as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  
  
Internal controls and procedures 
 
The Corporation’s management, with the participation of its CEO and CFO, are responsible for establishing 
and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting.  Under the supervision of the CFO, the 
Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with GAAP.  
 
All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those 
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement 
preparation and presentation. As at the end of the period covered by this Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis, management evaluated the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial 
reporting as required by Canadian securities laws. 
  
Based on that evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that, as of the end of the three month period 
covered by this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the internal controls over financial reporting were 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. 
  
As a result of the Corporation’s acquisition of Etruscan and Adamus and its transition from a merchant 
banking company to a gold company, the Corporation has adopted new controls and procedures pertaining to 
the gold producing activities. These types of controls and procedures were in place at Etruscan and Adamus 
prior to the acquisition.   
 
Except for the recent acquisition of gold producing activities as noted above, there have been no material 
changes in the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting during year ended December 31, 2011 
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Internal controls and procedures (continued) 
 
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal controls 
over financial reporting. 
 
Additional information relating to the Corporation is available on the Corporation’s web site at 
www.endeavourmining.com and in the Corporation’s Annual Information Form for the year ended December 
31, 2011 on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.   
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Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements 
 
Certain statements in this MD&A and certain information incorporated herein by reference constitute 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements with 
respect to the Corporation’s plans or future financial or operating performance, the estimation of mineral 
reserves and resources, the realization of mineral reserve estimates, conclusions of economic assessments of 
projects, the timing and amount of estimated future production, costs of future production, future capital 
expenditures, costs and timing of the development of new deposits, success of exploration activities, 
permitting time lines, requirements for additional capital, sources and timing of additional financing, 
realization of unused tax benefits and future outcome of legal and tax matters. Generally, these forward-
looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “plans”, “expects” 
or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, 
“anticipates” or “does not anticipate”, “will continue” or “believes”, or variations of such words and 
phrases or state that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or “will be 
taken”, “occur” or “be achieved”. The material factors or assumptions used to develop material forward-
looking statements are disclosed throughout this document. Forward-looking statements, while based on 
management’s best estimates and assumptions, are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 
other factors that may cause the actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements of Endeavour 
to be materially different from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements, including but 
not limited to: risks related to the successful integration of acquisitions; risks related to international 
operations; risks related to joint venture operations; risks related to general economic conditions and credit 
availability, actual results of current exploration activities, unanticipated reclamation expenses; changes in 
project parameters as plans continue to be refined; fluctuations in prices of metals including gold; 
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, increases in market prices of mining consumables, possible 
variations in ore reserves, grade or recovery rates; failure of plant, equipment or processes to operate as 
anticipated; accidents, labour disputes, title disputes, claims and limitations on insurance coverage and 
other risks of the mining industry; delays in obtaining governmental approvals or financing or in the 
completion of development or construction activities, changes in national and local government regulation of 
mining operations, tax rules and regulations, and political and economic developments in countries in which 
the Corporation operates, actual resolutions of legal and tax matters, as well as those factors discussed in 
the section entitled “Description of the Business – Risk Factors” in Endeavour’s annual information form for 
the year ended December 31, 2011, available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Although Endeavour has 
attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
contained in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as 
anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate, 
as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. 
Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The Corporation’s 
management reviews periodically information reflected in forward-looking statements. The Corporation has 
and continues to disclose in its Management’s Discussion and Analysis and other publicly filed documents, 
changes to material factors or assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements and to the validity of 
the statements themselves, in the period the changes occur. 
 
Cautionary note regarding reserves and resources  
 
Readers should refer to the annual information form of Endeavour for the year ended December 31, 2011, 
dated March 13, 2012, and other continuous disclosure documents filed by Endeavour available at 
ww.sedar.com, for further information on mineral reserves and resources, which is subject to the 
qualifications and notes set forth therein. 



Deloitte. 
Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Shareholders of Endeavour Mining Corporation 

Deloitte & Touche LLP 
2800 - 1055 Dunsmuir Street 
4 Bentall Centre 
P.O. Box 49279 
Vancouver BC V7X 1 P4 
Canada 

Tel: 604-669-4466 
Fax: 604-685-0395 
www.deloitte.ca 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated fmancial statements of Endeavour Mining Corporation, 
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 
2010, June 30, 2010 and July 1,2009, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) earnings, 
consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended 
December 31 , 2011, six months ended December 31,2010 and year ended June 30, 2010, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated fmancial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated fmancial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated fmancial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated fmancial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated fmancial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Endeavour Mining Corporation as at December 31,2011, December 31 , 2010, June 30,2010 and 
July 1,2009 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year ended December 31 , 2011, six 
months ended December 31,2010 and year ended June 30,2010 in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

Chartered Accountants 
March 13, 2012 
Vancouver, Canada 

Membre de I Member of Oeloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
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December 31,

2011 

 
December 31,

 2010
(Note 24) 

  
June 30,

 2010
(Note 24) 

 
July 1,
 2009

(Note 24) 
ASSETS
Current
  Cash and cash equivalents 115,279$      167,300$      15,063$        121,814$      
  Marketable securities 17,227          37,149          32,961          71,049          
  Trade and other receivables 15,184          7,693            7,626            3,508            
  Income taxes receivable 78                -               -               -               
  Inventories (Note 4) 40,517          19,361          20,521          -               
  Prepaid expenses and other 10,005          4,264            3,168            445              
  Assets held for sale (Note 15 (b)) -               12,188          -               -               

198,290        247,955        79,339          196,816        

Mining interests (Note 5) 688,608        156,388        167,267        298              
Reclamation deposit 157              -               1,424            -               
Intangible assets (Note 6 (a)) -               19,306          21,102          24,749          
Goodwill (Note 6 (b)) 57,538          31,378          31,378          29,314          
Investment in associates (Note 7) 11,747          -               143,822        -               
Promissory note and other assets (Note 15 (a)) 10,095          -               -               -               
Deferred income taxes (Note 16 (b)) -               -               -               94                

966,435$      455,027$      444,332$      251,271$      

LIABILITIES
Current
  Trade and other payables 39,244$        16,536$        30,876$        3,565$          
  Current portion of long-term debt (Note 8) -               -               10,300          -               
  Current portion of derivative financial liabilities (Note 9) 4,899            25,500          20,900          -               
  Income taxes payable -               708              765              167              
  Liabilities held for sale (Note 15 (b)) -               14,005          -               -               

44,143          56,749          62,841          3,732            

Long-term debt (Note 8) 100,000        -               24,052          -               
Derivative financial liabilities (Note 9) 70,166          46,286          47,891          12,858          
Finance lease obligations 238              -               -               -               
Provisions (Note 10) 9,100            2,296            4,231            -               
Deferred income taxes payable (Note 16 (b)) 74,089          6,076            2,176            -               

297,736        111,407        141,191        16,590          

EQUITY
Share capital (Note 11 (a)) 559,605        240,015        198,526        196,171        
Equity reserve 27,346          22,879          16,040          12,319          
Retained earnings 54,414          78,361          40,653          26,191          
Equity attributable to shareholders  
    of the Corporation 641,365        341,255        255,219        234,681        
Non-controlling interests (Note 12) 27,334          2,365            47,922          -               
Total equity 668,699        343,620        303,141        234,681        

966,435$      455,027$      444,332$      251,271$      

COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 22)
SUBSEQUENT EVENT (NOTE 23)

Approved by the Board: March 13, 2012

"Neil Woodyer"   Director    "Wayne McManus"    Director    
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Year ended 

December 31,

 2011
1

Six months 
Ended 

December 31,
 2010

(Note 24) 

 
Year ended

June 30,
 2010

(Note 24) 

Continuing operations
Revenues

Gold revenue 147,227$      59,399$        53,081$        

Cost of sales
Operating expenses 66,205          28,054          29,233          
Depreciation and depletion 20,379          8,087            9,637            

Earnings from mine operations 60,643          23,258          14,211          

 Corporate costs 35,089          6,302            11,221          
Exploration 3,423            2,259            3,512            
Write-down of mining properties -               310              -               

Earnings (loss) from operations 22,131          14,387          (522)             

Other (expenses) income
(Losses) gains  on financial instruments (Note 13) (1,631)          2,911            29,912          
Gain on sale of bullion 2,772            -               -               
Endeavour Capital loss and write-down of associated  

goodwill & intangibles (Note 14) (41,295)         (10,199)         (24,585)         

Share of (loss) earnings of associate, net of taxes (Note 7) (3,322)          (25)               9,295            

Gain on disposal of associate (Note 7) -               71,203          -               

Write-down of investment in associate (Note 7) (9,831)          -               -               

Gain on dilution of ownership of associate (Note 7) 22,068          -               -               
Gain from sale of diamond operations (Note 15 (b)) 3,675            -               -               
Finance costs (2,770)          (4,801)          (5,087)          

(30,334)         59,089            9,535            

(Loss) earnings before taxes (8,203)          73,476            9,013            
 Income taxes (Note 16) (618)             (2,051)          (894)             
 Deferred income taxes (Note 16) (7,610)          (3,900)          (367)             

Net (loss) earnings and total comprehensive (loss)  
    earnings from continuing operations (16,431)         67,525          7,752            
 
Discontinued operations 

Net (loss) earnings and total comprehensive (loss)
  earnings from discontinued operations (Note 15 (a)) (3,637)          6,553            2,071            

Net (loss) earnings and total comprehensive (loss) earnings (20,068)$       74,078$        9,823$           

 

1 Operating results only include 26 days of Adamus’ results since the effective date of the merger on December 5, 2011 (Note 3 (a)) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Year ended 

December 31,

 2011
1

Six months 
Ended 

December 31,
 2010

(Note 24) 

 
Year ended

June 30,
 2010

(Note 24)  
Attributable to:
Shareholders of Endeavour Mining Corporation
Net (loss) earnings and total comprehensive (loss) 
    earnings from continuing operations (20,140)         67,712          9,781            
Net (loss) earnings and total comprehensive (loss) 

    earnings from discontinued operations (3,637)          6,553            2,071            

(23,777)         74,265          11,852          

Non-controlling interests (Note 12)
Net earnings (loss) and total comprehensive 

    earnings (loss) from continuing operations 3,709            (187)             (2,029)          
Net earnings (loss) and total comprehensive 

    earnings (loss) from discontinued operations -               -               -               

3,709            (187)             (2,029)          

(20,068)         74,078          9,823            

Net earnings per share (Note 11 (d))    

From continuing and discontinued operations
  Basic earnings per share (0.20)$          0.69$           0.12$           
  Diluted earnings per share (0.20)$          0.68$           0.12$           

From continuing operations
  Basic earnings per share (0.17)$          0.63$           0.10$           
  Diluted earnings per share (0.17)$          0.62$           0.14$            

 

1 Operating results only include 26 days of Adamus’ results since the effective date of the merger on December 5, 2011 (Note 3 (a)) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Year ended 

December 31,

 2011
1

  
Six months 

Ended 
December 31,

 2010
(Note 24) 

 
Year ended

June 30,
 2010

(Note 24) 

Operating Activities
     Cash used in operating activities (Note 17) (8,548)$         4,207$          (34,577)$       

Investing Activities
Cash acquired on acquisition (Note 3 (a)) 23,397          -               -               
Expenditures on mining interests (20,125)         (8,629)          (7,684)          
Cash transferred to investment in associate (2,399)          -               -               
Purchases of marketable securities (6,595)          (4,316)          (37,220)         
Funds advanced to Adamus pre-merger (Note 3 (a)) (152,472)       -               -               
Investment in associate -               -               (134,526)       
Equity interest in subsidiary -               (41,433)         (11,556)         
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 13,391          15,626          123,851        
Proceeds from sale of associate -               215,000        -               
Proceeds from sale of diamond operations (544)             -               -               

(145,347)       176,248        (67,135)         

Financing Activities
Received from the issue of common shares 2,191            309              6,086            
Proceeds from credit facility (Note 8 (a) & (b)) 100,000        45,000          -               
Repayment of credit facility (Note 8 (b)) -               (45,000)         -               

     Repayment of long-term debt -               (29,003)         (11,021)         
     Proceeds from non-controlling interest -               341              -               

Finance lease obligation (48)               -               -               
102,143        (28,353)         (4,935)          

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (269)             135              (104)             

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (52,021)         152,237        (106,751)       
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 167,300        15,063          121,814        
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 115,279$      167,300$      15,063$        

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of:
     Cash at bank 100,042$      47,300$        15,063$        
     Short-term money-market instruments 15,237          120,000        -               

115,279$      167,300$      15,063$        

 
 

1 Operating results only include 26 days of Adamus’ results since the effective date of the merger on December 5, 2011 (Note 3 (a)) 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Number of 
Shares Par Value

Additional Paid 
in Capital

Total Share 
Capital Equity Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Total 
Attributable to 
Shareholders

Non-
Controlling  

Interests Total

At July 1, 2009 97,722,902                  962$          195,209$               196,171$               12,319$               26,191$               234,681$             -$                234,681$             

     Forfeited escrow shares (1,075)                         -             -                        -                        -                      -                       -                       -                  -                       

     Escrow shares released 1,018,290                    10              1,936                     1,946                     (1,946)                 -                       -                       -                  -                       

     Stock options exercised 142,500                       1                408                        409                        (138)                    -                       271                      -                  271                      

     Shares in escrow (Note 11 (a)) (1,357,005)                  -             -                        -                        -                      -                       -                       -                  -                       

     Share based payments -                              -             -                        -                        5,805                   -                       5,805                   -                  5,805                   

     Acqusition of Etruscan 
         Resources Inc., (Note 3 (b)) -                              -             -                        -                        -                      -                       -                       47,727            47,727                 

     Change in ownership of Namibia 
         Rare Earths Project -                              -             -                        -                        -                      2,610                   2,610                   2,224              4,834                   

     Net earnings and total comprehensive earnings -                              -             -                        -                        -                      11,852                 11,852                 (2,029)             9,823                   

At June 30, 2010 97,525,612                  973$          197,553$               198,526$               16,040$               40,653$               255,219$             47,922$          303,141$             

     Escrow shares released 338,716                       3                493                        496                        (496)                    -                       -                       -                  -                       

     Stock options exercised 146,370                       1                400                        401                        (166)                    -                       235                      -                  235                      

     Warrants exercised 69,900                         -             195                        195                        (118)                    -                       77                        -                  77                        

     Share based payments -                              -             -                        -                        2,584                   -                       2,584                   -                  2,584                   

     Change in ownership of  
        Etruscan Resources Inc. (Note 3 (b)) 15,401,909                  154            40,243                   40,397                   5,035                   (39,057)                6,375                   (47,765)           (41,390)                

     Change in ownership of Namibia 
         Rare Earths Project -                              -             -                        -                        -                      2,500                   2,500                   2,395              4,895                   

     Net earnings and total comprehensive earnings -                              -             -                        -                        -                      74,265                 74,265                 (187)                74,078                 

At December 31, 2010 113,482,507                1,131$       238,884$               240,015$               22,879$               78,361$               341,255$             2,365$            343,620$             
     Shares issued pursuant  to the acquisition
         of Adamus Resources Limited  (Note 3(a)) 129,340,958                1,293         313,347                 314,640                 -                      -                       314,640               23,735            338,375               

     Stock options exercised 1,071,026                    10              3,010                     3,020                     (319)                    -                       2,701                   -                  2,701                   

     Warrants exercised  715,458                       7                1,923                     1,930                     (1,925)                 -                       5                          -                  5                          

     Share based payments -                              -             -                        -                        6,711                   -                       6,711                   -                  6,711                   
     Change in ownership of 
         Namibia Rare Earths Inc. -                              -             -                        -                        -                      (170)                     (170)                     (2,475)             (2,645)                  
     Net (loss) earnings and total comprehensive earnings

1
-                              -             -                        -                        -                      (23,777)                (23,777)                3,709              (20,068)                

At December 31, 2011 244,609,949                2,441$       557,164$               559,605$               27,346$               54,414$               641,365$             27,334$          668,699$             

Share Capital  

 
1 Operating results only include 26 days of Adamus’ results since the effective date of the merger on December 5, 2011 (Note 3 (a)) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 

Endeavour Mining Corporation (“Endeavour” or the “Corporation”) is a growth focused West 
African gold production and exploration company.  Endeavour has a global strategy, supported 
by financial resources and management’s company building expertise, to grow into an 
intermediate gold producer through strategic acquisitions.  
 
Endeavour is a publicly listed company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The Corporation’s 
shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, under the symbol EDV and the Australian Stock 
Exchange, under the symbol EVR.  
 
The Corporation’s registered office is located at Cayman Corporate Centre, 27 Hospital Road, 
Georgetown, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands.   
 
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  The Corporation adopted IFRS in accordance with 
IFRS 1 “First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS 1”) as 
discussed in Note 24.  The policies set out below were consistently applied to all periods 
presented. 
 
(a) Comparative information 
 

In November 2010 Endeavour changed its year end from June 30 to December 31 to 
better align its financial reporting and operating results with its gold mining peers and 
filed financial statements as at and for the six month period ended December 31, 2010 
under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”). IFRS 1 
requires at least one year of comparative data to be included. In addition, in accordance 
with National Instrument 51-102 subsection 4.8(6), Endeavour’s annual financial 
statements for the year ending December 31, 2011 include comparative financial 
information for the six month period December 31, 2010 and the year ended June 30, 
2010. 

 
In accordance with National Instrument 52-107 Companion Policy subsection 2.9, 
Endeavour’s date of transition to IFRS is July 1, 2009 as Endeavour’s first set of annual 
financial statements with an unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS includes 
comparatives for both the six month period ended December 31, 2010 and the year ended 
June 30, 2010 and National Instrument 52-107 subsection 3.2(5) requires financial 
statements to be prepared in accordance with the same accounting principles for all 
periods presented in the financial statements. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(b) Basis of measurement 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, 
except for certain financial instruments and certain other financial assets which are 
carried at fair value. 

 
(c) Basis of presentation 

 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and all 
the entities controlled by the Corporation (its subsidiaries) and its investment in 
associates.   
 
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Corporation has the power, directly or indirectly, 
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from 
their activities. Control is presumed to exist when the Corporation owns more than one 
half of the voting rights (which does not always equate to percentage ownership) unless it 
can be demonstrated that ownership does not constitute control. Control does not exist 
where other parties hold veto rights over significant operating and financial decisions. In 
assessing control, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 
taken into account.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date 
whereby control ceases.  Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring their 
accounting policies in line with those of the Corporation. 

 
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified 
separately from the Corporation’s equity.  Non-controlling interests consists of the non-
controlling interest at the date of the original business combination plus the non-
controlling interest’s share in changes in equity since the date of acquisition.   
 
Investments in associates are those investments over which the Corporation exercises 
significant influence and which are neither subsidiaries nor interests in joint ventures. 
Significant influence is presumed to exist where the Corporation has between 20 percent 
and 50 percent of the voting rights, but can also arise where the Corporation holds less 
than 20 percent if it has the power to be actively involved and influential in policy 
decisions affecting the entity. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting except when classified as held for sale. 

 
The Corporation’s share of the associates’ profit or loss is based on their most recent 
audited or unaudited financial statements as at the Corporation’s reporting date.  This 
involves recording the investment initially at cost to the Corporation, which therefore 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(c) Basis of presentation (continued) 
 
includes any goodwill on acquisition representing the difference between the cost of the 
investment and the investor’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable 
assets and liabilities, and then, in subsequent periods, adjusting the carrying amount of 
the investment to reflect the Corporation’s share of the associate’s net income less any 
impairment of goodwill and any other changes to the associate’s net assets such as 
dividends.  
 
All figures are in United States dollars (“US Dollars”) unless otherwise noted.  
 
The subsidiaries and the Corporation’s ownership interests therein, are as follows: 
 

 
 

1These subsidiaries were dissolved or sold in the fourth quarter of 2011. 
2 On March 6, 2012 Endeavour terminated its joint venture with Resolute Mining Ltd., in exchange for the transfer of  
   certain permits for $20.0 million in cash (Refer to Note 23). 
 

Intragroup balances, transactions, revenue and expenses are eliminated in full.  
 
 

Entities Location
Ownership 
percentage

Basis of 
Presentation

 

Adamus Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100%  Consolidation

Adamus Resources Limited Australia 100%  Consolidation

Adamus Resources Limited Ghana 90%  Consolidation

Akanko Mining Limited Ghana 100% Consolidation

Burkina Mining Company Burkina Faso 90%  Consolidation

Castlegem Pty Ltd Australia 100%  Consolidation

Cayman Burkina Mines Ltd Cayman 100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Administration Services Ltd Canada 100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Financial Corporation Cayman  100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Financial International Corporation Cayman  100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Financial Limited
1

UK 100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Financial Ltd Canada 100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Gold Corporation Cayman  100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Gold Luxembourg, S.ar.l.
1

Luxembourg  100%  Consolidation

Endeavour International Management Services SAM Monaco  100%  Consolidation

Endeavour Resources Inc Cayman 100%  Consolidation

Etruscan Diamonds Ltd
1

Canada 47%  Consolidation

Finkolo Joint Venture
2

Mali 40%  Equity

Namibia Rare Earth Inc. Canada 38.5%  Equity

Nkroful Mining Limited Ghana 100%  Consolidation

Semafo (Ghana) Ltd Ghana 100%  Consolidation
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(d) Application of critical accounting policies and estimates (continued) 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
that the Corporation’s management make estimates and assumptions about future events 
that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and related notes 
to the financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates.   
 
Significant estimates used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
include, but are not limited to, the recoverability of trade receivables and marketable 
securities, measurement of revenue and trade receivables, the quantities of material in 
circuit and the recoverable gold in this material used in determining the estimated net 
realizable value of inventories, the proven and probable ore reserves and resources and 
the related depletion and amortization, the estimated tonnes of waste material to be mined 
and the estimated recoverable tonnes of ore from each mine area, the assumptions used in 
the accounting for share-based payments, valuation of warrants, valuation of derivative 
instruments, valuation of marketable securities, the provision for income and mining 
taxes and composition of deferred income and mining tax assets and liabilities, the 
expected economic lives of and the estimated future operating results and net cash flows 
from mining interests, the anticipated costs of decommissioning cost obligations, and the 
fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in  business combinations.  
 
Significant critical judgments estimates and assumptions include the following: 
 
Estimated recoverable reserves and resources 
 
Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally 
extracted based on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons. In order to 
estimate reserves, estimates are required about a range of geological, technical and 
economic factors, including quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, 
production costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange rates.   
 
Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and depth of ore 
bodies to be determined by analyzing geological data such as drilling samples. This 
process may require complex and difficult geological judgements to interpret the data. 
 
Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves change from period to 
period and because the operating levels intended by management change during the 
course of operations, estimates of reserves may change from period to period. Changes in 
reported reserves may affect the Corporation’s financial performance and financial 
position in a number of ways, including the following: 
 

(i) Asset carrying amounts may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash 
flow. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(d) Application of critical accounting policies and estimates (continued) 

Estimated recoverable reserves and resources (continued) 

 
(ii) Depreciation, depletion and amortization charged in the statement of 

comprehensive loss may change where such charges are determined by the units of 
production bases, or where the useful economic lives of assets change. 
 

(iii) Decommissioning, site restoration and environmental provisions may change 
where changes in estimated reserves affect expectations about the timing or cost of 
these activities. 

 
(iv) The carrying amount of deferred tax assets may change due to changes in estimates 

of the probable recovery of future tax benefits. 
 
Environmental rehabilitation costs 
 
The provisions for rehabilitation are based on the expected costs of environmental 
rehabilitation and inputs used to determine the present value of such provisions and the 
related accretion expense using the information available at the reporting date.  To the 
extent the actual costs differ from these estimates, adjustments will be recorded and the 
profit or loss may be impacted. 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
 
Fair values are determined using valuation techniques.  These techniques use assumptions 
based on market conditions existing at the date of the statement of financial position. 
 
Where the fair value of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the statement of 
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value is determined 
using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow model.  The inputs to these 
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, 
a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values.  The judgments include 
considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair value of financial instruments. 
 
Share-based payments 
 
Note 11 (c) outlines the significant assumptions made when accounting for share-based 
payments. Changes to these assumptions may alter the resulting accounting and 
ultimately the amount charged to profit or loss. 

 
(e) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash balances held with banks and 
brokers and highly liquid short-term investments with terms of less than 90 days. 



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars, except per share amounts) 

 

70 | P a g e  
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(f) Inventories  

 
Finished goods, work-in-process, and stockpiled ore are valued at the lower of average 
production cost and net realizable value. Production costs include the cost of raw 
materials, direct labour, mine-site overhead expenses and depreciation and depletion of 
mining interests. Net realizable value is calculated as the estimated price at the time of 
sale based on prevailing and long-term metal prices less estimated future production costs 
to convert the inventories into saleable form.   
 
Ore extracted from the mines is stockpiled and subsequently processed into finished 
goods. Production costs are capitalized and included in work-in- process inventory based 
on the current mining costs incurred up to the point prior to the refining process, 
including applicable overhead, depreciation and depletion relating to mining interests, 
and removed at the average production cost per recoverable ounce of gold. The average 
production costs of finished goods represent the average costs of work-in-process 
inventories incurred prior to the refining process, plus applicable refining costs and 
associated royalties. 
 
Supplies are valued at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. 

 
(g) Mining interests   

 
Mineral interests include interests in mining properties and related plant and equipment. 
  
Mining properties 
 
Mining properties are classified into three categories as follows: 
   
(i) Reserves - Reserves are classified as depletable mining properties in Note 6 when 

operating levels intended by management have been reached. Prior to this, they 
are classified as non-depletable mining properties.  

 
(ii) Resources - Resources represent the property interests that are believed to 

potentially contain economic mineralized material such as inferred material 
within pits; measured, indicated, and inferred resources with insufficient drill 
spacing to qualify as proven and probable reserves; and inferred resources in 
close proximity to proven and probable reserves.  

 
(iii) Exploration potential - Exploration potential represents the estimated mineralized 

material contained within areas adjacent to existing reserves and mineralization 
located within the immediate mine area; areas outside of immediate mine areas 
that are not part of measured, indicated, or inferred resources; and greenfields 
exploration potential that is not associated with any other production, 
development, or exploration stage property.   
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(g) Mining interests (continued) 

Recognition (continued) 
 
Resources and exploration potential are classified as non-depletable mining properties 
(Note 5). The value associated with resources and exploration potential is the value 
beyond proven and probable reserves which includes amounts assigned from costs of 
property acquisitions. At least annually or when otherwise appropriate and subsequent to 
a review and evaluation for impairment, carrying amounts of non-depletable mining 
properties are reclassified to depletable mining properties as a result of the conversion 
into reserves that have reached operating levels intended by management. 
 
Recognition 
 
Capitalized costs associated with mining properties include the following:  
 
(i) Costs of direct acquisitions of production, development and exploration stage 

properties; 
(ii) Costs attributed to mining properties acquired in connection with business 

combinations; 
(iii) Expenditures related to the development of mining properties;  
(iv) Expenditures related to economically recoverable exploration;  
(v) Borrowing costs incurred directly attributable to qualifying assets; 
(vi) Certain costs incurred during production, net of proceeds from sales prior to 

reaching operating levels intended by management; and 
(vii) Estimates of reclamation and closure costs. 
 
Capitalization ceases when an asset is capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 
 
Acquisitions: 
 
The cost of a property acquired as an individual asset purchase or as part of a business 
combination represents the property’s fair value at the date of acquisition. This cost is 
capitalized until the viability of the mining property is determined. When it is determined 
that a property is not economically viable, the amount capitalized is written off which 
includes expenditures which were capitalized to the carrying amount of the property 
subsequent to its acquisition. 

 
Development expenditures: 
 
Drilling and related costs incurred to define and delineate a mineral deposit that has not 
been classified as proven and probable reserves at a development stage or production 
stage mine are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related property in the 
period incurred, when management determines that there is sufficient evidence that the 
expenditure will result in a future economic benefit to the Corporation. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(g) Mining interests (continued) 

Recognition (continued) 
Development expenditures: (continued) 
 
Drilling and related costs incurred on sites without an existing mine and on areas outside 
the boundary of a known mineral deposit which contains proven and probable reserves 
are exploration expenditures and are expensed as incurred to the date of establishing that 
costs incurred are economically recoverable. Further exploration expenditures, 
subsequent to the establishment of economic recoverability, are capitalized and included 
in the carrying amount of the related property.  

 
Management uses the following criteria in its assessments of economic recoverability and 
probability of future economic benefit: 
 
 Geology: there is sufficient geologic and economic certainty of converting a residual 

mineral deposit into a proven and probable reserve at a development stage or 
production stage mine, based on the known geology and metallurgy. There is a 
history of conversion of resources to reserves at operating mines to support the 
likelihood of conversion. 
 

 Scoping: there is a scoping study or preliminary feasibility study that demonstrates 
the additional resources will generate a positive commercial outcome. Known 
metallurgy provides a basis for concluding there is a significant likelihood of being 
able to recoup the incremental costs of extraction and production.  

 
 Accessible facilities: the mining property can be processed economically at 

accessible mining and processing facilities where applicable. 
 

 Life of mine plans: an overall life of mine plan and economic model to support the 
mine and the economic extraction of resources/reserves exists. A long-term life of 
mine plan, and supporting geological model identifies the drilling and related 
development work required to expand or further define the existing ore body. 
 

 Authorizations: operating permits and feasible environmental programs exist or are 
obtainable.  

 
Therefore prior to capitalizing exploration drilling, development and related costs, 
management determines that the following conditions have been met: 

 It is probable that a future economic benefit will flow to the Corporation; 
 The Corporation can obtain the benefit and controls access to it; and 
 The transaction or event giving rise to the future economic benefit has already 

occurred. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(g) Mining interests (continued) 

Recognition (continued) 
 
Borrowing costs: 
 
Borrowing costs are capitalized when they are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.  Borrowing costs are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale, or when the funds used to develop the qualifying asset are from 
general borrowings.  Where the funds used to finance a qualifying asset form part of 
general borrowings, the amount capitalized is calculated using a weighted average of the 
rates applicable during the period.  Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 
deducted from borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.  All other borrowing costs are 
recognized in the profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Costs incurred during production: 
 
Capitalization of costs incurred ceases when an asset is capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. Production costs incurred and revenue earned 
subsequent to this point are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Mine development costs incurred to maintain current production are included in profit or 
loss. The distinction between mining expenditures incurred to develop new ore bodies 
and to develop mine areas in advance of current production is mainly the production 
timeframe of the mining area. For those areas being developed, which will be mined in 
future periods, the costs incurred are capitalized and depleted when the related mining 
area is mined as compared to current production areas where development costs are 
considered as costs of sales and included in operating expenses given that the short-term 
nature of these expenditures matches the economic benefit of the ore being mined. 

 
In open pit mining operations, it is necessary to incur costs to remove overburden and 
other mine waste materials in order to access the ore body (“stripping costs”). During the 
development of a mine, stripping costs are capitalized and included in the carrying 
amount of the related mining property and depleted over the productive life of the mine 
using the unit-of-production method. During the production phase of a mine, stripping 
costs incurred to provide access to sources of reserves that will be produced in future 
periods that would not have otherwise been accessible are capitalized and included in the 
carrying amount of the related mining property. Stripping costs incurred and capitalized 
during the production phase are depleted using the unit-of-production method over the 
reserves and a portion of resources that directly benefit from the specific stripping 
activity. Costs incurred for regular waste removal that do not give rise to future economic 
benefits are considered as costs of sales and included in operating expenses. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(g) Mining interests (continued) 

Measurement 
 
Mining properties are recorded at cost less accumulated depletion and impairment losses.  
 
Depletion: 
 
The carrying amounts of mining properties are depleted using the unit-of-production 
method over the estimated recoverable ounces, when operating levels intended by 
management for the mining properties have been reached. Under this method, depletable 
costs are multiplied by the number of ounces produced divided by the estimated 
recoverable ounces contained in proven and probable reserves and a portion of resources. 
 
Management reviews the estimated total recoverable ounces contained in depletable 
reserves and resources each financial year and when events and circumstances indicate 
that such a review should be made. Changes to estimated total recoverable ounces 
contained in depletable reserves and resources are accounted prospectively. 

 
Plant and equipment 
 
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method or the unit- of-
production method based on ounces produced, over the estimated useful lives of the 
related assets using the following rates:  

 
Plant Life of mine 
Computer equipment 3 years 
Fixtures and furnishings 5 years 

 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the 
same basis as owned assets, or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease. 
 
Where parts (components) of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives 
they are accounted for as separate items of plant and equipment.  Each asset or parts 
estimated useful life is determined considering its physical life limitations.  This physical 
life of each asset cannot exceed the life of the mine at which the asset is utilized.  The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis. 

 
Amounts expended on assets under construction are capitalized until the asset becomes 
available for its intended use, at which time depreciation commences on the assets over 
its useful life. Repairs and maintenance of plant and equipment are expensed as incurred. 
Costs incurred to enhance the service potential of plant and equipment are capitalized and 
depreciated over the remaining useful life of the improved asset.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(g) Mining interests (continued) 

Derecognition 
 
Upon disposal or abandonment, the carrying amounts of mining properties and plant and 
equipment and accumulated depreciation and depletion are removed from the accounts 
and any associated gains or losses are recorded in profit or loss. 

 
(h) Business combinations 

 
A business combination is defined as an acquisition of assets and liabilities that constitute 
a business. A business is an integrated set of activities and assets that is capable of being 
conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a return to the Corporation and its 
shareholders in the form of dividends, lower costs or other economic benefits. A business 
consists of inputs, including non-current assets, and processes, including operational 
processes, that when applied to those inputs, have the ability to create outputs that 
provide a return to the Corporation and its shareholders. A business also includes those 
assets and liabilities that do not necessarily have all the inputs and processes required to 
produce outputs, but can be integrated with the inputs and processes of the Corporation to 
create outputs. When acquiring a set of activities or assets in the exploration and 
development stage, which may not have outputs, the Corporation considers other factors 
to determine whether the set of activities or assets is a business. Those factors include, 
but are not limited to, whether the set of activities or assets: 
 
(i)  has commenced planned principal activities; 
(ii)  has employees, intellectual property and other inputs and processes that could be 

applied to those inputs; 
(iii)  is pursuing a plan to produce outputs; and 
(iv)  will be able to obtain access to customers that will purchase the outputs. Not all 

of the above factors need to be present for a particular integrated set of activities 
or assets in the exploration and development stage to qualify as a business. 

 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method whereby 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including contingent liabilities, are 
recorded at their acquisition-date fair values. The acquisition date is the date the 
Corporation obtains control over the acquiree, which is generally the date that 
consideration is transferred and the Corporation acquires the assets and assumes the 
liabilities of the acquiree. The Corporation considers all relevant facts and circumstances 
in determining the acquisition date. 

 
The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which 
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the 
Corporation, the liabilities, including contingent consideration, incurred and payable by 
the Corporation to former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the 
Corporation. The measurement date for equity interests issued by the Corporation is the 
acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs, other than costs to issue debt or equity 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(h) Business combinations (continued) 

 
securities, of the acquirer, including investment banking fees, legal fees, accounting fees, 
valuation fees, and other professional or consulting fees are expensed as incurred. The 
costs to issue equity securities of the Corporation as consideration for the acquisition are 
reduced from share capital as share issue costs. 

 
It generally requires time to obtain the information necessary to identify and measure the 
following as of the acquisition date: 

 
(i)  The identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling 

interest in the acquiree; 
(ii)  The consideration transferred in exchange for interest in the acquiree; 
(iii)  In a business combination achieved in stages, the equity interest in the acquiree 

previously held by the acquirer; and 
(iv)  The resulting goodwill or gain on a bargain purchase. 

  
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the 
reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Corporation reports in its financial 
statements provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
During the measurement period, the Corporation will retrospectively adjust the 
provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new information 
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if 
known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as of that date. 
During the measurement period, the Corporation will also recognize additional assets or 
liabilities if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of 
the acquisition date and, if known, would have resulted in the recognition of those assets 
and liabilities as of that date. The measurement period ends as soon as the Corporation 
receives the information it was seeking about facts and circumstances that existed as of 
the acquisition date or learns that more information is not obtainable and shall not exceed 
one year from the acquisition date. 

 
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of the Corporation’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be 
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate 
share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  The choice of 
measurement basis is made on a transaction by transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable on the basis specified 
in another IFRS. The excess of (i) total consideration transferred by the Company, 
measured at fair value, including contingent consideration, and (ii) the non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date fair value of net assets acquired, is 
recorded as goodwill. 
 
Under the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations, where the fair 
value of consideration paid exceeds the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(h) Business combinations (continued) 
 
the difference is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized; rather it is tested 
annually for impairment or at any time during the year that an indicator of impairment is 
identified. 
 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cash generating units 
(“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from synergies of the business 
combination.  The CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated represents the 
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and no 
larger than an operating segment. 

 
(i) Intangible assets 

 
Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated lives and 
tested for impairment when events or circumstances indicate the carrying amounts may 
not be recoverable. Customer relationships are amortized over 15 years.  Customer 
contracts and other intangible assets have amortization periods of up to four years. 
 
Amortization expense is included in net earnings from discontinued operations. 

 
(j) Impairment 

 
At each reporting date, the Corporation reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that the carrying value of 
the assets are not recoverable.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment. Where the asset 
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Corporation 
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. Goodwill, 
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, and intangible assets not yet available for 
use are tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of future cash flows 
have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset of CGU is estimated to be 
less than it carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
When an impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(j) Impairment (continued) 
 
had no impairment been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years.  A reversal of an 
impairment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
The Corporation performs goodwill impairment tests annually or when events and 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may no longer be recoverable. In 
performing the impairment tests, the Corporation estimates the recoverable amount of its 
CGUs that include goodwill and compares recoverable amounts to the CGU’s carrying  
amount. If a CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the Corporation 
reduces the carrying value of the CGU or group of CGUs by first reducing the carrying 
amount of the goodwill and then reducing the carrying amount of the remaining assets on 
a pro-rata basis. 
 
Impairment of goodwill cannot be reversed. 

 
(k) Leases  

 
Leases in which the Corporation assumes substantially all risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as finance leases. Assets held under finance leases are recognized at the 
lower of the fair value and the present value of minimum lease payments at inception of 
the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 

(l) Income and mining taxes 
 
The Corporation uses the liability method of accounting for income and mining taxes. 
Under the liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future 
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying 
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and for unused tax 
losses and other income tax deductions. In a business combination, the liability method 
requires the tax effects of such differences to be recognized as deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities and included in the allocation of the cost of purchase. Deferred income 
taxes are not recognized for temporary differences that arise from differences between the 
fair values and tax bases of assets acquired in a transaction other than a business 
combination. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax 
rates expected to apply if the related assets are realized or the liabilities are settled. A 
valuation allowance is recorded against a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will not be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilized. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in 
tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period in which the change is substantively 
enacted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are considered monetary assets. Deferred tax 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(l) Income and mining taxes (continued) 
 
balances denominated in other than US dollars are translated into US dollars using 
current exchange rates at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and the Corporation intends to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.  
  

(m) Financial instruments  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Corporation becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.  Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets 
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.  
 
Financial assets  
 
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: available-for-sale 
(“AFS”), loans and receivables, fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), or  held-to-
maturity investments. 
 
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition.   
 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
 
Financial assets are classified as FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading 
or is designated as FVTPL upon initial recognition and are stated at fair value, with any 
gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognized in profit or loss. The net gain or 
loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial asset and is included in the interest and dividend line item in the statement of 
comprehensive earnings. 
 
The Corporation classifies its cash and cash equivalents and investments in marketable 
securities as FVTPL. The purchase and sale of investments are recognized on the trade 
date, which is the date that the Corporation commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(m) Financial instruments (continued) 

Financial assets (continued) 
Financial assets at FVTPL (continued) 
 
Investment transactions are accounted for on the day that a buy or sell order is executed.  
Dividend income, including stock dividends, is recorded on the ex-dividend date when 
the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established. Interest income is 
recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Corporation 
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. It is recorded on the accrual basis 
by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable, which 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 
of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
 
Realized gains and losses and investment income are recorded on the accrual basis.  
Realized gains and losses on investment transactions and the unrealized appreciation or 
depreciation of investments are computed on an average cost basis. The unrealized 
appreciation or depreciation of investments represents the aggregate of the difference 
between their average cost and fair value at the reporting date.  

 
Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity dates that the Corporation has the positive 
intent and ability to hold to maturity.  Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity 
investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment.  
 
Available-for-sale financial assets (“AFS financial assets”) 
 
AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not 
classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial 
assets at FVTPL.  

 
Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial assets relating to changes in 
foreign currency rates, interest income calculated using the effective interest method and 
dividends on AFS equity investments are recognized in profit or loss. Other changes in 
the carrying amount of AFS financial assets are recognized in other comprehensive 
income.  Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including the 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(m) Financial instruments (continued) 

Financial assets (continued) 
Loans and receivables (continued) 
 
Corporation’s trade and other receivables) are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  

 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
 
Classification as debt or equity 
 
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Corporation are classified as either financial 
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements 
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 
 
Equity instruments  
 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Corporation 
are recognized as proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

 
Financial liabilities 
  
Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL when the financial liability is either held or 
trading or is designated FVTPL upon initial recognition and are stated at fair value, with 
any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognized in profit or loss.  
 
Other financial liabilities (including long-term debt and trade and other payables) are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  The 
Corporation has designated its long-term debt as other liabilities. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees  
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition. 

 
Impairment of financial assets   
 
Financial assets other than those at FVTPL are assessed for indicators of impairment at 
the end of each reporting period.  Financial assets are considered to be impaired when 
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(m) Financial instruments (continued) 

Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
 
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment 
have been affected.  For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value of the security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of 
impairment. 

 
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss 
recognized is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate. 

  
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for 
all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account.  When a trade receivable is considered 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account.  Changes in 
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of 
the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized 
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized. 

 
  Derivative financial instruments 

 
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are 
entered into and are subsequently re-measured to their fair value at the end of each 
reporting period.  The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss immediately 
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event 
the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge 
relationship.  

 
Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 9. 
 
Embedded derivatives 
 
Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives 
when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts, a 
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would also meet the 
definition of a derivative. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(n) Share-based payment arrangements  
 
Share-based payment transactions of the Corporation 
 
Equity – settled share-based payments to employees and other providing similar services 
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. 

 
Share-based payment transactions in an equity transaction  
 
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with parties other than employees are 
measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where fair value 
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the 
equity instruments granted, measured at the date the Corporation obtains the goods or the 
counterparty renders the service. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of 
equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in Note 11(c). 
 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is 
expensed on a graded basis over the vesting period, based on the Corporation's estimate 
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity.  
At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation revises its estimate of the number of 
equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, 
if any, is recognized in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity reserve. 
 
When the share-based payment awards held by the employees of an acquiree are replaced 
by the Corporation's share-based payment awards, both the acquiree awards and the 
replacement awards are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment 
("market-based measure") at the transaction date.  The portion of the replacement awards 
that is included in measuring the consideration transferred in a business combination 
equals the market-based measure of the acquiree awards multiplied by the ratio of the 
portion of the vesting period completed to the greater of the total vesting period or the 
original vesting period of the acquiree award. The excess of the market-based measure of 
the replacement awards over the market-based measure of the acquiree awards included 
in measuring the consideration transferred is recognized as remuneration cost for post-
transaction service.  

 
(o) Foreign currency translation 

 
The presentation and functional currency of the Corporation is the US dollar.  The 
individual financial statements of each subsidiary are presented in the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). In 
preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies 
other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the spot 
exchange rate on the transaction date. Monetary items are translated at the closing rate at 
the end of each reporting period. 
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 2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(o) Foreign currency translation (continued) 

 
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in a foreign currency are 
translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.  Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using exchange rates at the date of the transaction. 
 
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities 
of entities whose functional currency is not the US dollar are translated using exchange 
rates prevailing at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at the 
average exchange rates for the period. 

 
(p)  Earnings per share  

 
Earnings per share calculations are based on the weighted average number of common 
shares issued and outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share are calculated 
using the treasury stock method, whereby the  proceeds from the potential exercise of 
dilutive stock options and share purchase warrants with exercise prices that are below the 
average market price of the underlying shares are assumed to be used in purchasing the 
Corporation’s commons shares at their average market price for the period.  In addition, 
the effect of the Corporation’s dilutive share purchase warrants includes adjusting the 
numerator for mark-to-market gains and losses recognized in profit or loss during the 
period for changes in the fair value of the dilutive share purchase warrants.    
 

(q) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue from the sale of gold is recognized when the Corporation has transferred to the 
buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership.  The Corporation retains neither 
continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership or 
effective control over the goods sold; the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; it 
is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
entity; and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured 
reliably. Revenue is net of royalties. Royalties are not considered to be an income tax. 

 
(r) Financial and treasury services, renamed Endeavour Capital 

 
Endeavour Capital provides management and administrative services for a number of 
public companies. The fees earned from external clients consist of monthly retainer fees 
and transaction success fees.  The monthly retainer fees are recognized as services are 
rendered and collectability is reasonably assured.  Transaction success fees are recorded 
when all the services have been rendered, the related transaction has closed and 
collectability is reasonably assured.  The overhead costs attributable to the financial and 
treasury services team, including all performance related bonuses paid have been netted 
against the fees earned. 
 



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars, except per share amounts) 

 

85 | P a g e  
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(s) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation arises as a result 
of past events where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of 
the obligation can be made.  
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be 
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  A 
provision is recognized even if likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item 
included in the same class of obligations may be small.  Provisions are measured at the 
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and risks 
specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to passage of time is 
recognized as interest expense and included in finance costs in the statement of 
comprehensive earnings. 
 
Decommissioning and restoration provisions 
 
The Corporation’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various governmental 
laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. These environmental 
regulations are continually changing. The Corporation has made, and intends to make in 
the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations or constructive 
obligations. The Corporation records a liability for the estimated future rehabilitation 
costs and decommissioning of its operating and inactive mines and development projects 
at the time the environmental disturbance occurs, discounted to net present value. The net 
present value is determined using the risk rate specific to the liability. The estimated net 
present value of rehabilitation and decommissioning cost is re-measured at the end of 
each reporting period or when changes in circumstances occur and/or new material 
information becomes available. Increases or decreases to the provision arise due to 
changes in legal or regulatory requirements, the extent of environmental remediation 
required and cost estimates. The net present value of the estimated costs of these changes 
is recorded in the period which the change is identified and quantifiable. Rehabilitation 
and decommissioning cost relating to operating mines and development projects are 
recorded with a corresponding increase to the carrying amounts of related assets. 
Rehabilitation and decommissioning cost related to inactive mines are recorded directly 
in earnings as rehabilitation expense included in depreciation and depletion.   

 
(t) Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective 
 

The Corporation has not early adopted the following new and revised Standards, 
Amendments and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(t) Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
In October 2010, the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued 
amendments to IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures that enhance the disclosure 
requirements in relation to transferred financial assets. The amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011, with earlier application permitted. The 
Corporation does not anticipate this amendment to have a significant impact on its 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
The following standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2013, with earlier adoption permitted. The Corporation is currently assessing the impact 
they will have on the consolidated financial statements. 
 

 IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements: IFRS 10 establishes principles for 
the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an 
entity controls one or more other entities. IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27, 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and SIC-12, Consolidation – 
Special Purpose Entities. 

 
 IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements: IFRS 11 establishes principles for financial 

reporting by parties to a joint arrangement. IFRS 11 supersedes current IAS 31, 
Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities-Non – 
Monetary Contributions by Venturers.   

 
 IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: IFRS 12 applies to entities that 

have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint arrangement, an associate or an 
unconsolidated structured entity. 

 
 IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurements: IFRS 13 defines fair value, sets out in a 

single IFRS framework for measuring value and requires disclosures about fair 
value measurements. The IFRS 13 applies to IFRSs that require or permit fair 
value measurements or disclosures about fair value measurements (and 
measurements, such as fair value less costs to sell, based on fair value or 
disclosures about those measurements), except in specified circumstances.   

 
 IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements: IAS 27 has been updated to require an 

entity presenting separate financial statements to account for those investments at 
cost or in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The new IAS 
27 excludes the guidance on the preparation and presentation of consolidated 
financial statements for a group of entities under the control of a parent, which is 
within the scope of the current IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, and is replaced by IFRS 10.  

 
 IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: IAS 28 has been updated 

and it is to be applied by all entities that are investors with joint control of, or 



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars, except per share amounts) 

 

87 | P a g e  
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(t) Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
significant influence over, an investee.  The scope of the current IAS 28 
Investments in Associates does not include joint ventures.  Early application is 
permitted.   

 
 IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Mine:  In October 2011, 

the IASB issued IFRIC 20 which clarifies the requirements for accounting for the 
costs of stripping activity in the production phase when two benefits accrue: (i) 
usable ore that can be used to produce inventory and (ii) improved access to 
further quantities of material that will be mined in future periods. The 
interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2013, with earlier application permitted. 

 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: IFRS 9 introduces the new requirements for the 
classification, measurement and de-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. 
Specifically, IFRS 9 requires all recognized financial assets that are within the scope of 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to be subsequently 
measured at amortized cost or fair value, and all financial liabilities classified as 
subsequently measured at amortized cost except for financial liabilities as at FVTPL. The 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015, with 
earlier application permitted. 
 
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements: In June 2011, the IAS issued amendments to 
IAS 1 that requires an entity to group items presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income on the basis of whether they may be reclassified to earnings subsequent to initial 
recognition. For those items presented before taxes, the amendments to IAS 1 also 
require that the taxes related to the two separate groups be presented separately.  The 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012, with 
earlier adoptions permitted.  The Corporation does not anticipate the application of the 
amendments to IAS 1 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
IAS 32, Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32):  
On December 16, 2011 the IASB published amendments to IAS 32, Financial 
Instruments: Presentation to clarify the application of the offsetting requirements.  The 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014, with 
earlier application permitted. 
 
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IFRS 
7): On December 16, 2011 the IASB published new disclosure requirements jointly with 
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) that enables users of financial 
statements to better compare financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and 
US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  The new requirements are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
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3. MERGER AND ACQUISITION OF MINING INTERESTS   
 

a) Merger with Adamus Resources Limited (“Adamus”) 
 

Adamus Merger 
 
Adamus was a single mine West African gold producer with its primary focus on 
expanding the economic potential of the Nzema Gold Mine in Ghana, West Africa. First 
gold production was achieved in January 2011 and commercial production was declared 
on April 1, 2011. The Nzema mine encompasses approximately 665km² of tenure in the 
Ashanti Gold Belt in Ghana. Adamus also holds three Mineral Reconnaissance Licenses 
in the Republic of Liberia, covering an area of 3,107km² making Adamus one of the 
largest exploration property holders in Liberia. 
 
On December 5, 2011, Endeavour and Adamus combined in an all-stock merger of 
equals whereby the Corporation acquired 100% of Adamus’ common shares through a 
Scheme of Arrangement. Endeavour has accounted for the merger as a business 
combination under IFRS 3 using the acquisition method.  
 
The consideration and final allocation of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, including the allocation of property, plant and equipment to depletable and non-
depletable properties as follows: 
 
Purchase price:
    Fair value 129,340,958 shares issued as consideration 314,640$          

314,640$          

Net assets acquired:
    Net working capital acquired, (including cash of  $23.4 million) 37,335$           
    Mining interests 533,048           

Goodwill 55,474             
    Reclamation deposits 157                  

Fair value of gold contracts (67,155)            
Due to Endeavour Mining Corporation (152,472)          
Lease liabilities (893)                 
Provisions for reclamation (6,716)              
Deferred income and mining taxes (60,403)            
Non-controlling interest (23,735)            

314,640$           
 
An income approach (being the net present value of expected future cash flows) was used 
to determine the fair values of mining interests.  Estimates of expected future cash flows 
are based on estimates of projected future revenues, expected conversions of resources to 
reserves, expected future productions costs and capital expenditures based on a finalize 
life of mine plan. The excess of acquisition cost over the net identifiable assets acquired 
represents goodwill. 
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3. MERGER AND ACQUISITION OF MINING INTERESTS (continued) 
 

a) Merger with Adamus Resources Limited (continued) 
 
Due to Endeavour Mining Corporation of $152.5 million relates to funds advanced on 
December 2 (one day before the effective date of the merger), after the final court 
approval of the scheme of arrangement, in order for Adamus to repay the $57.0 million 
Nzema project facility and settle 139,000 ounces of the Nzema gold hedge (Refer to Note 
8 (a) & Note 9 (a)). 
 
The funds provided was a separate transaction and not part of the business combination.  
This payable to the Corporation is eliminated on consolidation. 
 
Goodwill arose on this acquisition principally because of the requirement to record a 
deferred tax liability for the difference between the assigned values and the tax bases of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at amounts that do not reflect fair value.  The 
goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes. 

 
Scheme of Arrangement 
 
The Scheme of Arrangement involved the following: 
 
(i) Each Adamus shareholder received 0.285 ordinary shares of Endeavour in the 

form of Endeavour Chess Depository Interests (“CDI”) for each Adamus 
common share they held on the Adamus Record Date, which was November 26, 
2011. 
 
As at December 5, 2011, Adamus had 453,829,191 common shares outstanding. 

 
(ii) Each Adamus option holder entered into an option deed (each an Options 

Cancellation Deed) with Endeavour and Adamus. Pursuant to the Option 
Cancellation Deeds, each Adamus Option holder agreed to exercise their Adamus 
Options prior to the date that was five business days before the Adamus Record 
Date. 

 
(iii) All Adamus Performance Share Rights automatically vested upon approval by 

the court of a merger by way of scheme of arrangement. Once the court’s 
approval was obtained, Adamus notified each holder in writing that their 
Performance Rights had vested and may be exercised within a period of time 
specified in the notice. Any Adamus Performance Share Rights that were not 
exercised within that period lapsed. Each of the Adamus Performance Share 
Rights was exercised to acquire one Adamus Share for nil consideration. 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2011 the Corporation incurred $17.6 million in one-off merger-
related costs and fees, including restructuring costs, fees to arrange the revolving corporate credit 
facility and for novation of the remaining Nzema hedge book to UniCredit Bank AG
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3. MERGER AND ACQUISITION OF MINING INTERESTS (continued) 
 
a) Merger with Adamus Resources Limited (continued) 

 
(“UniCredit”) from Macquarie Bank Limited (“Macquarie”), which are included in corporate 
costs. 
 
The primary reasons for the business combination include; (i) creates a growth focused West 
African gold producer, with an enhanced suite of production, development and exploration assets 
in Burkina Faso, Côte d’Ivoire, Ghana, Liberia and Mali (ii) combines experienced management 
teams and board of directors and (iii) results in strong cash generation from two operating gold 
mines and de-risks the standalone companies. 

Impact of merger on the results of the Corporation 

Included in the net loss and total comprehensive loss from continuing operations for the year is 
$10.5 million of earnings, of which $11.8 million of the earnings pertain to Nzema (refer to Note 
19), attributable to the additional business generated by Adamus for the period December 6 to 
December 31, 2011.   

Impact of merger on the results of the Corporation 

Had this merger been effected at January 1, 2011, the revenue of the Corporation from continuing 
operations would have been approximately $255.3 million and the net earnings and total 
comprehensive earnings from continuing operations for the year would have been approximately 
$10.7 million (note that Nzema only started commercial production on April 1, 2011). The 
directors consider these ’pro-forma’ numbers to represent an approximate measure of the 
performance of the combined group on an annualized basis and to provide a reference point for 
comparison in future periods. 

b) Acquisition of Etruscan Resources Inc. (“Etruscan”) 
 
(i) Etruscan acquisition 
 

Etruscan was a single mine West African gold producer with its primary focus on 
expanding the economic potential of the Youga Gold Mine in Burkina Faso, West Africa. 
First gold production was achieved in mid-2008. The Youga mine encompasses 
approximately 29km². Etruscan also held six exploration permits covering approximately 
400km2 along the Youga Gold Belt. Etruscan also holds interests in several development 
and exploration-stage projects in West Africa. Etruscan’s most advanced development 
project is the feasibility-stage Agbaou Gold Project in Côte d’Ivoire, in which it holds an 
85% interest. In addition, Etruscan has a 40% interest in the permitting-stage Finkolo 
Gold Project in Mali.  
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3. MERGER AND ACQUISITION OF MINING INTERESTS (continued) 
 

b) Acquisition of Etruscan Resources Inc. (“Etruscan”) (continued) 
 
(i) Etruscan acquisition (continued) 

 
The primary reason for the business combination was it provided the opportunity for the 
first strategic acquisition to transform Endeavour into a gold production and exploration 
company.              
             
On October 23, 2009 the Corporation acquired 55% of Etruscan’s common shares 
through open market purchases and a private placement. Endeavour has accounted for the 
acquisition of Etruscan as a business combination under IFRS 3 using the acquisition 
method. 
 
The consideration and final allocation of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, including the allocation of property, plant and equipment to depletable and non-
depletable properties as follows: 
 
Purchase price:
    Cash consideration 58,265$           

58,265$           

Net assets acquired:
    Net working capital acquired (including cash of $46.7 million) 49,461$           
    Mining interests 170,266           
    Reclamation deposits 1,443               

Goodwill 2,064               
Fair value of gold contracts (53,450)            
Fair value of warrants (9,587)              
Long-term debt (48,225)            
Provisions for reclamation (4,077)              
Deferred income and mining taxes (1,903)              
Non-controlling interest (47,727)            

58,265$            
 

An income approach (being the net present value of expected future cash flows) was used 
to determine the fair values of mining interests.  Estimates of expected future cash flows 
are based on estimates of projected future revenues, expected conversions of resources to 
reserves, expected future productions costs and capital expenditures based on a finalize 
life of mine plan. The excess of acquisition cost over the net identifiable assets acquired 
represents goodwill. 
 
Goodwill arose on this acquisition principally because of the requirement to record a 
deferred tax liability for the difference between the assigned values and the tax bases of
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3. MERGER AND ACQUISITION OF MINING INTERESTS (continued) 
 

b) Acquisition of Etruscan Resources Inc. (“Etruscan”) (continued) 
 
(ii) Etruscan acquisition (continued) 

 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at amounts that do not reflect fair value.  The 
goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes. 

 
(iii) Plan of Arrangement 
 

On September 10, 2010, the Corporation acquired the remaining 45% of Etruscan 
common shares it did not already own, pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the 
“Arrangement”). As this change in ownership did not result in a change in control, it was 
accounted for as an equity transaction eliminating the non-controlling interest balances, 
accounting for the additional consideration with the difference being charged to retained 
earnings. 
 
The Arrangement involved the following: 

 
 each Etruscan shareholder received 0.0932 of an Endeavour share plus C$0.26 in 

cash for each Etruscan share; 
 

 each Etruscan warrant was replaced with a new warrant entitling the holder to 
receive 0.0932 of an Endeavour share plus C$0.26 in cash on exercise of such 
warrant, at the same aggregate exercise price of the original Etruscan warrant. 
The term to expiry, conditions to and manner of exercising, vesting schedule and 
all other terms and conditions of the new warrant remained unchanged from the 
existing Etruscan warrant; and 
 

 each outstanding Etruscan option was replaced with a new option entitling the 
holder to receive 0.0932 of an Endeavour common share for each Etruscan 
common share previously issuable under the terminated Etruscan option plan, at 
an exercise price per 0.0932 of an Endeavour common share equal to the exercise 
price per Etruscan common share of such Etruscan option less C$0.26. The term 
to expiry, conditions to and manner of exercising, vesting schedule and all other 
terms and conditions of the new option remained unchanged from the existing 
Etruscan option. 

 
Upon closing of the Arrangement, Endeavour paid $41.4 million in cash and issued 
15,401,909 common shares to former Etruscan shareholders.  The common shares were 
valued using the closing price on the Toronto Stock Exchange on September 10, 2010 
$2.62 (C$2.72).  
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3. MERGER AND ACQUISITION OF MINING INTERESTS (continued) 
 

b) Acquisition of Etruscan Resources Inc. (“Etruscan”) (continued) 
 

(ii) Plan of Arrangement 
 
The options and warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
using the following assumptions:  
  

 
 
 
4. INVENTORIES 

 

December 31, 
2011

December 31,
2010

June 30,
 2010

July 1,
2009

 
Dore bars 803$                2,539$         6,550$         -$      
Gold in circuit 8,276               1,483          480              -        
Ore stockpiles 10,482             1,488          1,600           -        
Spare parts and supplies 20,956             13,767         11,663         -        
Other -                  84               228              -        

40,517$           19,361$       20,521$       -$       
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk-free interest rate 1.6%
Expected life 2.3 years
Annualized volatility 66.4%
Dividend rate 0.0%
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5. MINING INTERESTS   

 

Depletable Non depletable
Plant and 
equipment

Corporate 
assets Total

Cost

Balance as at July 1, 2009 -$                   -$                -$              629$            629$              
Acquisition of Etruscan 
   Resources Inc. (Note 3 (b)) 79,589                24,690             65,528           459              170,266          

Expenditures/additions 1,864                  2,906               2,082            832              7,684              

Disposals (3,521)                (1,531)             -               -              (5,052)            

Balance as at June 30, 2010 77,932                26,065             67,610           1,920           173,527          

Expenditures/additions 5,598                  330                 1,336            1,365           8,629              

Assets held for sale (Note 15 (b)) -                     (8,791)             (1,338)           -              (10,129)           

Disposals (2,595)                (452)                (1,105)           (1,253)          (5,405)            

Balance as at December 31, 2010 80,935                17,152             66,503           2,032           166,622          
Acquisition of Adamus Resources
   Limited  (Note 3 (a)) 286,950              167,416           78,224           458              533,048          

Expenditures/additions 2,225                  13,974             3,521            405              20,125            

Disposals (1,755)                (548)                (679)              (1,189)          (4,171)            

Balance as at December 31, 2011 368,355$            197,994$         147,569$       1,706$          715,624$        

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses

Balance as at July 1, 2009 -$                   -$                -$              331$            331$              

Depreciation/depletion 3,789                  -                  4,676            1,171           9,637              

Disposals (931)                   -                  (2,656)           (120)             (3,707)            

Balance as at June 30, 2010 2,858                  -                  2,020            1,382           6,260              

Depreciation/depletion 2,050                  -                  4,633            1,404           8,087              

Assets held for sale (Note 15 (b)) -                     -                  (162)              -              (162)               

Disposals (1,090)                -                  (1,542)           (1,319)          (3,951)            

Balance as at December 31, 2010 3,818                  -                  4,949            1,467           10,234            

Depreciation/depletion 10,324                -                  9,844            211              20,379            

Disposals (465)                   -                  (2,139)           (993)             (3,597)            

Balance as at December 31, 2011 13,677$              -$                12,654$         685$            27,016$          

Carrying amounts

At July 1, 2009 -$                   -$                -$              298$            298$              

At June 30, 2010 75,074                26,065             65,590           538              167,267          

At December 31, 2010 77,117                17,152             61,554           565              156,388          

At December 31, 2011 354,678$            197,994$         134,915$       1,021$          688,608$        

Mining Properties
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5. MINING INTERESTS (continued) 
 
A summary by property of the carrying value is as follows:   

Youga Mine Nzema Mine
Agbaou 
Project

Finkolo 
Project

 (Note 23)
Diamond 
property

Rare
 Earth Corporate Total

Cost

Balance as at July 1, 2009 -$                       -$                       -$                  -$              -$             -$           629$             629$               
Acquisition of Etruscan 
   Resources Inc. (Note 3 (b)) 145,117                  -                         12,180              3,298            9,212           -             459               170,266          

Expenditures 1,416                      -                         -                    127 917              4,392         832               7,684              

Disposals (3,708)                    -                         (1,344)               -                -               -             -               (5,052)             

Balance as at June 30, 2010 142,825                  -                         10,836              3,425            10,129         4,392         1,920            173,527          

Expenditures 5,066                      -                         551                   14                 -               1,633         1,365            8,629              

Assets held for sale (Note 15 (b)) -                         -                         -                    -                (10,129)        -             -               (10,129)           

Disposals (4,152)                    -                         -                    -                -               -             (1,253)          (5,405)             

Balance as at December 31, 2010 143,739                  -                         11,387              3,439            -               6,025         2,032            166,622          

Acquisition of Adamus Resources 
Limited  (Note 3 (a)) -                         532,590                  -                    -                -               -             458               533,048          

Expenditures 14,964                    4,933                      5,572                148               -               (5,897)        405               20,125            

Disposals (2,377)                    (477)                       -                    -                -               (128)           (1,189)          (4,171)             

Balance as at December 31, 2011 156,326$                537,046$                16,959$            3,587$          -$             -$           1,706$          715,624$        

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses

Balance as at July 1, 2009 -$                       -$                       -$                  -$              -$             -$           331$             331$               

Depreciation/depletion 8,304                      -                         -                    -                162              -             1171 9,637              

Disposals (3,588)                    -                         -                    -                -               -             (120)             (3,708)             

Balance as at June 30, 2010 4,716                      -                         -                    -                162              -             1,382            6,260              

Depreciation/depletion 6,683                      -                         -                    -                -               -             1,404            8,087              

Assets held for sale (Note 15 (b)) -                         -                         -                    -                (162)             -             -               (162)                

Disposals (2,632)                    -                         -                    -                -               -             (1,319)          (3,951)             

Balance as at December 31, 2010 8,767                      -                         -                    -                -               -             1,467            10,234            

Depreciation/depletion 17,191                    2,977                      -                    -                -               -             211               20,379            

Disposals (2,604)                    -                         -                    -                -               -             (993)             (3,597)             

Balance as at December 31, 2011 23,354$                  2,977$                    -$                  -$              -$             -$           685$             27,016$          

Carrying amounts

At July 1, 2009 -$                       -$                       -$                  -$              -$             -$           298$             298$               

At June 30, 2010 138,109                  -                         10,836              3,425            9,967           4,392         538               167,267          

At December 31, 2010 134,972                  -                         11,387              3,439            -               6,025         565               156,388          

At December 31, 2011 132,972$                534,069$                16,959$            3,587$          -$             -$           1,021$          688,608$        
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 
  

In connection with the acquisition of Endeavour Financial Corporation (“EFC”), formerly 
Endeavour Financial Advisory Services Ltd., on July 30, 2007, intangible assets and goodwill 
were acquired that are comprised of the following; 
 
(a) Intangible assets 

 
The intangible assets that were acquired are comprised of the following: 
 

Customer 
relationships

Customer 
contracts

Other 
intangible 

assets Total

Cost
Balance as at July 1, 2009, 
June 30, 2010, December 31, 2010 25,000$         8,141$      3,000$      36,141$    
Derecognized on 
   disposal of business (Note 15 (a)) (7,750)            (2,524)       (930)         (11,204)     
Impairment losses recognized in
  profit or loss (Note 14)  (17,250)          (5,617)       (2,070)       (24,937)$   
Balance as at December 2011 -$              -$         -$         -$         

Accumulated amortization
Balance as at July 1, 2009 3,194$           6,281$      1,917$      11,392$    
Amortization 1,667             980           1,000        3,647        
Balance as at June 30, 2010 4,861             7,261        2,917        15,039      
Amortization 833                880           83            1,796        
Balance as at December 31, 2010 5,694             8,141        3,000        16,835      
Amortization 1,250             -           -           1,250        
Derecognized on 
   disposal of business (Note 15 (a)) (2,153)            (2,524)       (930)         (5,606)       
Impairment losses recognized in
  profit or loss (Note 14)  (4,791)            (5,617)       (2,070)       (12,479)     
Balance as at December 2011 -$              -$         -$         -$         

Carrying amounts
As at July 1, 2009 21,806$         1,860$      1,083$      24,749$    
As at June 30, 2010 20,139           880           83            21,102      
As at December 31, 2010 19,306           -           -           19,306      
As at December 31, 2011 -$              -$         -$         -$          
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 6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued) 
 
(b) Goodwill 

December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

June 30,
 2010

July 1, 
2009

Advisory Business 29,314$       29,314$       29,314$       29,314$       
Accumulated impairment
  losses (Note 14) (20,227)        -              -              -              
Derecognized on 
   disposal of business (Note 15 (a)) (9,087)          
Advisory Business -              29,314         29,314         29,314         
Gold Business - Adamus
  Acquisition (Note 3 (a)) 55,474         -              -              -              
Gold Business - Etruscan
  Acquisition (Note 3 (b)) 2,064           2,064           2,064           -              

 57,538$       31,378$       31,378$       29,314$       
 
The goodwill attributable to the advisory business arose from the acquisition of EFC on July 30, 
2007. 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010

Balance, beginning of period  31,378         31,378         29,314         
Gold Business - Adamus
  Acquisition (Note 3 (a)) 55,474         -              -              
Gold Business - Etruscan
  Acquisition (Note 3 (b)) -              -              2,064           
Impairment losses recognized in
  profit or loss (Note 14) (20,227)        -              -              
Derecognized on 
   disposal of business (Note 15 (a))  (9,087)          -              -              
Balance, end of period  57,538$       31,378$       31,378$       
   
On November 9, 2011, the Corporation signed an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Debt Sale”) to 
sell its debt advisory business effective December 31, 2011 to a newly incorporated Cayman 
Islands entity owned by a UK Partnership (the “Partnership”), of which one of the former 
managing directors of Endeavour’s debt business is a Partner. The announcement of the Debt 
Sale required the goodwill and intangible assets attributable to the debt advisory business to be 
fair valued and subsequently derecognized on the disposal of the business. The fair value 
assessment resulted in the de-recognition of intangible assets of $5.6 million and goodwill of $9.1 
million that were attributed to the debt advisory business (Note 15 (a)). 
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued) 
 
(b) Goodwill (continued) 
 
In addition to the Debt Sale, the Corporation’s annual impairment assessment of the intangibles 
and goodwill attributable to the corporate advisory business, Endeavour Capital, resulted in an 
impairment loss recognized in the statement of comprehensive earnings in the amount of $12.5 
million and $20.2 million, respectively. 
 
The Corporation reviewed the carrying amounts of its intangible assets and goodwill attributable 
to the corporate advisory business and determined that the carrying value of the assets were not 
recoverable as Endeavour is now a more focused mining company and will not allocate 
significant resources to its legacy financial services activities.  The residual financial services 
activities have been renamed Endeavour Capital and will continue to provide Fiore Financial 
Corporation (“Fiore”) with advisory services to companies launched by Fiore.  This relationship 
may assist Endeavour in finding and assessing gold strategy opportunities.  In assessing the 
carrying values in use, the estimated future cash flows were discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflected current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of future cash flows had not been adjusted. 
It was determined that the recoverable amount of the intangible assets and goodwill of the 
corporate advisory business was estimated to be less than their carrying amounts. As a result an 
impairment loss on the intangible assets and goodwill was recorded immediately in earnings.   
 
 

7. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 
 

Details of the Corporation’s investment in associates are as follows; 
 

Name of associate
Principal 
activity

Country of 
incorporation

December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Namibia Rare Earth Inc. Mining Canada 38.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Crew Gold Corporation Mining Canada 0.0% 0.0% 43.2% 0.0%

Proportion of ownership interest and voting power held
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7. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 
 

As at December 31, 2011 the fair value of Namibia Rare Earth Inc., (“NREI”) based on the 
publicly quoted share price was $11.7 million.  Endeavour has written down the value to $11.7 
million as the shares have been trading in a range well below fair value since late October 2011. 
Prior to April 14, 2011, NREI was not a publicly traded company. 

 
 Share of profit (loss) of associates, net of taxes is as follows: 
 

Namibia Rare 
Earths Inc.

Crew Gold 
Corporation Total

July 1, 2009 -$                 -$               -$              
Purchase of associate -                   134,527         134,527        
Share of earnings of associate, net of taxes -                   9,295              9,295             
June 30, 2010 -                            143,822 143,822       
Share of loss of associate, net of taxes -                                    (25) (25)                
Disposal of associate -                          (143,797) (143,797)      
December 31, 2010 -                   -                  -                 
Fair value on change of ownership (Note 12) 24,900             -                  24,900          
Share of loss of associate, net of taxes (3,322)              -                  (3,322)           
Write-down of investment (9,831)              -                  (9,831)           
December 31, 2011 11,747$           -$               11,747$         
 
The following table summarizes the total assets and liabilities of NREI; 
 

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

June 30,
2010

    
Total assets 25,143$          -$             -$              
Total liabilities 910                 -               -                
Net assets 24,233$          -$             -$              

Corporation's share of net assets of 
  Namibia Rare Earth Inc. 9,330$            -$             -$               
 
NREI has a November 30 year end and financial information was not available to the Corporation 
for the period subsequent to November 30, 2011. 
 
As part of the purchase of Etruscan during the year ended June 30, 2010, the Corporation 
acquired rare earth properties in Namibia.  On April 14, 2011, NREI completed its initial public 
offering which raised gross proceeds of C$25.0 million and subsequently on April 27, 2011 
closed a C$3.8 million over-allotment option, reducing Endeavour’s ownership from 71.6% to 
38.5%. The change in ownership percentage has resulted in the interest in NREI being accounted 
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7. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 
 
for as an investment in associate. The reduction in ownership has resulted in the Corporation 
losing control and triggering a recognition of a gain on the entire interest in NREI. A gain in the 
amount of $22.1 million has been recognized in the statement of comprehensive earnings 
resulting from the portion that has been entirely disposed of and from re-measurement of the 
interest retained from its carrying value to fair value.   

 
Fair value of residual interest 30,000,000 shares @ C$0.80 per share 24,900$           

Summary of assets and liabilities derecognized:
  Cash and short-term deposits 2,399               
  Non-cash working capital (237)                 
  Mining interests 3,145               
  Non-controlling interest (2,475)              
Net assets derecognized 2,832               

Gain on dilution of ownership of associate 22,068$            
 
The Corporation disposed of its investment in Crew Gold Corporation for proceeds of $215.0 
million in September 2010, resulting in a $71.2 million gain. 
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8. LONG-TERM DEBT  
December 31, 

2011
December 31, 

2010
June 30, 

2010
July 1, 

2009

UniCredit - Corporate Facility (a) 100,000$       -$             -$       -$      

RMB Australia Holdings Limited 
   and Macquarie Bank Limited -
   Youga debt facility (c) -                 -                29,000    -         

Deferred financing costs (1,626)     
100,000$        -$              27,374$  -$       

Diamond operations debt (Note 15 (b)) -               -              6,978      -       

Total debt 100,000          -                34,352    -         
Less: current portion -               -              (10,300)   -       

100,000$        -$              24,052$  -$         
 
(a) On November 28, 2011 the Corporation and UniCredit entered into a $200 million four 

year revolving corporate loan facility (the “Corporate Facility”) and novation agreement 
for metal price risk management contracts in respect of 116,161 ounces of gold for the 
period 2012 to 2016 (the “Hedging Contracts”).  The Corporate Facility is for general 
corporate purposes, including working capital, capital expenditure and any acquisition of 
an asset or assets that are engaged in the exploitation of precious metals ores.  The 
Corporate Facility matures four years from the closing date with a mandatory reduction 
in availability of $75.0 million on December 31, 2014 and is subject to an interest rate of 
LIBOR plus a variable margin of between 2.5% and 4.25%. This Corporate Facility 
replaced the $100.0 million Acquisition Facility with UniCredit referred to in Note 8 (b). 
The Corporate Facility is secured by shares of Endeavour’s material gold mining 
subsidiaries and the material assets of those subsidiaries.   
 
On December 5, 2011 Endeavour drew down $100.0 million of the Corporate Facility to 
fully repay the $57.0 million Nzema Gold Mine project loan and for general working 
capital purposes.   
  

(b) On June 25, 2010 the Corporation entered into a $100 million revolving credit acquisition 
debt facility agreement (the “Acquisition Facility with UniCredit”) with UniCredit for the 
purposes of acquiring shares of any corporation or projects engaged in the development 
or mining of precious metals and for capital investments or debt repayment. The Facility 
matured on June 25, 2013, and was subject to an interest rate of LIBOR plus a variable 
margin of between 3.75% and 5.5%. Upon the signing of the Corporate Facility, the 
Facility was replaced on November 28, 2011. During the six month period ended 
December 31, 2010 the Corporation drew down $45.0 million to acquire the remaining 
45% of the Etruscan commons shares it did not already own. As at December 31, 2010 
there were no amounts drawn down on the Facility. 

 
(c) On November 30, 2006, Burkina Mining Company, which operates the Youga Gold 

Mine executed a debt facility agreement for $35.0 million (the “Debt Facility”) with 
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8. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued) 
 
RMB Australia Holdings Limited (“RMB”) and Macquarie for purposes of developing 
the Youga Gold Mine.  The debt facility was fully repaid in December 2010.  

 
 
9. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Gold price protection program 52,538$        40,600$        39,450$   -$       
Share purchase warrants 22,527          31,186          29,341     12,858    

75,065          71,786          68,791     12,858    
Less: current portion (4,899)          (25,500)        (20,900)    -         
Long-term derivative liability 70,166$        46,286$        47,891$   12,858$   
 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010

Change in fair value of gold price
   protection program (a) 2,465$         (11,068)$      (13,799)$      
Change in fair value of share purchase 
   warrants (b) 8,659           (1,845)          (6,896)         

Gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments
   (Note 13) 11,124$       (12,913)$      (20,695)$      
 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010

Change in unrealized loss - gold price
  protection program 55,217          (1,150)           14,000      
Change in fair value of share purchase 
   warrants 8,659         (1,845)          (6,896)    
Total unrealized gain (loss) on financial derivatives 63,876$        (2,995)$         7,104$      
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9. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
(a) Gold price protection programs 
 

(i) Nzema Gold Mine, Ghana 
 

On December 2, 2011 Endeavour reduced the hedge book by 139,000 ounces for a 
cash settlement of $96.7 million.  The remaining hedge book of 116,161 ounces of  
gold has been re-profiled with deliveries of approximately 10,000 ounces during each 
of 2012 and 2013, and 32,000 ounces during each of 2014, 2015, and 2016 (ounces to 
be delivered on a quarterly basis) based on forward gold contracts at a price of 
$1,061.75 per ounce. 
 
Adamus implemented a gold price protection program as part of the initial project 
financing of the Nzema Gold Mine. The gold price protection program consisted of 
gold forward contracts initially covering 290,000 ounces at a forward price of 
$1,075.00 per ounce and subsequently amended to $1,061.75 per ounce. The program 
required no cash or other margin.  
 
The following table details the options contracts as at December 31, 2011: 

 

Period

Forward 
contracts 
(ounces)

Price per 
Ounce Fair Value

2012 9,998              1,061.75$   4,899$       
2013 10,000             1,061.75    4,707         
2014 32,000             1,061.75    14,605       
2015 32,000             1,061.75    14,255       
2016 32,163             1,061.75    14,072       

116,161           1,061.75$   52,538$      
 

(ii)  Youga Gold Mine, Burkina Faso 
 

On November 28, 2011, the remaining call options totaling 23,532 ounces of gold 
were settled with a cash payment of $24.0 million to close out the hedge book. 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, call options totaling 56,620 ounces were 
settled with delivery of 33,088 ounces of gold production and 23,532 ounces were 
settled for a cash payment of $24.0 million. In addition, put options totaling 141,880 
ounces expired unexercised or were cancelled upon the repayment of the hedge.    

 
In October 2009, following the Acquisition of Etruscan (Refer to Note 3(b)) the 
Corporation used $23.0 million of cash to reduce the hedge book. 

 
Etruscan implemented a gold price protection program for the Youga Gold Mine 
which was a requirement under the initial $35.0 million Debt Facility (Note 8 (c)).   
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9. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(ii)  Youga Gold Mine, Burkina Faso (continued) 
 
The gold price protection program was comprised of a combination of bought put 
options and sold call options whereby 100% of forecast gold production for the first  
five years of the project (initially 456,102 ounces) was price-protected at a 
minimum price of $629 per ounce.  The put options were funded by writing call 
options covering 45% of the feasibility study life-of-mine production (initially 
246,306 ounces) and hada strike price of $700 per ounce. The program required no 
cash or other margin.  
 

The following table details the total gain (loss) on the options and forward contracts for 
both Nzema and Youga; 
   

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year 
ended 

June 30, 
2010

Realized loss gain - gold price
   protection program (52,752)$       (9,918)$        (27,799)$ 
Change in unrealized loss - gold price
  protection program 55,217          (1,150)          14,000    
Total gain (loss) on financial derivatives 2,465$          (11,068)$      (13,799)$ 
 
 

(b) Share purchase warrants  
 
The Corporation’s share purchase warrants have exercise prices denominated in 
currencies other than the Corporation’s US Dollar functional currency, which requires 
that they be classified and accounted for as derivative financial liabilities at fair values, 
with changes in fair values being included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive earnings.  The share purchase warrants are valued using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. Details of share purchase warrants are disclosed in Note 
11(b).   
 
 

10. PROVISIONS 
 

(a) Environmental rehabilitation provision 
 

The present value of the Corporation’s reclamation liability for the Youga Gold Mine at 
December 31, 2011 is $2.4 million, calculated using a discount rate of 5.4%. The liability 
will be amortized over the projected life of the mine to 2016. 
 



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars, except per share amounts) 

 

105 | P a g e  
 

10. PROVISIONS (continued) 
 
The present value of the Corporation’s reclamation liability for the Nzema Gold Mine at 
December 31, 2011 is $6.7 million, calculated using a discount rate of 5.75%. The 
liability will be amortized over the projected life of the mine to 2021. 

 
The present value of the Corporation’s reclamation liability for the Hartbeestlaagte and 
the Tirisano Diamond Mine which together with the Zwartrand property, constitute the 
Blue Gum Diamond Project was $2.1 million, calculated using a discount rate of 9%. The 
liability was amortized over the projected life of the mine to 2015 until the disposal of the 
diamond operations (Refer to Note 15 (b)). 
 

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Balance beginning of period 2,296$          4,231$          -$         -$      
Assumed on acquisition of 
   Adamus (Note 3(a)) 6,716           -               -           -        
Assumed on acquisition of 
   Etruscan (Note 3(b)) -               -               4,077       -        
Accretion 88              150             154          -      
Liability held for sale (Note 15(b)) -             (2,085)         -           -      

Balance end of period 9,100$          2,296$          4,231$     -$      
 
 

(b) Bonuses   
 

In conjunction with Endeavour’s gold acquisition strategy, Endeavour implemented a 
deferred bonus policy to enhance the profitability and growth of Endeavour’s gold 
business by attracting, retaining and motivating qualified employees.  The bonus is 
accrued upon the sale of gold assets by Endeavour, upon the acquisition of Endeavour, or 
other change of control events involving Endeavour, and when a reliable estimate of the 
bonus can be made.  The bonus amount is calculated as 10% of the increase in value of 
Endeavour’s gold assets.  In the case that the realization event is the sale of Endeavour, 
the bonus amount calculation is expected to require the allocation of the consideration 
value to Endeavour’s gold assets and to its other non-gold assets in order to determine the 
increase in value of Endeavour’s gold assets.  In order to align the interests of 
Endeavour’s shareholders and employees, bonuses are deferred and payable upon 
realization.  
 
In addition to the above noted deferred bonus policy, the Corporation also has an 
incentive bonus policy linked to the fees generated from the financial and treasury 
services business, renamed Endeavour Capital, and the gain on investments.   
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11. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

(a) Voting shares 
 

Authorized  
 1,000,000,000 voting shares of $0.01 par value 
 1,000,000,000 undesignated shares 
 

In connection with the acquisition of EFC, on July 30, 2007, 4,161,124 shares of the 
Corporation were placed in escrow to be released in quarterly instalments based on EFC 
meeting a cumulative earnings before income taxes and depreciation and amortization 
(“EBITDA”) target of $3.0 million per quarter during the earn-out period which 
commenced on August 1, 2007 and was achieved on June 30, 2010.  An amount of $2.4 
million was recorded as contingent consideration for the release of escrow shares on July 
1, 2009, the Corporation’s date of transition to IFRS (Refer to Note 24). 
 

 (b) Warrants 
 

A summary of the changes in warrants is presented below: 

Warrants 
outstanding

Net Weighted 
average exercise 

price (C$)

At July 1, 2009 and June 30 2010 32,487,501 2.50$                 
   Issued on Etruscan Plan of 
     Arrangement (Note 3 (b) (ii)) 3,111,559   1.01                   
   Exercised (69,900)      3.86                   
   Expired (627,003)     2.81                   

At December 31, 2010  34,902,157 2.71$                 
   Exercised (715,458)     1.76                   
   Expired (949,561)     12.17                 

At December 31, 2011  33,237,138 2.46$                  
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
  

(b) Warrants (continued) 
 
The following table summarizes the outstanding and exercisable warrants as at December 
31, 2011:  

Outstanding & 
Exercisable

Net Weighted average 
exercise price 

(C$)

Weighted average 
remaining contractual 

life

69,900                     1.08                            0.16 years
135,347                    2.49                            0.92 years
544,390                    0.34                            1.98 years

32,487,501               2.50                            2.10 years

33,237,138               2.46$                          2.09 years  
 
On September 10, 2010, the Corporation issued 3,111,559 share purchase warrants to 
affect the Etruscan Plan of Arrangement (Note 3(b) (ii)). These warrants expire between 
November 2, 2010 and December 24, 2013. 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(c) Share based payments 
 

A summary of the changes in share options is presented below: 
 Weighted average

Options exercise price
outstanding  (C$)

At July 1, 2009 2,530,000         9.56$                 
   Granted 7,166,500         1.96                   
   Exercised (142,500)          1.94                   
   Forfeited (160,000)          9.47                   
At June 30, 2010 9,394,000         2.47                   
   Issued on Etruscan Plan of
     Arrangement (Note 3(b)(ii)) 1,543,391         0.84                   
   Granted 835,000         2.95                  
   Exercised (146,370)          1.63                   
   Cancelled (17,500)            1.94                   
   Expired (35,975)            23.95                 
At December 31, 2010 11,572,546       3.24                   
   Granted 7,595,000         2.65                   
   Exercised (1,071,026)       1.93                   
   Expired (570,732)          7.73                   
At December 31, 2011 17,525,788       2.92$                  
 
The following table summarizes information about the exercisable share options 
outstanding as at December 31, 2011: 

$0 - $1.94 8,017,936 8,017,936 1.91$             2.33 years
$1.95 - $2.50 613,480 613,480 2.45               4.36 years
$2.51 - $2.64 7,245,000 7,245,000 2.64               4.97 years
$2.65 - $3.00 860,452 860,452 2.92               3.94 years
$3.01 - $44.96 788,920 788,920 15.98             1.16 years
 17,525,788 17,525,788     2.92$             3.52 years

Exercise Prices 
(C$) Outstanding Exercisable

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
(C$)

Weighted average 
remaining 

contractual life
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(c) Share based payments (continued) 
 
The Corporation has established a share option plan whereby the Corporation’s directors 
may from time to time grant options to directors, employees or consultants. The 
maximum term of any option is ten years.  The exercise price of an option is not less than 
the volume weighted average trading price of the shares traded on the exchange for the 
five trading days immediately preceding the grant date. At December 31, 2011, there 
were 24,460,995 (December 31, 2010 – 11,348,251 and June 30, 2010 - 9,752,561) 
options available for grant under the plan, of which 6,935,207 (December 31, 2010 – nil 
and June 30, 2011 - 358,561) are still available to be granted. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, 7,245,000 share options were granted with a 
fair value per option of $0.87 and 350,000 share options were granted with a fair value 
per option of $1.11. A non-cash share-based payment expense of $6.7 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2011 was recorded (six months ended December 31, 2010 - $2.6 
million and year ended June 30, 2010 - $5.8 million). 
 
The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes valuation 
of share options for the periods ended: 

Year ended 
December 31,

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31,
 2010

Year ended 
June 30,

2010
 
Risk-free interest rate 0.9% 1.4% 1.8%
Expected life 3.0 years 3.0 years 3.0 years
Annualized volatility 49.3% 58.9% 63.5%
Dividend rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Forfeiture rate 10.9% 12.1% 13.9%  

 
The annualized volatility is based on the Corporation’s historical three year daily 
volatility. 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(d) Diluted earnings per share  
 

Diluted net (loss) earnings per share from continuing operations were calculated based on 
the following: 

 
 
The following summarizes the stock options and share purchase warrants excluded from 
the computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise prices exceeded the 
average market values of the common shares for the year ended December 31, 2011, of 
C$2.47 (December 31, 2010 – C$2.67,  and June 30, 2010 – C$2.08).    
 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010

Stock options 15,637,612    8,901,532     8,802,726    
Share purchase warrants 32,412,255    31,911,587   31,605,710   

 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010

Net earnings (loss) and total  
    comprehensive (loss) earnings attributable
    to shareholders from continuing operations (20,140)$        67,712$        9,781$          
Effect of dilutive securities:  
    Share purchase warrants -
    change in fair value recognized
    in earnings during the period (1,373)            1,875             3,644            
Diluted net (loss) earnings and 
      total comprehensive (loss) earnings 
      from continuing operations (21,513)$        69,587$        13,425$        
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 
 

(d) Diluted (loss) earnings per share (continued) 
 
Diluted net (loss) earnings per share were calculated based on the following:  
 

December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

Basic weighted average number of 120,056,019    107,084,552    96,709,056 
shares outstanding    

Effect of dilutive securities    
 Stock options 1,888,176         2,671,014         591,274       
 Share purchase warrants 824,883            2,990,570         881,791       
Diluted weighted average number of

shares outstanding 122,769,078    112,746,136    98,182,121 
 

 
12. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
 

The composition of the non-controlling interests is as follows: 
 

Adamus 
Resources 

Limited
Nambia Rare 

Earths Inc
Etruscan 

Resources Inc Total

As at July 1, 2009 -$       -$              -$             -$           
Acquisition of Etruscan (Note 3 (b)) -        -                47,727          47,727       
Change of ownership -        -                2,224           2,224         
Net loss -        -                (2,029)          (2,029)        
As at June 30, 2010 -        -                47,922          47,922       
Change of ownership (Note 3 (b)) -        2,395             (47,765)        (45,370)      
Net loss -        (30)                (157)             (187)           
At December 31, 2010 -        2,365             -               2,365         
Change of ownership (Note 7) -        (2,475)            -               (2,475)        
Acquisition of Adamus (Note 3 (a)) 23,735   23,735       
Net earnings 654        110                2,945           3,709         
At December 31, 2011 24,389$ -$              2,945$          27,334$       
 
On April 14, 2011, NREI completed its initial public offering which raised gross proceeds of 
C$25.0 million and subsequently on April 27, 2011 closed a C$3.8 million over-allotment option, 
reducing Endeavour’s ownership from 71.6% to 38.5%. The change in ownership percentage has 
resulted in the interest in NREI being accounted for as an investment in associate (Note 7). 
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12. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 
 
In January 2011, NREI issued shares on the exercise of warrants reducing the Corporation’s 
ownership from 73.5% to 71.6%.  
 
On August 27, 2010, NREI completed a C$5.4 million private placement, which reduced the 
Corporation’s ownership from 100% to 73.5%. 
 
 

13. (LOSSES) GAINS ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Year ended 
December 31, 

2010

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010
 
Gain (loss) on marketable securities (14,067)$      15,498$       48,429$    
Interest income 1,259         401             2,399       
Gain (loss) on derivative financial 
   instruments (Note 9) 11,124         (12,913)        (20,695)     
Loss on foreign currency 53                (75)              (221)         

(1,631)$        2,911$         29,912$     
 
 

14. ENDEAVOUR CAPITAL 
 

Endeavour Capital provides management and administrative services, including accounting 
support and public company regulatory filings, for a number of public companies.  Endeavour is 
often a shareholder in these client companies and these investments are recorded within the 
Corporation’s marketable securities. 

 
As a result of the Debt Sale discussed in Note 6 and Note 15 the financial and treasury services 
business, renamed Endeavour Capital, does not include the financial results of the debt advisory 
business.   
 
Until June 30, 2010, Endeavour Capital paid bonuses based on fees earned from clients and fees 
earned based on assets under management held by the Corporation.  The asset management fees 
charged resulted in bonuses equivalent to approximately 1% of the average assets under 
management and 10% of the realized gain on sale of gold investments and 10% of the recorded 
gain on other investments. 
 
Following the Corporation’s transformation into a gold producer, the bonus structure was 
modified to eliminate the 1% management fee and to clarify the deferred bonus amounts 
attributable to the sale of gold assets.  As a result, for the year ended December 31, 2011 the 
bonuses accrued were based on the income generated from clients, 10% of the recorded gain on 
marketable securities and 10% of the realized gain on the sale of gold assets. 
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14. ENDEAVOUR CAPITAL (continued) 
 
The following table includes the fees earned from external clients and does not include intra 
group fees for advisory services provided to the gold mining business for merger and acquisition 
and debt arranging advice; however the operating and bonus expense includes the total amounts 
incurred in providing all services.  Endeavour did not pay any fees to external advisers for merger 
and acquisition advice on the merger with Adamus or for debt arrangement advice on the 
Corporate Facility.  Furthermore, all operating costs and bonuses paid by Endeavour Capital were 
more than covered by external and internal fees. 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010

Income earned from external clients 2,822$        2,444          3,256      
Operating expenses (3,844)        (2,980)        (3,674)     
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 6 (a)) (1,250)        (1,796)        (3,647)     
Intangibles - impairment of losses recognized in
  profit or loss (Note 6 (a)) (12,458)       -             -         
Goodwill - accumulated impairment losses (Note 6 (b)) (20,227)       
Share-based payments (1,862)        (2,584)        (7,734)     

(36,819)       (4,916)        (11,799)   

Bonus expense on income earned, gains on
    marketable securities and sale of gold assets (4,476)        (5,283)        (12,786)   

(41,295)$     (10,199)$     (24,585)$  
 
 
15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
 
a) Disposal of debt advisory business 
 

The Debt Sale was completed by way of selling the client mandates and use of the Endeavour 
Financial brand name from its wholly-owned subsidiary, Endeavour Financial International 
Corporation, for future consideration of $20.0 million.  The $20.0 million of consideration 
consists of the aggregate of a $10.1 million non-interest bearing promissory note and receipt of 
future earnings after expenses, including bonuses.   
 
An income approach (being the net present value of expected future cash flows) was used to 
determine the fair values of the three different payment streams making up the consideration; 
$10.0 million promissory note, $2.5 million intellectual property assignment fee related to the 
Endeavour Financial brand name and the $7.5 million service fee related to future earnings.  
Estimates of expected future cash flows were based on estimates of projected future earnings, 
over a ten year period using a risk adjusted discount rate to reflect the perceived risk in achieving 
the cash flows to be generated from the newly independent debt advisory business. 
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15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
 
a) Disposal of debt advisory business (continued) 

Analysis of profit for the year from discontinued operations 
 
The results of the discontinued operations included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive earnings are set out below. The comparative profit and cash flows from 
discontinued operations have been re-presented to include those operations classified as 
discontinued in the current year. 
 
The summarized statements of comprehensive earnings from discontinued operations are as 
follows: 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010

Income earned from external clients 4,954$        11,607$       5,440$        
Operating expenses (3,414)         (5,054)          (3,369)         
Profit before tax from discontinued operations 1,540        6,553          2,071         
Loss on disposal of operation (5,177)         -              -             
Attributable income tax expense -              -              -             
(Loss) earnings from discontinued operations (3,637)$       6,553$         2,071$         
 
Discounted value of consideration received, 
  net of expenses 9,588$        -$             -$            
Goodwill and intangibles disposed of (14,685)       -              -             
Tangible net assets disposed of (80)              -              -             
Net assets disposed of (14,765)       -              -             
Loss on disposal of operation (5,177)$       -$             -$             
 
 
The summarized statements of cash flows for discontinued operations are as follows: 
 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010

Net cash inflows from operating activities 1,399$        7,335           4,181          

Net cash inflows 1,399$        7,335$         4,181$         
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15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 
 

a) Disposal of debt advisory business (continued) 
Analysis of profit for the year from discontinued operations (continued) 
 
An analysis of assets and liabilities of discontinued operations at the disposal date, December 31, 
2011 is as follows: 

 
December 31, 

2011

Assets    
Current
  Trade and other receivables   19$             
  Prepaids expenses and other   85               

  104             

Intangibles (Note 6 (a)) 5,598          
Goodwill (Note 6 (b)) 9,087          

14,789$      

Liabilities
Current 
  Trade and other payables 24$             

24               
Net assets disposed of 14,765$       
 

b) Disposal of diamond operations 
 

As part of the Etruscan Acquisition (Note 3 (b)), Endeavour acquired an interest in diamond 
properties in South Africa.  On September 9, 2010, Endeavour’s diamond subsidiaries entered 
into an agreement of purchase and sale with a subsidiary of Rockwell Diamonds Limited (TSX: 
RDI) (“Rockwell”), whereby Rockwell agreed to acquire all of Endeavour’s interest in its 
diamond operations together with the interest of other third parties for an amount not exceeding 
approximately $4.1 million (ZAR33.5 million), payable in shares of Rockwell valued at C$1.02 
per share and the assumption all the debt and contingent liabilities of the Corporation related to 
Endeavour’s interest.  This agreement resulted in the assets of the diamond operations being 
classified as held for sale.  

 
On October 7, 2011 the Corporation finalized the purchase and sale of its diamond operations 
with Rockwell. As consideration for the sale, Endeavour received 1,234,660 shares of Rockwell 
valued at $0.5 million and realized a gain on disposition of $3.7 million. 
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15. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 
 

b) Disposal of diamond operations (continued) 
 
The carrying values of the diamond subsidiaries are comprised of: 
 

December 31,
2011

December 31, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Assets
   Cash and cash equivalents -$            45$              -$           -$        

   Trade and other receivables -              188              -            -          
   Inventory -              22                -            -          
   Prepaid expenses and other -              5                  -            -          
   Mineral interests (Note 5) -              9,967           -            -          
   Reclamation deposit -              1,961           -            -          

-$            12,188$        -$           -$        

Liabilities
    Trade and other payables -$            4,335$          -$           -$        
    Debt -              7,585           -            -          
    Provision for reclamation (Note 10) -              2,085           -            -          

-$            14,005$        -$           -$        
 
There was no loss on the diamond subsidiaries when the assets were classified as assets held for 
sale as they were recorded at zero net book value in the purchase price allocation relating to the 
Acquisition. As a result of diamond subsidiaries ceasing operations several years ago, there was 
no revenue or pretax profit or loss reported in the current period as a discontinued operation in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive earnings and cash flows. 
 
Fair value of residual interest 1,234,660 shares @ C$0.46 per share 541$      

Summary of assets and liabilites sold:
  Cash and cash equivalents 40         
  Non-cash working capital (5,140)   
  Property, plant and equipment 572       
  Mining interests 9,216     
  Reclamation deposit 2,089     
  Long-term debt (7,578)   
  Reclamation provision (2,333)   
Net liabilities disposed of (3,134)   
Gain on disposal of diamond operations 3,675$    
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16. INCOME TAXES 
 

a) Income tax recognized in net (loss) earnings and total comprehensive (loss) earnings 
 

Details of the income tax expense are as follows:  

Year ended 
December 31,

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31,
 2010

Year ended 
June 30,

2010

Current income tax expense 618$             2,051$          894$           
Deferred income tax expense 7,610            3,900            367            
Total income tax expense recognized 
  in continuing operations 8,228$          5,951$          1,261$         

 
The income tax expense can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows: 
 

 

Year ended 
December 31,

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31,
 2010

Year ended 
June 30,

2010

(Loss) earnings from continued
  operations (8,203)            73,476          9,013       
Statutory tax rate 0% 0% 0%

Income tax expense (recovery) based on
  Cayman Islands statutory tax rate -                -               -           
Reconciling items:    
Effect of different foreign statutory tax
  rates on earnings of subsidiaries in
  taxable jurisdications 14,086           5,863            175          
Non-deductible expenses 568              171              813         
Tax effect of tax losses and temporary
  differences not recognized -                -               1,231       
Impact of income tax reassessment of
  prior year earnings of subsidiaries in
  taxable jurisdictions -                932               -           
Effect of tax losses not previously
  recognized (5,784)            (812)             (812)         
Other  (642)               (203)             (146)         
Income tax expense recognized in net
  (loss) earnings and total comprehensive
  (loss) earnings 8,228$           5,951$          1,261$      

Effective tax rate (100%) 8% 14%
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16. INCOME TAXES (continued) 
  

The tax rate used for the year ended December 31, 2011, six months ended December 31, 
2010 and the year ended June 30, 2010 reconciliations above is the corporate tax rate of 
the Cayman Islands at 0%.  There is no corporate taxation in the Cayman Islands.  The 
taxable profits of the corporate entities in Australia, Burkina Faso, Canada, Ghana, 
Monaco and the United Kingdom are subject to the tax under the tax law of the respective 
jurisdiction.  
 
The following is a summary of the tax rates in the various taxable jurisdictions: 
 

 

December 31,
2011

December 31,
 2010

June 30,
2010

Australia 30.0% N/A N/A
Burkina Faso 17.5% 17.5% 17.5%
Canada 26.5% 28.5% 29.3%
Ghana 25.0% N/A N/A
Monaco 33.3% 33.3% 33.3%
United Kingdom 26.5% 28.0% 28.0%
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16. INCOME TAXES (continued) 
 

b) Deferred tax balances 
 

The significant components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as 
follows:

 
 

1 The Corporation believes it is probable that the results of future operations will generate 
    sufficient taxable income to realize the above-noted tax assets. 

 

 

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

June 30,
 2010

July 1, 
2009

Deferred income tax assets
1 

  Unused non-capital losses 17,688$       -$           -$        235$     
  Deductible temporary differences
     relating to:     
    Reclamation and closure cost 
      obligations 154              -              -          31         
    Mining interests 179              -              15           -        
    Unrealized foreign exchange and
      other timing differences 1,730           -              -          -        

19,751          -              15           266       

Deferred income tax liabilities
  Mining interests (90,130)        (4,778)         (1,834)      
  Marketable securities (56)               (1,298)         (357)        (172)      
  Unrealized gain on derivative (3,654)          -              -          -        

(93,840)        (6,076)         (2,191)      (172)      
Deferred income tax (liabilities)
   asset, net (74,089)$       (6,076)$       (2,176)$    94$       

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

June 30,
 2010

July 1, 
2009

Net deferred income tax 
(liability)/asset, (6,076)$        (2,176)$       94$          31$       
Assumed on Merger with Adamus 
Resources (Note 3 (a)) (60,403)        -              -          -        
Assumed on Acquisition of 
Etruscan Resources (Note 3 (b)) -               -              (1,903)      -        
Income tax expense charge to 
earnings (7,610)          (3,900)         (367)        (172)      
Tax losses -             -            -          235     
(liability)/asset,
  end of period (74,089)$       (6,076)$       (2,176)$    94$       
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16. INCOME TAXES (continued) 
 

c) Unrecognized deferred tax assets 

 
 
As at December 31, 2011, the Corporation had deductible temporary differences for 
which deferred tax assets of $6.3 million have not been recognized in Australia because it 
is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the Corporation 
can utilize the benefit.  The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current 
tax legislation. 
 

d) Tax loss carry forwards 
 

At December 31, 2011, the Corporation had the following unused tax losses and other 
income tax deductions for which it has recognized a deferred income tax asset: 
  

Unused tax losses 
and other income 

tax deductions
Expiry 
dates

Non-capital loss carryforwards
  Ghana 70,752$              2016

70,752$               
 
The Ghana non-capital tax loss can be carried forward for five years to offset future 
taxable income.  The Corporation also has a deductible capital allowance pool of $127.0 
million that can be carried forward indefinitely and be used to offset future taxable 
income. 

 
e) Tax rules and regulations 
 

The Corporation operates in numerous countries around the world and accordingly it is 
subject to, and pays annual income taxes under the various income tax regimes in the 
countries in which it operates.  Some of these tax regimes are defined by contractual 
agreements with the local government, and others are defined by the general corporate 
income tax laws of the country.  The Corporation has historically filed, and continues to 
file, all required income tax returns and to pay the taxes reasonably determined to be 
due.  The tax rules and regulations in many countries are highly complex and subject to 
interpretation.  From time to time the Corporation is subject to a review of its historic

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

June 30,
 2010

July 1, 
2009

Deferred tax assets have not 
  been recognised in respect of 
  the following items:
  Restructuring costs 465$            -$            -$        -$      
  Non-capital losses 5,831           -              -          -        

6,296$          -$            -$        -$      
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16. INCOME TAXES (continued) 
 
e) Tax rules and regulations (continued) 
 

income tax filings and in connection with such reviews, disputes can arise with the taxing 
authorities over the interpretation or application of certain rules to the Corporation’s 
business conducted within the country involved.   
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17. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION  

 
 

 
 
 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 
31, 

2010
(Note 24)

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010
(Note 24)

Operating activities
Net (loss) earnings before taxes (8,203)$        73,476$      9,013$       
(Loss) earnings from discontinued operations (Note 15 (a)) (3,637)          6,553         2,071         
Reclamation expenditures -              (152)           (84)            
Adjust for:

Depreciation and depletion 20,379         8,087         9,637         
 Loss (gain) on marketable securities (Note 13) 14,067         (15,498)      (48,429)      
 Loss on disposition of mining interests -              419            293           

Gain on disposal of associate (Note 7) -              (71,203)      -            
Accretion of reclamation and other closure obligations (Note 10) 88               150            154           
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 6 (a)) 1,250           1,796         3,647         
Write-down of goodwill and intangible assets (Note 6) 32,685         -             -            
Goodwill and intangible assets derecognized on disposal of  

debt business (Note 15 (a)) 14,685         -             -            
Promissory note and other assets on disposal of debt business (10,095)        -             -            
Share-based payments (Note 11 (c)) 6,711           2,584         5,805         
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative    

financial liabilities (Note 9) (63,876)        2,995         (7,104)       
Unrealized foreign exchange gain loss 276              112            144           
Write-down of investment in associate, (Note 7) 9,831           -             -            
Share of loss (earnings) of associate, net of taxes (Note 7) 3,322           25              (9,295)       
Gain on disposal of diamond operations (Note 15 (b)) (3,675)          -             -            
Gain on dilution of ownership of associate (NREI) (Note 7) (22,068)        4,557         -            
Change in working capital of associate (1,388)          -             -            
Interest income 1,259           (401)           (2,399)       

Interest received (991)            401            2,399         
Interest paid -              (1,557)        (1,321)       
Income tax paid (1,058)          (2,090)        (186)          

Changes in non-cash working capital:
Decrease (increase) in trade and 

other receivables and prepaid expenses (5,515)          (1,350)        (1,853)       
Decrease (increase) in inventories 2,448           1,137         (4,879)       
(Decrease) increase in trade and other 

payables 4,957           (5,834)        7,810         

(8,548)$        4,207$        (34,577)$    
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17. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)  
 
The significant non-cash financing and investing transactions for the year ended December 31, 
2011 consisted of the following: 
 

(i) Debt Sale for gross consideration of $10.1 million. 
(ii) Release of nil (December 31, 2010 – 1,016,685 and June 30, 2010 – 1,356,464) common  
             shares from escrow in connection with the acquisition of EFC, refer to (Note 11 (a)). 
(iii) The dilution of ownership in NREI, refer to Note 7. 
(iv) The issuance of 129,340,958 shares as consideration for the Adamus merger (Note 3 (a)). 

 
 
18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
 Compensation of key management personnel 
 

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel during the year 
was as follows:   

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010

Short-term benefits 4,482$         6,428          4,241         
Post-employment benefits 3                 -              -            
Share-based payments 4,255           148             2,215         

8,740$         6,576$         6,456$        
 

The Corporation incurred $23.8 million of employee benefits expense for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 (six months ended December 31, 2010 - $14.0 million and the year ended 
June 30, 2010 $0.09 million). 
 
 

19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 
 

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports that are 
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”) to allocate resources to the 
segments and to assess their performance. 
 
Following the merger with Adamus, as disclosed in Note 3 (a), the CODM regularly reviews the 
following operations, the operating segments of the Corporation under IFRS 8: 
 

(i) Youga – the operation involved in the production of gold through the Corporation’s 
integrated processes – mining, extraction, production and selling of gold to external 
clients. 
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19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued) 
 

(ii) Nzema – the operation involved in the production of gold through the Corporation’s 
integrated processes – mining, extraction, production and selling of gold to external 
clients. 

(iii) Exploration – operations involved in mineral exploration in West Africa.  
 

The following is an analysis of the Corporation’s revenue and results from continuing operations 
by reportable segment. 
 

Youga Mine Nzema Mine
1

Exploration Corporate Total

Revenue

    Gold revenue 137,643$           9,584$              -$          -$                147,227$         
     

Cost of sales

   Operating expenses 57,796              8,409                -            -                  66,205             

   Depreciation and depletion 17,517              2,727                -            135                 20,379             

Earnings from mine operations 62,330              (1,552)               -            (135)                60,643             

  

Corporate costs
2

-                   -                   -            35,089             35,089             

Exploration -                   -                   3,423         -                  3,423               

Write-down of mining properties -                   -                   -            -                  -                  

Earnings (loss) from operations 62,330              (1,552)               (3,423)       (35,224)            22,131             

(Losses) gains on financial instruments (12,312)             15,084              -            (4,403)             (1,631)             

Realized gain on bullion -                   -                   -            2,772               2,772               
Endeavour Capital loss and write-down of 
  associated goodwill & intangibles -                   -                   -            (41,295)            (41,295)            

Share of (loss) earnings of associate, net of taxes -                   -                   -            (3,322)             (3,322)             

Write-down of investment in associate -                   -                   -            (9,831)             (9,831)             

Gain on dilution of ownership of associate -                   -                   -            22,068             22,068             

Gain from sale of diamond operations -                   -                   -            3,675               3,675               

Finance costs (339)                 (22)                   -            (2,409)             (2,770)             

(12,651)             15,062              -            (32,745)            (30,334)            

Earnings (loss) before taxes 49,679              13,510              (3,423)       (67,969)            (8,203)             

Income taxes (267)                 -                   (351)                (618)                

Deferred income taxes (7,126)               (1,726)               -            1,242               (7,610)             
Net earnings (loss)
 and total comprehensive earnings (loss)
 from continuing operations 42,286$             11,784$            (3,423)$      (67,078)$          (16,431)$          

Year ended December 31, 2011

  
1 Operating results only include 26 days of Adamus’ results since the effective date of the merger on December 5, 2011 (Note 3 (a)) 
2 Includes $19.2 million in one-off merger related costs. 
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19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued) 
 

Youga Mine Nzema Mine Exploration Corporate Total

Revenue

    Gold revenue 59,399$             -$                 -$          -$                59,399$           

        

Cost of sales

   Operating expenses 28,054              -                   -            -                  28,054             

   Depreciation and depletion 8,040                -                   -            47                   8,087               

Earnings from mine operations 23,305              -                   -            (47)                  23,258             

  

Corporate costs -                   -                   -            6,302               6,302               

Exploration -                   -                   2,259         -                  2,259               

Write-down of mining properties -                   -                   310           -                  310                 

Earnings (loss) from operations 23,305              -                   (2,569)       (6,349)             14,387             

(Losses) gains on financial instruments (11,068)             -                   -            13,979             2,911               
Endeavour Capital loss and write-down of 
  associated goodwill & intangibles -                   -                   -            (10,199)            (10,199)            

Share of (loss) earnings of associate, net of taxes -                   -                   -            (25)                  (25)                  

Gain on disposal of associate -                   -                   -            71,203             71,203             

Finance costs (553)                 -                   -            (4,248)             (4,801)             

(11,621)             -                   -            70,710             59,089             

Earnings (loss) before taxes 11,684              -                   (2,569)       64,361             73,476             

Income taxes -                   -                   -            (2,051)             (2,051)             

Deferred income taxes (2,944)               -                   -            (956)                (3,900)             
Net earnings (loss)
 and total comprehensive earnings (loss) 
from continuing operations 8,740$              -$                 (2,569)$      61,354$           67,525$           

Six months ended December 31, 2010
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19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued)  
 

Youga Mine Nzema Mine Exploration Corporate Total

Revenue

    Gold revenue 53,081$             -$                 -$          -$                53,081$           

        

Cost of sales

   Operating expenses 29,233              -                   -            -                  29,233             

   Depreciation and depletion 9,454                -                   -            183                 9,637               

Earnings from mine operations 14,394              -                   -            (183)                14,211             

  

Corporate costs -                   -                   -            11,221             11,221             

Exploration -                   -                   3,512         -                  3,512               

Earnings (loss) from operations 14,394              -                   (3,512)       (11,404)            (522)                

(Losses) gains on financial instruments (13,799)             -                   -            43,711             29,912             
Endeavour Capital loss and write-down of 
  associated goodwill & intangibles -                   -                   -            (24,585)            (24,585)            

Share of (loss) earnings of associate, net of taxes -                   -                   -            9,295               9,295               

Finance costs (2,664)               -                   -            (2,423)             (5,087)             

(16,463)             -                   -            25,998             9,535               

Earnings (loss) before taxes (2,069)               -                   (3,512)       14,594             9,013               

Income taxes -                   -                   -            (894)                (894)                

Deferred income taxes 69                    -                   -            (436)                (367)                
Net earnings (loss)
 and total comprehensive earnings (loss) 
from continuing operations (2,000)$             -$                 (3,512)$      13,264$           7,752$             

Year ended June 30, 2010

 
 
The debt advisory business was discontinued in the current year.  The segment information 
reported on does not include any amounts for the debt advisory business, which is described in 
Note 15. 
 
Segment revenue reported represents revenue generated from external customers.  There were no 
inter-segment sales in the current year, (six months to December 31, 2010: nil, year to June 30, 
2010: nil). 
 
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Corporation’s accounting 
policies described in Note 2. 
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19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued)  
 
Geographical information 
 
The Corporation operates in three principal geographical areas, including Burkina Faso and Côte 
d'Ivoire and Ghana.  
 
The Corporation’s revenue from continuing operations from external customers by location of 
operations and information about its non-current assets by location of assets are detailed below: 
 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year ended 
June 30, 

2010
December 31, 

2011
December 31, 

2010
June 30, 

2010

Burkina Faso 137,643$      59,399$        53,081$      167,418$     149,467$     166,161$  
Ghana 9,584            -               -             534,800       -              -           
Other -               -               -             65,927         57,605         198,832    

147,227$      59,399$        53,081$      768,145$     207,072$     364,993$  

Revenue from external customers Non-current assets

 
 
Information about major customers 
 
Revenue from major customers which accounts for 10% or more of the Corporation’s revenue are 
as follows:  

Year ended 
December 31, 

2011

Six months 
ended 

December 31, 
2010

Year 
ended 

June 30, 
2010

Revenues from customer in Youga segment 137,643$     59,399         53,081   

Revenues from customer in Nzema segment
1

9,584        -             -       
 147,227$     59,399$       53,081$  

1 Operating results only include 26 days of Adamus’ results since the effective date of the merger on December 5, 2011 (Note 3 (a)) 

 
The Corporation is not economically dependent on a limited number of customers for the sale of 
gold because gold can be sold through numerous commodity market traders worldwide. 
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19. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued)  
 
Total assets and liabilities from continuing operations  
 

 

 

1Included in this balance is $137.9 million in cash and cash equivalents available for deployment  in the gold  mining segment. 
2Included in Corporate is $2.1 million of goodwill associated with the acquisition of Etruscan, (Note 3(b)) and $29.3 million of  
  goodwill associated with the acquisition of EFC, refer to Note 6. 
3Included in Corporate is $55.4 million of goodwill and $2.1 million of goodwill associated with the merger of Adamus and the 
  acquisition of Etruscan, (Note 3 (a) & 3 (b)). 

 
 
20. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Corporation’s objectives of capital management are to safeguard the entity’s ability to 
support the Corporation’s normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis, continue the 
development and exploration of its mineral properties and support any expansionary plans. The 
Corporation defines capital that it manages as net worth, which is comprised of total 
shareholders’ equity and debt obligations (net of cash and cash equivalents and marketable 
securities). 
 
In the management of capital, the Corporation includes the components of shareholders’ equity, 
short-term borrowings and long-term debt, as well as the cash and cash equivalents, and 
marketable securities. 
 
Capital, as defined above, is summarized in the following table: 
 

December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

 
   Equity 668,699$         343,620$     303,141$    234,681$ 
   Current and long-term debt 100,000          -              34,352        -          

768,699          343,620       337,493      234,681   
Less:     
   Cash and cash equivalents (115,279)         (167,300)      (15,063)      (121,814)  
   Marketable securities (17,227)           (37,149)       (32,961)      (71,049)   

636,193$         139,171$     289,469$    41,818$    
 
 
 

Total 

assets
3

Total 
liabilities

Total 

assets
1,2

Total 
liabilities

Total 

assets
2

Total 
liabilities

Total 

assets
2

Total 
liabilities

Youga Mine 180,449$          19,117$         134,605$          58,342$      197,870$      83,221$      -$        -$      
Nzema Mine 558,548            122,735         -                   -             -              -             -         -        
Corporate 184,708            154,667         251,751            38,420       236,317       49,004       251,271  16,590   
Exploration 42,730              1,218             68,671              14,645       10,145         8,966         -         -        

966,435$          297,737$       455,027$          111,407$    444,332$      141,191$    251,271$ 16,590$ 

July 1, 2009December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010 June 30, 2010
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20. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
The Corporation manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
its economic environment and the risk characteristics of the Corporation’s assets. To effectively 
manage the entity’s capital requirements, the Corporation has in place a planning, budgeting and 
forecasting process to help determine the funds required to ensure the Corporation has the 
appropriate liquidity to meet its operating and growth objectives. 
 
 

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Financial assets and liabilities 
 
The Corporation’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, marketable 
securities, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables,   derivative financial instrument 
liabilities and current and long-term debt. The fair value of these financial instruments 
approximates their carrying value, unless otherwise noted.   

 
Classification of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities are classified as FVTPL. Marketable 
securities in the form of loans are classified as FVTPL because these form part of the marketable 
securities portfolio that is managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. Trade 
and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables and trade and long term debt and 
credit facilities are classified as other financial liabilities and derivative financial liabilities are 
classified as FVTPL. 
 
The Corporation assesses its financial instruments and non-financial contracts on a regular basis 
to determine the existence of any embedded derivatives which would be required to be accounted 
for separately at fair value and to ensure that any embedded derivatives are accounted for in 
accordance with the Corporation’s policy.    
 
Fair value measurements of financial assets and liabilities recognized in the statement of 
financial position 

  
The Corporation has certain financial assets and liabilities that are held at fair value. The fair 
value hierarchy establishes three levels to classify the inputs to valuation techniques to measure 
fair value: 
 
Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset  
                or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices); 

     
Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 
               unobservable inputs).  
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
At December 31, 2011 the levels in the fair value hierarchy into which the Corporation’s financial 
assets and liabilities measured and recognized in the statement of financial position at fair value 
are categorized are as follows: 

Level 1
Input

Level 2
Input

Level 3
Input

Aggregate
Fair Value

Assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents 115,279$  -$           -$      115,279$ 
    Marketable securities 2,204        10,421       4,602    17,227     

117,483$  10,421$      4,602$  132,506$ 

Liabilities:      
    Derivative financial liabilities -           75,065       -       75,065     

-$         75,065$      -$      75,065$   

December 31, 2011

 
 
There were no transfers between level 1 and 2 in the period. 
 
At December 31, 2010 the levels in the fair value hierarchy into which the Corporation’s financial 
assets and liabilities measured and recognized in the statement of financial position at fair value 
are categorized are as follows: 

Level 1
Input

Level 2
Input

Level 3
Input

Aggregate
Fair Value

Assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents 167,300$  -$           -$      167,300$ 
    Marketable securities 19,125      17,661       363       37,149     

186,425$  17,661$      363$     204,449$ 

Liabilities:      
    Derivative financial liabilities -           71,786       -       71,786     

-$         71,786$      -$      71,786$   

December 31, 2010
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
At June 30, 2010 the levels in the fair value hierarchy into which the Corporation’s financial 
assets and liabilities measured and recognized in the statement of financial position at fair value 
are categorized are as follows: 

Level 1
Input

Level 2
Input

Level 3
Input

Aggregate
Fair Value

Assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents 15,063$    -$           -$      15,063$   
    Marketable securities 12,114      20,390       457       32,961     

27,177$    20,390$      457$     48,024$   

Liabilities:     
    Derivative financial liabilities -           68,791       68,791     

-$         68,791$      -$      68,791$   

June 30, 2010

 
 
At July 1, 2009 the levels in the fair value hierarchy into which the Corporation’s financial assets 
and liabilities measured and recognized in the statement of financial position at fair value are 
categorized are as follows: 
 

Level 1
Input

Level 2
Input

Level 3
Input

Aggregate
Fair Value

Assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents 121,814$  -$           -$      121,814$ 
    Marketable securities 62,530      1,650         6,869    71,049     

184,344$  1,650$       6,869$  192,863$ 

Liabilities:     
    Derivative financial liabilities -$         12,858       -       12,858$   

-$         12,858$      -$      12,858$   

July 1, 2009
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
The following table reconciles the Corporation’s level 3 fair value measurements (for example 
non-listed warrants and private companies) from July 1, 2009 to December 31, 2011: 
 

Private 
Equity

Options, 
Warrants  Total

Balance July 1, 2009 5,509$      1,360$      6,869$    
   Realized & unrealized losses 
     included in net income -           (903)         (903)       

   Transfers out (5,509)      -           (5,509)    
Balance June 30, 2010 -           457           457        
   Realized & unrealized losses 
     included in net income -           (94)           (94)         

Balance December 31, 2010 -           363           363$       
   Realized & unrealized losses 
     included in net income 4,600        (361)         4,239      
Balance December 31, 2011 4,600$      2$            4,602$     
 
Included in level 3 are certain marketable securities that are fair valued as follows (i) loans are 
measured at fair value and written down to net realizable value if impaired (ii) warrants for public 
companies which are not listed or traded on a national exchange are valued at the difference 
between the exercise price and the quoted market price of the underlying shares, plus an 
adjustment for time value using the Black-Scholes option pricing model (iii) options for public 
companies wheich are not listed or traded on a national exchange are valued at the difference 
between the exercise price and the quoted market price of the underlying shares and (iv) options 
and warrants for private companies are valued at the difference between the exercise price and the 
carrying value of the underlying shares. 
 
Financial instrument risk exposure 
 
The Corporation’s activities expose it to a variety of risks that may include currency risk, credit 
risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and other price risks, including equity price risk. The 
Corporation examines the various financial instrument risks to which it is exposed and assesses 
any impact and likelihood of those risks.   
 
(i) Credit risk  

 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial 
loss for the Corporation by failing to discharge its obligations. Credit risk arises from 
cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities held with investment dealers, marketable 
securities made in the form of a loan and trade and other receivables. Although it is
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

Financial instrument risk exposure (continued) 
 

(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 
intended that the marketable securities the Corporation makes in the form of loans will 
normally be secured, there can be no assurance that such security will completely protect 
the value of the Corporation’s investments.  As the assets securing the Corporation’s 
loans will occasionally be subject to senior indebtedness, the Corporation’s security may 
have second or third priority.  
 
The Corporation closely monitors its financial assets and does not have any significant 
concentration of credit risk. The Corporation invests its cash and cash equivalents in 
highly rated corporations and government issuances of which the credit risk is 
consideredto be low. The Corporation sells its gold to large international refineries. The 
Corporation’s gold revenue is comprised of gold sales primarily to two customers. 
 
The historical level of customer defaults is minimal and, as a result, the credit risk 
associated with trade and other receivables at December 31, 2011 is considered to be 
negligible.  The Corporation does not rely entirely on ratings issued by credit rating 
agencies in evaluating counterparties’ related credit risk.  
  
All transactions executed by the Corporation in listed securities are settled/paid for upon 
delivery using approved brokers.  The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery 
of securities sold is only made once the broker has received payment.  Payment is made 
on a purchase once the securities have been received by the broker. The trade will fail if 
either party fails to meet its obligation. 
  
Trade and other receivables include amounts that are past due at the end of the reporting 
period but against which the Corporation has not recognized an allowance for doubtful 
receivables because there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 
amounts are still considered recoverable.  The Corporation does not have any collateral or 
other credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a legal right to offset any 
of the amounts owed by the Corporation to the counterparty. 
 
In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Corporation considers any 
change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially 
granted up to the end of the reporting period. 
 
The Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk before taking into account any 
collateral held or other credit enhancements is the carrying amount of the financial 
instruments, except cash and cash equivalents, at the reporting date as follows:  
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

Financial instrument risk exposure (continued) 
 
(ii) Credit risk (continued) 
 

December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Cash and cash equivalents 115,279$      167,300$       15,063$  121,814$ 
Marketable securities  17,227        37,149         32,961    71,049     
Trade and other receivables 15,184        7,693           7,626      3,508      

147,690$       212,142$        55,650$  196,371$   
 

(ii) Liquidity risk   
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash, 
physical gold or another financial asset.  The Corporation has a planning and budgeting 
process in place to help determine the funds required to support the Corporation’s normal 
operating requirements. 

 
The following table summarizes the contractual obligations at December 31, 2011: 

Within 1 
year

2 to 3 
years

4 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years Total

 
Trade and other payables 39,244$ -$      -$       -$      39,244$ 
Long-term debt -         -         100,000   -        100,000  
Derivative financial liability 4,899      19,312    28,327     -        52,538    
Service contract obligations 42,392    18,657    3,603      300       64,952    
Minimum rental and lease payments 2,080      947        763         493       4,283      
Environmental rehabilitation 
   provision -         -         -          12,315   12,315    

88,615$  38,916$  132,693$ 13,108$ 273,332$ 
 
In the opinion of management, the working capital at December 31, 2011, together with 
future cash flows from operations, is sufficient to support the Corporation’s 
commitments. 
 

Market risk 
 
(i) Currency risk   

 
Currency risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the 
Corporation’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange



ENDEAVOUR MINING CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Thousands of United States Dollars, except per share amounts) 

 

135 | P a g e  
 

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

Market risk (continued) 
 
(i) Currency risk (continued) 

 
rates. Exchange rate fluctuations may affect the costs that the Corporation incurs in its 
operations. Gold is sold in US dollars and the Corporation’s costs are incurred principally 
in Australian dollars, Burkina Faso CFA Franc, Canadian dollars, Euros, Ghana Cedi, 
Liberian dollars, Malian CRA franc, South African Rand and US dollars.  
 
The appreciation of non-US dollar currencies against the US dollar can increase the cost 
of gold production and capital expenditures in US dollar terms.  The Corporation also 
holds cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, and trade and other receivables 
that are denominated in non-US dollar currencies which are subject to currency risk. 

 
The Corporation has not hedged its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. 
 
The table below highlights the net assets held in foreign currencies: 
 

December 31, 
2011

December 31, 
2010

June 30, 
2010

July 1, 
2009

Canadian dollar (7,185)$              12,419$         175,010$ 168,994$ 
Euro 648                    586               2,326      -          
Cedi (35)                     -                -          -          
Other currencies 5,338                 831               (6,943)     3,421      

(1,234)$              13,836$         170,393$ 172,415$ 
 
The effect on loss and other comprehensive loss before tax as at December 31, 2011 of a 
10% appreciation or depreciation in the foreign currencies against the US dollar on the 
above mentioned financial and non-financial assets and liabilities of the Corporation is 
estimated to be $1.2 million (December 31, 2010 – $1.3 million and June 30, 2010 $17.0 
million) assuming that all other variables remained constant. This calculation is based on 
the Corporation’s statement of financial position as at December 31, 2011. 
  

(ii) Interest rate risk  
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of the Corporation’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The 
Corporation is exposed to interest rate risk on its long-term debt and cash and cash 
equivalents.  The Corporation holds marketable securities in the form of loans and short 
term government treasury securities that have the potential to be affected by changes in 
interest rates. There is minimal fair value sensitivity to changes in interest rates, since 
marketable securities and government treasury securities held as loans are short term in 
nature and are usually held to maturity.  The Corporation monitors its exposure to interest
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

Market risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
rates and is comfortable with its exposure given the relatively low short-term US interest 
rates.   

 
(iii) Price risk   

 
Price risk is the risk that the fair value of or future cash flows of the Corporation’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Profitability of 
the Corporation depends on metal prices, primarily gold. Metal prices are affected by 
numerous factors such as the sale or purchase of gold by various central banks and 
financial institutions, interest rates, exchange rates, inflation or deflation, fluctuations in 
the value of the US dollar and foreign currencies, global and regional supply and demand, 
and the political and economic conditions of major producing countries through the 
world.    

 
The Corporation is also exposed to other price risk or equity price risk in trading its 
marketable securities and unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions of 
marketable securities at less than favorable prices. Additionally, the Corporation fair 
values its investments at each reporting period. This process could result in significant 
write downs of the Corporation’s investments over one or more reporting periods, 
particularly during periods of declining resource equity markets. 

 
 
22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
Commitments 
 
Contracts and Leases   
 
The Corporation has a commitment in place at Youga with a contractor to provide drilling and 
blasting, and load and hauling services.  The term expires on December 31, 2012 and requires the 
contractor to drill and blast a minimum of 3.2 million bank cubic meters (“BCM”) per annum at a 
base cost of $2.252 per BCM, adjusted on an annual basis over the contract term and load and 
haul approximately 3.2 million BCM of ore and waster per annum.  The annual commitment is 
approximately $19.2 million.  The Corporation provided a guarantee to BNP Paribas guaranteeing 
the obligations of the contractor, which were used to purchase drill equipment for the purposes of 
the drilling and blasting at Youga. 
 
The Corporation has commitments in place at Nzema with several contractors to provide drill and 
blasting services, load and haul services and supply of explosives and supply of hydrocarbon 
services.  The terms extend through the period January 1, 2012 to February 4, 2016 and require 
the contracts to drill and blast a minimum of 3.7 million BCM per annum at a base cost of $0.067
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22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) 
 
Commitments (continued) 
 
Contracts and Leases (continued) 
 
and $0.125 per BCM based on ground condition and drill pattern, adjusted on an annual basis 
over the term and load and haul approximately $18.0 million of ore and waster per annum.  The 
annual commitment is approximately $22.0 million and reduces thereafter. 
 
The Corporation is subject to operating lease commitments in connection with the purchase of 
light duty vehicles and workshop from several suppliers totaling $0.9 million. The commitments 
expire in April, May and October 2013. 
 
The Corporation is subject to operating lease commitments in connection with rented office 
premises. 
 
The table below summarizes the commitments for the service contracts and operating lease 
commitments; 

Within 1 
year

2 to 3 
years

4 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years Total

 
Operating leases 2,080$      947$       763$       493$    4,283$    
Drill and blasting contract 12,373       3,641       3,603       300      19,917     
Load and hauling contract 30,019       15,016     -           -       45,035     

44,472$     19,604$  4,366$     793$    69,235$    
 
Contingencies  

 
(a) On May 17, 2010 the Corporation received a notice of arbitration from Burkina Faso 

Mines Services S.A. (“BFMS”) disputing its right to terminate the Youga drill blast 
contract between it and BFMS. BFMS is claiming certain specified damages totalling 
approximately $5.0 million together with unspecified damages for fundamental breach of 
contract and injunctive relief to prevent the Corporation from claiming under a 
performance guarantee provided to the Corporation by BFMS’ parent company, EPC 
Groupe.  On July 5, 2010, the Corporation delivered a response and counterclaim to 
BFMS and the arbitrator agreed to adjudicate the matter. The Corporation and BFMS 
must file written arguments with the arbitrator by April 5, 2012. The Corporation is of the 
view that BFMS’ claim is without merit. No accrual for this contingency has been made 
in the financial statements.     

 
(b) On December 16, 2008 the Corporation was notified of a claim filed against it by Gold 

Reserve Inc. (“Gold Reserve”) in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice. Gold Reserve’s 
claim against the Corporation arises out of an Advisory Agreement pursuant to which the 
Corporation agreed to provide financial advisory services to Gold Reserve. Gold Reserve 
alleges that by virtue of having been retained as Gold Reserve's financial advisor, the
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22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) 
 

Contingencies (continued) 
 
Corporation obtained access to all of Gold Reserve’s proprietary and confidential 
information. Gold Reserve alleges that the Corporation wrongfully shared thisinformation 
with a third party, which is a co-defendant in the action, and further alleges that the 
Corporation has committed breaches of various duties owed to Gold Reserve under the 
Advisory Agreement and at common law. Gold Reserve claims that it has suffered and 
will continue to suffer damages and irreparable harm for which the Corporation is liable. 
In Gold Reserve’s original claim of December 16, 2008, Gold Reserve sought $500 
million in damages in addition to $50 million in punitive damages from the Corporation 
and the co-defendant. In connection with this action, an interim motion was granted on 
February 10, 2009 and the co-defendant filed a statement of defence and counterclaim on 
March 31, 2009. The Corporation filed a statement of defence and counterclaim on 
August 19, 2009.   

 
On June 16, 2010 amended its Statement of Claim to, (i) reduce the damages claimed 
against the Corporation from $500 million to $150 million (including damages that Gold 
Reserve alleges to have suffered as a result of being unable to complete an unnamed 
transaction) and $50 million in punitive damages, and (ii) add principals of Fiore 
Financial Corporation as individual defendants. On March 17, 2011, Endeavour and its 
co-defendants in the action demanded particulars in respect of the plaintiff’s amended 
claim. The Corporation believes the claim is without merit and intends to vigorously 
defend the action.  No accrual for this contingency has been made in the financial 
statements.     
 

(c) The Corporation is subject to a claim from Hightime Investments Pty Ltd., (“Hightime”) 
which alleges that, in or about early 2003, Corporation entered into an arrangement with 
Hightime under which Hightime asserts that it allowed the Corporation to apply for, and 
obtain, two prospecting licenses over ground near the Southern Ashanti geological Belt in 
Ghana.  In addition to claiming a breach of contract arising from the Corporation’s 
alleged failure to pay Hightime for the opportunity, Hightime is also claiming restitution 
of the benefit (the prospecting licenses) that the Corporation obtained allegedly to the 
detriment of Hightime.  The Corporation believe the claim is without merit and intends to 
vigorously defend the action.  No accrual for this contingency has been made in the 
financial statements. 

 
 

23. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 

On March 6, 2012 the Corporation entered into a definitive agreement with Resolute Mining 
Limited (“Resolute”) for the sale and transfer of the licenses and associated property comprising 
the Finkolo joint venture in Mali for total consideration of $20.0 million in cash.  Endeavour 
holds a 40% interest in the Finkolo joint venture, which was formed in 2003 by Endeavour’s 
Etruscan subsidiary and Resolute is the operator.  The transaction is subject to a number of 
conditions, including approval from the Government of Mali for the transfer of the exploration
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23. SUBSEQUENT EVENT (continued) 
 
permits, and therefore Endeavour anticipates the transaction to be completed by the end of the 
second quarter of 2012.  
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS 
 
The Corporation transitioned from Canadian GAAP to IFRS effective July 1, 2009 (the 
“transition date”) and has prepared its opening IFRS statement of financial position as at that 
date. The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2011 
are the first annual financial statements that the Corporation has prepared in accordance with 
IFRS.  The Corporation has prepared its opening IFRS consolidated statement of financial 
position by applying existing IFRS with an effective date of December 31, 2011 or prior.   
 
Prior to the adoption of IFRS the Corporation prepared its financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian GAAP.  IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” 
(“IFRS 1”) which governs the first time adoption of IFRS requires, subject to certain exceptions 
and exemptions, that the same accounting policies are applied for all periods presented and that 
these policies are based on IFRS effective at the end of the first IFRS reporting year, 
December 31, 2011.  
 
(a) Exemptions from full retrospective application 

 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, the 
Corporation has applied certain of the optional exemptions from full retrospective 
application of IFRS.  The optional exemptions applied are described below. 
 
(i) Business combinations 

 
IFRS 1 allows a first-time adopter to elect not to restate in accordance with 
IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, all business combinations that occurred prior 
to the transition date or to only restate all business combinations that occurred 
after a designated date prior to the transition date. The Corporation has applied 
this exemption to all business combinations that occurred prior to July 1, 2009.  

 
(ii) Cumulative translation differences 

 
IFRS 1 allows a first-time adopter to not comply with the requirements of IAS 21 
“The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” for cumulative translation 
differences that existed at the transition date.  The Corporation has elected this 
exemption to set the previous accumulated cumulative translation account, which 
is included in other comprehensive income, to zero at July 1, 2009.  If, 
subsequent to adoption, a foreign operation is disposed of, the translation 
differences that arose before the transition date to IFRS will not affect the gain or 
loss on disposal.  This exemption has been applied to all subsidiaries. 
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
(a) Exemptions from full retrospective application (continued) 
 

(iii) Share-based-payments 
 
IFRS 1 encourages, but does not require, first-time adopters to apply IFRS 2 
“Share Based Payment” to equity instruments that were granted on or before 
November 7, 2002, or equity instruments that were granted subsequent to 
November 7, 2002 and vested before the later of the date of transition to IFRS 
and January 1, 2005.  The Corporation has elected not to apply IFRS 2 to equity 
instruments that fully vested prior to July 1, 2009.  

 
(iv) Borrowing costs 

 
IFRS 1 permits an entity to apply the transitional provisions set out in IAS 23 
“Borrowing Costs” (“IAS 23”) as an alternative to full retrospective application. 
Under the transitional provisions, the Corporation may elect to only apply IAS 23 
to qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalization is on or 
after the date of transition (or an elected earlier date).   The Corporation has 
elected to apply this exemption from its transition date of July 1, 2009, and as a 
result, will apply IAS 23 from this date onward for projects with a 
commencement date of July 1, 2009 or later. 
 

(v) Arrangements containing a lease 
 
The Corporation has elected to apply the elective exemption available under 
IFRIC 4, “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease” (“IFRIC 4”).  
The Corporation made an assessment of leases for Canadian GAAP purposes 
under EIC 150 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, as at 
the date of applicability, December 9, 2004.  Accordingly, the Corporation has 
not reassessed the arrangement containing leases as at the transition date. 
 

IFRS 1 also outlines specific guidelines that a first-time adopter must adhere to under 
certain circumstances.  The Company has applied the following mandatory exceptions to 
its opening statement of financial position dated July 1, 2009: 

 
(vi) Estimates 

 
In accordance with IFRS 1, an entity’s estimates under IFRS at the date of 
transition to IFRS must be consistent with estimates made for the same date 
under previous GAAP, unless there is objective evidence that those estimates 
were in error.  The Company’s IFRS estimates as of July 1, 2009 are consistent 
with its GAAP estimates for the same date. 
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

(a) Exemptions from full retrospective application (continued) 
 

(vii) Non-controlling interest 
 
Certain requirements of IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements must be applied prospectively from July 1, 2009, the Company’s 
transition date. Retrospective application is not permitted. These requirements 
relate to: 
 
 The attribution of total comprehensive income to non-controlling interests 

even if this results in non-controlling interests having a deficit balance; 
 

 The accounting for changes in the parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary 
that do not result in a loss of control as equity transactions; and 
 

 The accounting for loss of control over a subsidiary and the related 
requirements of IFRS 5 – Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations. 

 
(b) Reconciliation from Canadian GAAP to IFRS 

 
The Corporation’s transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS has resulted in a number of 
adjustments to the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2010, 
June 30, 2010 and July 1, 2009 and its consolidated statement of comprehensive loss, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the respective six and month periods ended. Further 
details of the adjustments are provided in the following reconciliations and the notes that 
accompany the reconciliations.  
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

Reconciliation of assets, liabilities and equity as at December 31, 2010 
 

Canadian 
GAAP  Etruscan  Note 

 Other 
Adjustments  IFRS 

ASSETS

Current

  Cash and cash equivalents 167,300$        -$                       -$                    167,300$        

  Marketable securities 37,149            -                        -                      37,149            

  Trade and other receivables 8,161              -                       (f) (468)                    7,693              

  Inventories 22,022            (2,661)                   -                      19,361            

  Prepaid expenses and other 3,796              -                       (f) 468                     4,264              

  Assets held for sale 260                 11,928                  -                      12,188            

238,688          9,267                    -                      247,955          

Mining interests 221,024          (64,636)                 -                      156,388          

Intangible assets 19,306            -                        -                      19,306            

Goodwill 32,320            2,064                   (e) (3,006)                 31,378            

Long-term assets held for sale 18,611            (18,611)                 -                      -                  

Deferred income taxes -                  -                        -                      -                  

529,949$        (71,916)$               (3,006)$               455,027$        
 

LIABILITIES

Current

  Trade and other payables 16,536$          -$                      -$                    16,536$          

  Current portion of derviative liabilities 25,500            -                        -                      25,500            

  Income and taxes payable 708                 -                       (f) -                      708                 

  Liabilities held for sale 7,835              6,170                    -                      14,005            

50,579            6,170                    -                      56,749            

Derivative liabilities 15,100            -                       (d) 31,186                46,286            

Deferred income taxes 17,536            (11,460)                 -                      6,076              

Provisions 2,296              -                        -                      2,296              

Long-term liabilities held for sale 6,170              (6,170)                  -                      -                  

91,681            (11,460)                 31,186                111,407          

EQUITY

Share capital 240,576          -                       (e) (561)                    240,015          

Equity reserve 22,877            -                       (e) 2                         22,879            

Retained earnings 169,762          (57,768)                (d) (31,189)               78,361            

(e) (2,444)                 

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Corporation 433,215          (57,768)                 (34,192)               341,255          

Non-controlling interests 5,053              (2,688)                   -                      2,365              

Total equity 438,268          (60,456)                 (34,192)               343,620          

529,949$        (71,916)$               (3,006)$               455,027$        
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of statement of comprehensive earnings for the six months ended December 31, 
2010.   

 Canadian  
GAAP   Etruscan  Note 

 Other 
Adjustments  Reclass 

 Discontinued 
Operations  IFRS 

Revenues

Gold revenue 37,954$                21,476$              -$                       (31)$                   -$                  59,399$         

Cost of sales

Operating expenses 23,541                  3,811                  -                         702                     -                    28,054           

Depreciation and depletion 11,064                  (2,977)                 -                         -                     -                    8,087             

Earnings from mine operations 3,349                    20,642                -                         (733)                   -                    23,258           

 Corporate costs 4,709                    1,057                  -                         536                     -                    6,302             

Exploration 1,092                    1,167                  -                         -                     -                    2,259             

 Write-down of mining properties 356                       (46)                     -                         -                     -                    310                

Earnings from operations (2,808)                   18,464                -                         (1,269)                -                    14,387           

Other income (expenses)

Gain on financial instruments -                        -                      -                         2,911                  -                    2,911             

Endeavour Capital loss and write

   down of associated goodwill &

   intangibles -                        -                      -                         (3,646)                (6,553)               (10,199)          

Gain on marketable securities 30,726                  (13,028)              (c) (ii) 69,002                   (86,700)              -                    -                 

Financial and treasury services 747                       45                      (c) (ii) -                         (792)                   -                    -                 

Interest income -                        -                      -                         -                     -                    -                 

Interest (expense) and (finance costs) (2,029)                   (3,640)                 -                         5,669                  -                    -                 

Share of earnings of associates -                        -                     (c) (ii) (25)                         -                     -                    (25)                 

Gain on disposal of associate -                        -                     -                         71,203                -                    71,203           

Share based payments (2,584)                   (91)                      -                         2,675                  -                    -                 

Amortization (1,796)                   -                      -                         1,796                  -                    -                 

Loss on derivative financial liabilities (10,431)                 (8,611)                (d) 6,230                     12,812                -                    -                 

  Loss on foreign currency 189                       (332)                    -                         143                     -                    -                 

Finance costs -                        -                     -                         (4,801)                -                    (4,801)            

14,822                  (25,657)               75,207                   1,269                  (6,553)               59,089           

Earnings before taxes 12,014                  (7,193)                 75,207                   -                     (6,553)               73,476           

 Income taxes (2,051)                   -                      -                         -                     -                    (2,051)            

 Deferred income taxes (351)                      (3,549)                 -                         -                     -                    (3,900)            

Net (loss) earnings and total comprehensive 

  (loss) earnings from continuing operations 9,612                    (10,742)               75,207                   -                     (6,553)               67,525           

Discontinued operations

  Net (loss) earnings and total comprehensive

    income from discountined operations -                        -                     -                         -                     6,553                6,553             

Net earnings and total comprehensive earnings 9,612                    (10,742)              75,207                   -                     -                    74,078            
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of statement of comprehensive income for the six months ended December 31, 
2010.   

 Canadian  
GAAP   Etruscan  Note 

 Other 
Adjustments  Reclass 

 Discontinued 
Operations  IFRS  

 
Attributable to:

Shareholders of Endeavour  

       Mining Corporation        

Net earnings and total comprehensive 9,612                    (10,555)              75,207                   -                     (6,553)               67,712           

   earings from continuing operations

Net earnings and total comprehensive

   earnings from discontinued operations -                        -                     -                         -                     6,553                6,553             

9,612                    (10,555)              75,207                   -                     -                    74,265           

Non-controlling interests        

Net earnings and total comprehensive        

   earings from continuing operations -                        (187)                   -                         -                     -                    (187)               

Net earnings and total comprehensive

   earnings from discontinued operations -                        -                     -                         -                     -                    -                 

-                        (187)                   -                         -                     -                    (187)               

9,612$                  (10,742)$            75,207$                 -$                   -$                  74,078$         
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

Reconciliation of assets, liabilities and equity as at June 30, 2010 
 

Canadian 
GAAP  Etruscan  Note 

 Other 
Adjustments  IFRS 

ASSETS

Current

  Cash and cash equivalents 5,391$              9,672$                        -$                           15,063$          

  Marketable securities 330,080            (83,320)                      (b) (ii) (69,977)                      32,961            

(b) (ii) (143,822)                    

  Trade and other receivables 1,038                6,588                          -                             7,626              

  Inventories -                    20,521                        -                             20,521            

  Prepaid expenses and other 457                   2,711                          -                             3,168              

336,966            (43,828)                       (213,799)                    79,339            

Capital assets 139                   -                             (f) (139)                           -                  

Mining interests -                    167,128                     (f) 139                            167,267          

Reclamation deposits -                    1,424                          -                             1,424              

Intangible assets 21,102              -                              -                             21,102            

Goodwill 31,620              2,064                         (e) (2,306)                        31,378            

Investment in associate -                    -                             (b) (ii) 143,822                     143,822          

Deferred income taxes -                    -                             -                             -                  

389,827$          126,788$                    (72,283)$                    444,332$        

LIABILITIES

Current

  Trade and other payables 14,172$            16,704$                      -$                           30,876$          

  Current portion of long-term debt -                    10,300                        -                             10,300            

  Current portion of derivative liabilities -                    20,900                        -                             20,900            

  Income taxes payable 765                   -                              -                             765                 

14,937              47,904                        -                             62,841            

Long-term debt -                    24,052                        -                             24,052            

Derivative liabilities -                    23,768                       (d) 24,123                       47,891            

Deferred income taxes payable 342                   1,834                          -                             2,176              

Provisions -                    4,231                          -                             4,231              

15,279              101,789                      24,123                       141,191          

EQUITY

Share capital 198,886            -                             (d) (360)                           198,526          

Equity reserve 15,542              -                             (d) 498                            16,040            

Retained earnings 160,120            (22,923)                      (d) (24,123)                      40,653            

-                             (e) (2,444)                        -                  

-                             (b) (ii) (69,977)                      -                  

Equity attributable to shareholders of

    the Corporation 374,548            (22,923)                      (96,406)                      255,219          

Non-controlling interests -                    47,922                        -                             47,922            

Total equity 374,548            24,999                        (96,406)                      303,141          

389,827$          126,788$                    (72,283)$                    444,332$        

Effect of transition to IFRS
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of statement of comprehensive earnings for the year ended June 30, 2010 
 

 Canadian  
GAAP   Etruscan  Note 

 Other 
Adjustments  Reclass 

 Discontinued 
Operations  IFRS 

Revenues

Gold revenue -$                      53,137$              -$                       (56)$                   -$                  53,081$         

Cost of sales

Operating expenses -                        27,661                -                         1,572                  -                    29,233           

Depreciation and depletion -                        9,593                  -                         44                       -                    9,637             

Earnings from mine operations -                        15,883                -                         (1,672)                -                    14,211           

 Corporate administration 5,266                    4,854                  -                         1,101                  -                    11,221           

Exploration -                        3,512                  -                         -                     -                    3,512             

Earnings from operations (5,266)                   7,517                  -                         (2,773)                -                    (522)               

Other income (expenses)

Gain on financial instruments -                        -                      -                         29,912                -                    29,912           

Financial and treasury services -                        -                      -                         (22,514)              (2,071)               (24,585)          

Gain on marketable securities 147,159                (20,457)              (c) (ii) (78,272)                  (48,430)              -                    -                 

Financial and treasury services (12,434)                 -                     (c) (ii) 1,303                     11,131                -                    -                 

Interest income -                        -                      -                         -                     -                    -                 

Interest (expense) and (finance costs) (37)                        (4,807)                 -                         4,844                  -                    -                 

Share of profit of associates -                        -                     (c) (ii) 9,295                     -                     -                    9,295             

Share based payments (5,805)                   (2,501)                 -                         8,306                  -                    -                 

Amortization (3,647)                   (44)                      -                         3,691                  -                    -                 

Loss on derivative financial liabilities -                        -                     (d) (20,695)                  20,695                -                    -                 

  Loss on foreign currency (12)                        (214)                    -                         226                     -                    -                 

Finance costs (5,087)                (5,087)            

125,224                (28,023)               (88,369)                  2,773                  (2,071)               9,535             

Earnings before taxes 119,958                (20,506)               (88,369)                  -                     (2,071)               9,013             

 Income taxes (895)                      188                     -                         (187)                   -                    (894)               

 Deferred income taxes (436)                      (118)                    -                         187                     -                    (367)               

Net (loss) earnings and total comprehensive 

  (loss) earnings from continuing operations 118,627                (20,436)               (88,369)                  -                     (2,071)               7,752             

Discontinued operations

  Net (loss) earnings and total comprehensive

    income from discountined operations -                        -                     -                         -                     2,071                2,071             

Net earnings and total comprehensive earnings 118,627                (20,436)              (88,369)                  -                     -                    9,823              
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of statement of comprehensive earnings for the year ended June 30, 2010 
 

 Canadian  
GAAP   Etruscan  Note 

 Other 
Adjustments  Reclass 

 Discontinued 
Operations  IFRS 

 
Attributable to:

Shareholders of Endeavour  

       Mining Corporation        

Net earnings and total comprehensive 118,627                (15,956)              (88,369)                  -                     (4,522)               9,781             

   earings from continuing operations

Net earnings and total comprehensive

   earnings from discontinued operations -                        -                     -                         -                     2,071                2,071             

118,627                (15,956)              (88,369)                  -                     (2,451)               11,852           

Non-controlling interests        

Net earnings and total comprehensive        

   earings from continuing operations -                        (4,480)                -                         -                     2,451                (2,029)            

Net earnings and total comprehensive

   earnings from discontinued operations -                        -                     -                         -                     -                    -                 

-                        (4,480)                -                         -                     2,451                (2,029)            

118,627$              (20,436)$            (88,369)$                -$                   -$                  9,823$           
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of assets, liabilities and equity as at July 1, 2009 
 

Canadian 
GAAP  Note 

 Other 
adjustments  IFRS 

ASSETS

Current

  Cash and cash equivalents 121,814$          -$             121,814$        

  Investments 71,049             -               71,049            

  Trade and other receivables 3,953              (f) (445)             3,508              

  Prepaid expenses and other -                  (f) 445              445                 

196,816           196,816          

Capital assets 298                 (f) (298)             -                  

Mining interests -                  (f) 298              298                 

Intangible assets 24,749             -               24,749            

Goodwill 29,314             -               29,314            

Deferred income taxes 94                    -               94                   

251,271$         251,271$        

LIABILITIES

Current

  Trade and other payables 3,565$              -$             3,565$            

  Income taxes payable 167                  -               167                 

3,732               3,732              

Derivative liability -                  (d) 12,858         12,858            

3,732               12,858         16,590            

EQUITY  

Share capital 196,171           -               196,171          

Equity reserve 9,875              (e) 2,444           12,319            

Retained earnings 41,493            (d) (12,858)        26,191            

(e) (2,444)          

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Corporation 247,539           (12,858)        234,681          

Non-controlling interests -                   -                  

Total equity 247,539           (12,858)        234,681          

251,271$         251,271$        

Effect of transition to IFRS

 
 
In the course of preparing these consolidated financial statements, management identified an error 
in the application of IFRS in accounting for its previously reported business combination when it 
acquired Etruscan (Note 3(b)(i)). Management has determined that the recognition of the deferred 
income tax liability should have been offset to goodwill. The impact is that mining interests, 
inventory and deferred income tax liability were overstated by $7.8 million, $0.5 million and $6.2 
million, respectively as at December 31, 2010 and June 30, 2010, while goodwill was understated
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 
by $2.1 million. The impact to the statement of comprehensive earnings is $1.5 million related to 
the reduction in the depletion and depreciation on the mining interests. This has been corrected in 
the reconciliations from Canadian GAAP to IFRS as at December 31, 2010 and June 30, 2010 
and on the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2011 and the statement of earnings 
for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
(c) Accounting Guideline 18 (“AuG-18”) 

 
Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation’s accounting policy was to record its 
investments in accordance with AuG-18.  IFRS does not provide specific guidance for 
investment companies.  Therefore, investments which had previously been accounted for 
under AuG-18 were assessed as to whether fair value accounting was an appropriate 
measure.  If fair value accounting was no longer appropriate the Corporation’s 
investment was assessed for which standard was applicable and accounted for the 
investment under the identified standard with resulting changes shown in these notes.  
The key impact on transition to IFRS relate to the Corporation’s investment in Etruscan, 
the Corporation’s investment in Crew. 
 
(i) Subsidiaries – IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
 

On October 23, 2009 the Corporation acquired 55% of Etruscan’s common 
shares through open market purchases and a private placement. Under Canadian 
GAAP, the Corporation carried its investment in Etruscan at fair value with the 
change in unrealized gain and losses recorded in the income statement. 
 
On September 10, 2010, the Corporation acquired the remaining 45% of Etruscan 
common shares it did not already own. Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation 
owning 100% of the common shares treated the September 10, 2010 
Arrangement as a business combination and the mining operations were 
consolidated from this date onward.  
 
IFRS does not provide specific guidance for investment companies which was 
the nature of the business at transition, therefore the Corporation determined its 
accounting policy to account for the acquisition of the 55% ownership of 
Etruscan as a business combination from October 23, 2009 onwards, the date that 
control commenced, using the acquisition method. For the acquisition of the 
remaining 45% of the Etruscan common shares, which was not considered a 
change in ownership and did not result in a change in control, it was accounted 
for as an equity transaction eliminating the non-controlling interest balances, 
accounting for the additional consideration with the difference being charged to 
retained earnings. 
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

(c) Accounting Guideline 18 (“AuG-18”) (continued) 
 

(i) Subsidiaries – IFRS 3 Business Combinations (continued) 
 

There was no impact to the opening retained earnings at July 1, 2009. 
 
June 30, 2010 
The impact was an increase of $124.6 million in total assets, an increase of 
$99.6 million in total liabilities, a decrease in net earnings of $20.4 million and a 
$22.9 million decrease to retained earnings.   
 
December 31, 2010 
The impact was a decrease of $78.0 million in total assets, a decrease of 
$17.5 million in total liabilities, a decrease in net earnings of $10.7 million and a 
$57.8 million decrease to retained earnings. 

 
(ii) Investment in associate – IAS 28 

 
From January 2010 to March 31, 2010, the Corporation invested $134.5 million 
resulting in the Corporation holding a 43% interest in Crew Gold Corporation 
(“Crew”). 

 
On September 14, 2010, the Corporation sold its 43% interest of Crew for $215.0 
million in cash resulting in a gain of $71.2 million.   
 
Under Canadian GAAP, the Corporation carried its investment in Crew at fair 
value with the change in unrealized gain and losses recorded in the income 
statement in accordance with AuG-18. 

 
IFRS does not provide specific guidance for investment companies (the nature of 
the business at transition) and therefore the Corporation determined its 
accounting policy to be such that investments in associates where, the 
Corporation exercises significant influence (presumed to exist where the 
Corporation has between 20 percent and 50 percent of the voting rights), would 
be recorded using the equity method of accounting. In accordance with IAS 28, 
the Corporation has recorded the investment in Crew at cost and recorded 
earnings based on its proportionate share of Crew’s net earnings for each 
reporting period. There was no impact to the opening retained earnings at July 1, 
2009, however for the twelve month period ended June 30, 2010 $9.3 million of 
income was recorded for the equity earnings from investment in associate and an 
unrealized gain of $78.3 million was reversed.   
 
For the six month period ended December 31, 2010 $0.03 million of loss was 
recorded for the loss from investment in associate and a $71.2 million gain on the 
sale of Crew was recorded. 
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

(d) Share purchase warrants 
 
In accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation, share purchase warrants 
with an exercise price denominated in a currency other than the Corporation’s functional 
currency, US dollars, are required to be classified and accounted for as derivative 
financial liabilities at their fair values, with changes in fair values being included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive earnings as a component of net earnings for the 
period.  Under Canadian GAAP, all the Corporation’s outstanding share purchase 
warrants were classified and accounted for as equity. The impact of this was a decrease of 
$12.9 million in opening retained earnings at July 1, 2009. 

 
(e) Contingent consideration 

 
In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, contingent consideration is required 
to be recorded at fair value at the time of the transaction.  Under Canadian GAAP, each 
period that the earnings requirement as described in Note 11(a) was achieved, the value 
of the shares in escrow increased goodwill and share capital for the corresponding fair 
value. The impact of this was a decrease of $2.4 million in opening retained earnings at 
July 1, 2009. 

 
(f) Reclassification  

  
Certain balances have been reclassified to meet with current IFRS presentation. 

 
(g) Statement of cash flows 
 

There were no material adjustments to the cash flows other than those that arose as a 
result of the transition to IFRS. 

 
As a result of the consolidation of Etruscan from October 23, 2009 (Note 3 (b)(i)), the 
cash flows have also been consolidated from the acquisition date. 

 
The legacy Endeavour cash flows have not changed.  The impact of consolidating 
Etruscan from October 23, 2009 was as follows on the prior period cash flow statements: 
 

Canadian 
GAAP 

Etruscan
(Note 23 (b)(i)) Total

Operating activities (6,327)$        10,534$           4,207$             
Investing activities 195,535        (19,287)            176,248          
Financing activities (28,353)        -                    (28,353)           

160,855$     (8,753)$            152,102$        

Six months ended December 31, 2010
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24. TRANSITION TO IFRS (continued) 
 

(g) Statement of cash flows (continued) 

Canadian 
GAAP 

Etruscan
(Note 23 (b)(i)) Total

Operating activities (4,721)$        (29,856)$          (34,577)$         
Investing activities (111,973)      44,838              (67,135)           
Financing activities 271               (5,206)              (4,935)             

(116,423)$    9,776$              (106,647)$       

Year ended June 30, 2010

 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 

 
 
 

  
 
 

 




